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Bello. and welcowme 1o Enlterpriase Incidents &,

1t’s been & long time since we printed an issue contrining my

storiesn., Not that there weren't any; these stories - in their
original form - wevre all written more thasn ten yeaurs agdo. indeed, I
could say that they were among the first STAR TREK stories that I}
ever wrote, Several of them were written for Janet in the first year
T knew her. They were never printed because - even then - I fell

that they were nat goad enough to submit anywhere.

However, they were sitting there doind nothing, and recently 1 began
to feel thst it might be porsible to do something with them -
certainly an edit, and in some cases & rewrlite, because the ideas
vere all right; it was the lach of writing experience that had left
them flawed. Much of that firsl verslon of at least one turned out
to be more of & story outline, and the events of the first halfl page
expanded to ten pages.,.

These are not the only stories | have from those early days thal have

never been printed. One or two are so bad that I have no iutentijion
of ever trying to rewprite thewm or even reuse the plots, but there are
a8 couple that - eventually =~ | hope to get rewritten for inclusion in

ENTERPRISE -~ LOG ENTRIES: plus one that we intend to incorporate in
VARTATIONS ON A THEME 9, Eventually.

Unfortunately, we’ve had 1o increase the price slightly, Although
our new printer has prices that are guite comparable with what we had
been paying, he is a little dearer than the old one.

We also have a general apology to make. We’ve slways felt that the
standard of spelling in our zines was gquite high - but it turns out
it wasn’t quite as high as we thought it was. We've had a8 spelling

program for some time, which did help to cut down on typos. but jusi
8 week or two ago Janet got a new spelling dictionary for her
computer, and to try it ran through the files of the 1wo most recent
zines - E-LE 73 and this one, for which the masters were alvready
printed. .. and found at least 8 dozen mistakes. One of them was a
correct varijiant, one was a possible veriant, but all but one of the
others were words that either Valerie or I - or both! - had thought
wvere properly spelled. The exception was a typo that had slipped
through.

The question of variant spellingd, where there are two possibilities
either of which is correct. is a8 difficulil one, for it can mean that
two writers who have stories in the srasme zine can spell the sawme word
in two different wvays, so we have decided that from now on, when
fecved with any of those words., we’ll stick with one of the choices,
probably the one that is in Janet's new spelling program.

As Blways, we're looking for submissions for inclusion in ENTERPRISE
- LOG ENTRIES or for publication as & single zine. No death of main
characters, K/8 or movig~based stories, please, or stories about
other ships; these are, after all, 'The voyages of the Starship
Enterprise, ..’

Submissions can be sent to

Sheils Clark or Valerie Piacentini
6 Craigmill Cottagdes 20 Ardrossan Road
Strathmartine Saltcoats
by Dundee Ayrshire

Bcotland Scotland ///



¢ ABDUCTION o

The shore leave party on Argelius had visited a number of
pleasure housas; and had lost several of thelr number en route, Now
only Kirk and McCoy were left; and Kirk, free at last from the
encumbering presence of hiep junior officers, was feeling like
enjoying the chief entertainment offered by the planet.

The two officers paused at the entrance to a particularly
opulent-looking establishment. Rhythmic music pulsed inside; through
the half-open door they could sea the swirl of colour as a dancer
gyrated, tantalilsingly. A glance papsed between them; then by mutual
consent, they moved insids.

They ordered drinks, and sat watching the dancers. Before long,
one of the girls paused in her twirling dance to sway seductively
before McCoy. The surgeon glanced almost apclogetically at Kirk, who
grinned back.

"3o on, Bones, enjoy yourself."

McCoy rose. The girl caught his hand and led him out. Kirk sat
back, to look over the other girls consideringly. Even though none
aof them hsad made a move to come to him =8 yet, he could s8till invite
one of them to partner him. None of them realliy tempted him,

however; he wanted someone a little more... delicate in her approach,
he decided, not one so blatantly suggestive as this dance made these
girls. He remembered a8 place he had found once before, and a girl
there...

Kirk tossed a coln onto the table, and left unhurriedly.

The various members of the landing party beamed back to the ahip
in varying states of intoxication; and because there was a change of
watch midway through the period when the off-duty officers were
returning, 1t was not until Kirk failed to appesr on the bridge next
morning that anyone realised that he had not returned.

Spock hegsiltated for some minutes after Kirk's continued absence
wags reported to him. it was unlike the Captain to be late, but Kirk
would not, Spock knew, appreciate it 1f a search were initiated to
discover that for once Kirk had overslept somewhere on the planet
after a strenuous night; yet an instinct that he trusted told Spock
that there was a more sinister explanation than that for Kirk's
failure to report back to the Enterprise. After thinking about it
carefully, the First Officer decided to ask McCoy's opinion.

Hae found the ship's Chief Medical Offlcer looking slightly the
worge for wear, as 1f he were in need of his own medicaetion, with
slightly bloodshot eyes and an obvicus lack of energy. The surgecon
regardad Spock unenthusiastically, the Vulcan's atiltude of buoyant
sobriety clearliy offending him. But Spock's first words - so
different from the ones McCoy had bean expecting to hear - gquickly
shook the last of the liguor fumes from his mind.

"lL.apt nlight, Doctor - when did you last see the Captain®®



THuhe
"The Captain has not returned, but because of some carelessnass
when the watch changed, his absence was not reported to me until this

morning. When did you last gee him?®

McCoy gathered his wilts together, and gave Spock the requilred
informatilion, adding -

"So I went off with the girl. When I got back to the dance

aras, Jim had gone. I agked 1f he was sBtill there, and the attendant
pald he'd left, =alons, a while beforae. I didn't think anything of
it... Spock, you don't think Jim's in trouble?"

YT don't really know what to think, Doctor.!'

The man lying on the filthy bunk regained conscliousness to a
throbbing headache. He blinked his eyes open cautiously, wincing as
the light, dim though 1t was, dazzled him. He looked round.

He wag in an untildy windowless room 1it by a bare light bulb.
There was something famlllar - yet at the same time utterly
unfamiliar -~ about the unpleasant little room. He looked with
distaste at the rubbish littering the floor, his nose wrinkling in
diggust at the stale, unpleasant stench that assailed his nostrils.
There were three other bunks in the horrible 1ittle room, each ag
dirty a&s the others, all empty. He shouldn't be here, should he?
Hieg brow wrinkled in a frown of bewillderment. With a sudden stab of
fear, he realised that he could not remeamber his own name. Who was
he? Where was he? He locked down at himself with the sudden
conviction that the sight ¢f his clothes might help him to remember.

It didn't, He was wearing an anonymous grey coverall, as dirty
as his surroundings, that he was ilrrationally certain was not his
normal garb,

He was sltting on the bunk, elbows on his knees, hisg head
resting on his hands, when the door was kKicked open.

Twe men stood there. They were dressed similarly, in grey
trousers and dark blue shirts; and one held a length of thin knotted
ropae in hils handg.

The puzzled man in the dirty coverall stared up at them.
"Where... whare am I?"

The man with the rope showed hils teeth in & mirthless grin.
"and that’s the only question you're allowed, buster, You're on
board the Ranger now. I'm Officer Derwent, your boss; and I only
tell you things once. if you'vre clever, you'll learn fast.
Otherwise..." He swished the knotted rope meaningfully. YNow -
what's your name?"®

"i'm... T can’t remember." He msounded astonished.

Derwent gtrode forward. He grabbed the chest of the coverall in
one bhrawny hand, igneoring the lnvoluntary yelp as he caught a fold of
skin 8 well, and yanked the hapless man to hils feet. "Don't get

funny with me, crewman."

"I can't remember... anything.®
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Derwant pushed him away roughly, scornfully. "This one won't be
much use for a while," he growled, glancing at hip fellow officer.
"apeaks too grand to be used to workilng hard, All right, Dummy.
We'll see how much good you are. OQut!"” . He nodded doorwards with a
sharp gesture,

The man who would now be called Dummy oheyed. There was no
peint in resisting; and outside thig unappealing room he might learn
semething that would help him remember...

Unheslitating as his obedlence wasg, 1t seemed that Derwent was
noet satisfied with Dummy's speed; for as the man passed him, Derwent
struck him acrogs the shoulders mss hard as he could with the Kknotted
rope. The unnecessariness and unexpectedness of the blow added to
its effect.

Dummy gasped at the sudden unexpected pain, a hand clenching
involuntarily. The sight of this inciplent rebellion pleased
Derwent; 1t gave him an excumse, little though he needed one, to
exaercise his sadism. The Knotted rope fell agaln across the new
crewman's shcoulders, and agaln and again...

A blow -~ perhaps it was misjudged - caught Dummy acrogs the
head, causing & sharp paln cut of proportion teo the force of the
blow, wviclous as it was, bPummy cowered away, trying to protect his

head, whimpering softly in shock.

Tha other officer caught Derwent's arm afiter a minute, "That's
enough, Derwent - you don't want to kill him - not yet, anyway, det
our meonaey's worth out of him first!"

herwent hesitated,

"All right, Varen," he growled. "Now you, Dummy ~ that's not a
fraction of what you'll get if I ever see the slightest sign of
disohedience again. Get 1t2n

Dummy, half-stunned, managed to nod weskly.

Pummy was set to work immediately in the cargo hold of the
Ranger. The work seemed to his dared, half-awake mind to be totally
unnecessary, but he was set to joln three others who were wearilly
moving heavy packing cases. Derwent checked the contents, then set
the four men to restack the huge boxes, which were almost beyond even
the combined strength of the four of them to shift easily, and '
Derwent's Knotted rope was used freely.

Several times 1t caught Dummy on the head, slashing across the
head wound that he had discovered but could not remember sustaining;
Just as 1t caught the otheras direct on variocus cuts and sores. Cther
times it fell across thelr bodies, frequently catching already
infllcted brulses, 8o that movement itmelf became agonising. Dummy
suffered it in silence for a while, but after one particularly
vieclous cut he turned on his tormentor, fists clenched.

He was stopped by the knotted rope catching him across the face,
a blow that barely missed his eye. After that, wisdom prevalled
again and he crouched back, trying to protect his head with his
arms. Derwent let the rope fall where it would and only stopped when
at last his arm was tired. The other three cowered back too, glad
that they were not the objects of the sadlistic officer's attention,
more than glad of a rest, When at last the rope ceased to fall,
Dummy's body was an aching mass. He was given no resgplte, howaver,



They were lashed back to work.

At last they were raleased, to stumble palnfully and wearily
back to the f1iithy cabin they shared. Dummy looked round it with
disgust, now appreclating why 1t was in such a&a state; its cccupantg,
after belng worked aa they were, ware in no f£it state to do anything
but gcollapse on theilr bunks in exhaustion when they stopped work.
But they could at least keep 1t tidy, surely.

He made an attempt to clean the floor slightly by gathering all
the debris together, but was unable to do more; when he asked, no-one
knew where he could dispose of 1t, and he was told, frankly, that
Perwent would not like it 1f he asked anyone else. Fach of them, it
geemed, had made such an sttempt on first coming aboard - but it
apreared that the officers on the Ranger wented to keep the crewmen
living in sgualor; 1t kept them dispirited. The death rate among the
erew was very high; none of them had been aboard more than & few
menthe, and the one whe had been there longest was a very sick man
who fregquently vomilited blood.

"Don't you get any medical attention?” Dummy asked, puzzled, a
faint memory trying to surface.

The sick man shook his head.

When mesaltime arrived - they were fed only once a day - Dummy
found that for him, there wap no meal. Derwent had ordered that for
the next week, the rebellious, mutinous Dummy should get no food.

The other offlicers took no part in the ill-treatment of the four
cargo handlers; 1t was no concern of thelrs how Derwent handled his
section. They had their own ssctions to oversee; and while their
treatment of theilr men was less brutal that Derwent’s, 1t wag gstlll
harsh,

Ag the week progresssd, Dummy, weakened by lack of food ¢ombined
with the ovar hard work, became the subject of more and more beatings
&8 he falled to accomplilish his workload to Derwent's satisfaction.

He was dimly aware that this brutality was not necessary; that it wasg
the result of a sadlstic pleasure in causing suffering.

Somaething in him rebslled at the incessant bullying, and only
the realisgation that any more deflance on hils part would result in
inereaslingly severe punilshment kept Dummy from attacking his
tormentox. That and the knowledge that the other offlicers would
unhesitatingly support theilr fellow and that he could not win. His
fellow crewmen — they could almost be called glaves - would not help;
thelr gpirit was broken.

By now he had discoveresd where he was, He was on board a tramp
frelghter, one of the freelance ships that was normally owned by its
Captaln, and that pailid only lip service to Federation laws. Such
ships were difficult to crew -~ Dummy fully appreciated why - and were
frequently manned by men kldnapped from the back sitreets of general
spaceports. The discovary cheered him slightiy; surely someone,
gomawhere, knew that he was missing? But even 1if they did... did
anyone care enough for him to bother trying to discover where he had
gone? Had he friends or famlly to worry about him?

COn board a Starship now many light years away, seaveral people
ware worrying quilte coneiderably. Spock had delayed only a few
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minutez before yielding to the instinet that told him Jim was in
trouble. A thorough search of the town proved blank; the earth might
havae copened up snd awallowsd the Captein of the Enterprise. Spock
bagan to consider how to extend the ssarch.

They werse handioapped even before they started, however; a man
in the uniform of a Starfleast Capisain was 2 comnsploucus object, but
Kirk had, for once, been wearling civiilan clothes.

An investigation of =211l mesns of transport out of the city
revealed nothing. No stranger had left the cilty by any of these, and
1t was unheard-of for anyone to lsave on foot.

Spock began to worry about murder.

The ship's entlre Security sBeciion beamed down to make a second
intensive search of the back gtreets and mlleys and the surrounding
countryside, but it revealad nothing. The crew of the Enterprise
became more and morg edgy;: only Spock aprpeared to remalin his normal
calm s8elf, his very calm serving to gulieten the anxiety of smome of
the crew and irvitate others. Only in the privacy of his cabin did
he permit himself to relsax and ho-one seeling him then could have
doubted that hils worpry sxeeaeded that of any three of the others put
together - with the poseible sxception of MceCoy, who was becoming
more and more irasclble as hour followed hour with no news.

Jaris of Argelius proved to be another irritant with his guiet,
ineffectual, resigned sympathy. Even Hoses, the Terran who had
replaced the unlamented Hengist and who didn't know Kirk, was annoyed
by Jaris' reaction.

"My dJob's mede ten tlmes harder by sttitudes liKke yoursi!" Hosea
buragt out on the evening of the sacond day after a particularly
philosophic comment by the Argellan. "Dammlt, if you'd think a bit
more about other people sand less about having & good time, your whole
rotten planet would be better o0ff1 O0O.K., you don't have much crime,
but what there is is foul - and what help do I get to discover the
criminals? No wonder so many ©f your crimes sre unsolved! Well,
this cne 1 do mean to solva,

"Quite apart from snything else, have you thought what the
uvnexplained dissppearanca of & Starship Captaln in your main city
will do to your planet’s reletlionshlp with the Federation? Come down
to earth for oncall

Hosea turned to the Enterpriss officers. "There have been
geveral other digappsarances over the last few months," he
explained. "Mogtly they were locals - one or two were crewmen off

freighters - and I've made inguiries, but this planet has a
population of the galaxy's most dedilicated defeatists. I'va a few
ideas, though, asnd now I c¢an twiet an arm or twoy there's a big
difference betwaeen a starship csptain and an unskilled general
crawmnan who 1ls shrugged off by everyonse as & deserter seduced by the
fleshpots of Argallius. I'11 find out what happened, all right.n

Hosea was ag good as his word. It took him four more days, but
he eventually contacted ths Entesrprisze. Spock called McecCoy in to
hear Hosesa's report.

"There are a few lmmigrants living hsre," Hosaa began. "They're
mostly dropouts from other worlds. They don’t usually f1it in here



8

elther - thisg is a completely hedonistic society but that doegn't
mean that & men can Jjust lie back and do nothing. Migfits from other
worlds usually find that they can't adjust to a life here elther; by
definition they'll be discontented with the status quo wherever they
g0, However, a lot stay for lack of somewhere better to go. Money
becomes a bilt of a problem after a while for most of them - and
that’s where most of the criminal class comes from. So I'd a failr
ides of where to start looking.

"Your Captain was shanghaied and sold to the Captainsowner of a
tramp freighter - like the rest of the pecple who've disappeared
racently. I couldn't find ocut for certain which tramp - but the
Ranger laft orbit early on the morning Captaln Kirk was reported
missing, Bo I'd guess that's your ship."

"What was the Ranger's filed deastination?" Spock asked.

"There isn't one, sir. Thoge tramps are Jjust that; they
intercept a sub-space message about a mining discovery or a good
grain crop or wheatever, and 1f they reckon it's to their advantage,
they divert. All I can tell you is that they left on course four two
seven mark three,®

“Thank you, Mr Hoses. You have been most helpful. What of the
kidnappers?"

*"Ase lnmigrant Argelians, they are subject to Argelian law,
Commander, Argelian punishments are... viecious -~ the statute books
haven't been changed in centuries; 1t's not been worth the Argeliansg!
while to bother, since the natives are baslcally law-abiding
nowadays, whatever they might have bean in the past. These men will
suffer far more than 1f a Federation court tried them, bellieve me;
and even in the name ©f humanity, the Federation cannot intervene.
Aand frankly, I have no sympathy for them.™

The Enterprilise swung gracefully out of orblit on to course four
two mpeven mark three, and proceeded at Warp six. At thilis speed, so
muych 1in excess ©of the fastest any frelghter could manage, the
Starshlip soon overhsauled a tramp. It could only be the Ranger,

Spock studied the tramp as she hung in the viewscreen. The
vessel's once beautiful lines were marred by blemishes where
inadequate shielding had permitted tiny meteors to impact and by a
caraelessly done repalr that had, In addition, been left unpainted.
It would take very little to destroy this ship entirely. The sight
prapared him somewhat for his first contact with the Ranger'sg
personneal.

Aps the Enterprise matched her speed to the freighter's, Spochk
glanced back at Uhura.

"Open & channel, Lieutsnant.™
"Hailling frequencies open, sipr.™

"Spock, commanding the Starship Enterprisa, to tramp freighter
Rangar. "

The face that appeared on the screen was unwashed, unshaved, and
generally gross. It gave the appearance of dissipation and
gelf -indulgeance.



"Shira, owner. What the hell d'ye want?®

"We understand you shipped at least one new crewman at Argelius,
Mr Shira, and from our informetion we belleve that he may be one of
our men, who went missing the night before you left. We, ..
request... permission to board you and gearch for him."

Evaery eye on the brildge was fixed on the scowling face on the
sereen, and the combined expression of shock - and, yes, fear - that
passed across the unpleasgent face was unmistakable.

"What makese yae think yer deserter 1s aboard my ship?" It was
clearly recognisable, even to Spock, as bluster.

"HHe Is not s deserter, Mr. Shire - we have good vreason to
believe that he was abducted. Az for his beling aboard your ship, we
have invegtigated every other possibility.”

“I won't have it, d'ye hear me? Ye've no right to nosy‘about in
my ship ~%

"If you have nothing to hide, Mr. Shira. why obJecte™
"It's a... an infringement of my rights - ©

"Even tramp freighters are subject to Federation suthority,
little though you might 1ike 1t, Mr. Shira. Without us you would not
have the freedom of movement that you presently enjoy. 1 have the
right to insist on boarding you to look for our missing officer.”

"And 1f I refuse?"

"We do have the capsacity to disable you while we make our
gearch, Mr. Shira. All we need to do ig use the ghip's phagers to
Btun everyone on board, then we may look for our colleague at our
lelsure. ™

Shira cursed, violently and fluently.

"Do I take 1t that you have decided to permit us to board?"
From a Human, the guestlion might have been glightly mocking; from
Spock, 1t sounded like & straight question - although McCoy, present
on the bridge as & matter of course to find out what was happening,
knowing his Spock, glanced sharply at him, suspecting sarcasm.

Ygg, damn yetl®

Spock went himself, taking McCoy and ten Security men. The
guards scattered through the ship 1in pairs, while Spock and McCoy
reguested Shira's company asg they also searched,

Thelr search eventually took them into the cargo area. Packing
cases were littering the floor untidily in a hopelessly ineffilcient
muddle; a single ill-tempered looKing officer was working there,
apparantly chechking cargo. The interprise officers looked round
disapprovingly.

Satisfied that there was no-one else there, Spock turned to
leave; McCoy hesitated. Something struck him as false here. Then he
raealised. In the other sreas they had seen, there had been one or
two crewmen working dispiritedly, at tasks that seemed unnecessary;
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here, where it seemed necessary to have someone working, there was
no-one. He sald so.

Spock lifted an eysbrow. "Well, Mr. Shiratc"

"We're... We're short-handed, Commander. We've no cargo
handlers just now..."

"Couldn't you put some of the men doling make-wark in other areas
inte here, at least until the cargo 1ip safely stowed?" Spock asked.
He looked gstraight at Shira, as the tramp's owner atammered
uninteiligibly, and went on, hig voelce colder than MeCoy had ever
thought it possible for the Vulcan to sound. "1 would be obliged 1if
you would stop wasting cur time, Mr, Shira. I do not blame you for
the kldnapping, little though I relish your way of recruiting; but I
do not intend to continue playing gemes while you pretend that our
migsing friend is nat on board. I want him - now."

Shirae paled. Tha manace in the hithertc urbane officer's voice
was unmlstakeable and rendered even more desadly by the fact that
Spock made no threats. Unlike many bullies, Shira wasg no coward; but
he knew, without any doubt, that on this occasion at least, the time
had come to survendeaer.

The four men in the filthy cabin lay on theilr bunks, surprised
by the unexpected order to knock off and make themselves scarce but
glad of the exira rest, Even the fact that they had heard a key turn
cutside, locking them in, falled to rouse them to curicsity.

Now, when the key grated in the lock agailn, they sat up wearily,
sure that they were being called back to work... and stared Iin utter
bewlilderment at the blue and red shirts in the doorway.

iimi" McCoy sprang forward, but before he vreached his Captain
he faltered, vrealising that Kirk was far from all right. Hig
axuberant greating changed instantly to medical concern; on the last
twe steps he whipped out hilis medical scanner and ran it over the
Ceptain, his lips tightening as he interpreted the readings. YWe'll
soon have you back on the ship, Jim..."

They also took the three other crewmen: &t Shira'®m objection
Spocik told him that 1f he had any complainte, to deliver them
straight to Starfleet Command. Shira shut up rather guickly, already
worrlied about what might happen. Littie though he c¢ared for the
Federation's laws, he realised that he did need them; he had no¢ wish
to find his ship black-listed so that no Federation planet would give
him tramde again, and he had already decilded that if necessary he
would throw Derwent to the lions and pasg all the blame onto him,

Spock and MceCoy stood, one on each eide of the slckbay bed,
staring down at Kirk's naked body, horrified by the mass of bruises
on bruises that covered their friend's body. Kirk's eyes were closed
in sedated sleap.

"Someone has been heating him regularliy," McCoy sald, clinically
imparsonal. "Somecne who knew a falr amount about the Human nervous
and muscular system. Sae these concentrated patches of brulses. All
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are covering avess where any movement - walklng, lifting, even
getting up and sitting down - wlll cause psin, 1#f Th= muscles are
stralned or brulsged. His body's golng to be & wost uncomfortable
thing to live in for & Few days, even with peinklllers to help him.
In additleon, therea's the head injury. Iv’s been aggravated some
way. Thae other thres are in much the same condition,” he added
parenthatiocalliy. "and one of them has s stomsch conditlion that I may
not be able to cure, 1it's sy far advanced, But aven 1f all I can do
for him iz makse his death saslier, L've sccompllished something. I'g
like to get my hands on the man rvesponszlible for &ll this," he added,
indlicating the bruises.

"The Capteln dld not know use,"” Spock said, tenslion noticeable in
his voicea.

MoaCay noddad. an amnaglec condition probably caused by the
haead indury. ¥With rest it should improve.,?

Kirk's syes blinked open. McecCoy smiled down at him, "Eapy,
Jim. You're mafe now, You?!ll bs on youyr feet agaln in & day or
twa,

Kivk's lipe moved in a feint responding smile. He looked on
pagt McCoy to Spochk, The Vulcan, realising that something concrete
was nhneaded haere o reassure hisg friend, permitted himself to smile
Blightly as wall: unnecesssrily, had he known, The warmth already in
his eyes was s8ll the reasgurancs Kirk needsd. Even although Kirk
could not recognise theam, he could recognige thelyr obvicus concearn.

His syes moved on round the room. There was & haunting
famlliarity about the place, although he dlidn't stop to think about
that; what was of more Ilmmediste importance was the simple fact that
evarything wses e¢lean. It all laoked clsan sand - wonder of wonders -
1t gmeid clean. It was with 2 strengs feeling of phyeicsal well-being
caused by the plessesntness of his surroundings that he closed hisgm
eyes and slept agaln.

Kirk lay stlill for a minute when he awoke, delaying opening his
eyan, glad to be awashe. That had been some nightmaref It had even
left him with & residual headachs. A hand eamught hils, and he opened
hig eyes, surprised.

He was lying in slckbay; his Flrst Officer, sitting beside him,
was holding hig hand.

"Spock?® ha askad.

Vigiblie realisef paussed cover thsg Vulcen's face. "How do you feel,
Captain?®
Kirk made & facse, “ap 1f s herd of ptsmpeding buffalo had

charged right aover ms.,"

HItP11 eall Dr. MeCoy to glve you e painkiller.™ The voice was
qulet and very gentlis.

"Ho, walt., Spock... I dreamed that I'd been kidnapped and made
to work on a carge ship..."

"You didntt dream 1t, Jim. It reslly happened. It took us
almost & weak to find you."” He took a desp bDresath. His grip on
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Kirk's hand tightened slightly for a moment, then he released 1t.

w111 get McCoy — he's checking the other men we resgcued from that
hall-gship. "

Under the peaceful influence of the painkiller, Kirk drifted off

to sleep agaln, lulled by the memory of the warmth in his friends'
ayes.,

Of ¢ourse he had friliende to worry about him..,
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"Captain Leibstein! There's béen an explosion in the engine
voomi" The voice from the intercom, urgent but not panlcked, rose
above the wail of the alarm,

"How gerious?®

"Don't ¥now yvat, sir, but we're losing power. We'll have to
heave to for & while to check ocut the damage."

"1I'11 be right down. Mpr. Dawson, come wilith me.¥

The Captain and First Offlcer of the J.8.8. Falecon, the starship
racently commisaioned to replace the Congtellation, made thelr way to
the engine room with 8 tired resignastion. The Falcon was gtlll on
her shakedown crulse, and so far practically nothing had gone right.

At Pfirst sight, there waps very little danmage. The engine room
crew, to & man - including personnel who would normally have been off
duty - was checking out everything, @ach man doilng & check - or
back-up check — of the egulpment he normelly handled, despite the
fact that only one component showad any real signh of damage.

“"Anyone hurt, Mr, Lun<?®

The Chinese Chilief Englineer sald guietly, "Two men were slightly
injured, Captain,. I'va sent them to sickbay."®

Satlsfled on that score, Leibsteiln went on. "What caused Lt2"

Rifflcult to msay, sir. This I8 one of the units that's given

ug moat trouble. It appears that a component here -~ Y he indicated a
fuged lump of metal * - short circulted, That vaused a surge of
power to here -" he indilicated a shattered plece of metal difficult to
identify as machinery " - and 1t couldntt take the loag."

"Any idea what caused the short eirpcuit in the first place?™

“No, sir. I'1l get this replaced and run a few tests, That
might give us a clue. But gmeriocusly, my recommendation now would be
that we abandon the crulse, head stralight back to Earth and get the
whole thing taken out and replaced. They used to speak about Monday
morning cars a couple of hundred years ago - vehicles that never ran
properly, no matter how much woark was done on them. [ think this 1s
a Monday morning engineg. ™

Leibesteln grunted. 1711 take that as a8 recommendation, Mr.
Lun, Any other damage?™

"Not as far ag we can see, Captain,®

“Carry on, then. Call me when you're ready to start the tests.™

Lelbsteln turned to leave, the Fivat Offlicer a8t his heals, as
Lun began to disconneet the fusad unit. They had taken only half a

doeen steps when the machinery on which the Chief Engineer was
working blew in a tremendous explosion.
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On the bridge, the Communications Officer stiffened 1n agony as
a surge of power shot through his eguipment, electrocuting him before
it short-circuited the board. The helmsman screamed once, and
slumped, dead. Every offlcer who was touching equipment diled in the
vielous surge of power that shot through the Falcon then falled,
laaving the ship virtually without power and with most of its
officers and all of i1its engineers except the two 1in mickbay, dead.

"Captain,'" Uhura said sgharply., "I'm picking up what appears to
be a distress signal in old Morse code.

"Morge?" Kirk exclaimed. "That was scrapped years ago."

YT know, siep. Thisg ig Just the three letters, B.0.8., repeated
on an automatic signal. Even 1if there was more, though, I doubt I
would be able to understand more than a fraction of it. We had to
learn the old codes at the Academy, but you do forget things you
naver need to use.?

"Yeg, I know. Can you pinpoint 1ts position?®

"Yaeg, sir.”

"Give Mr. Sulu the bearings, then. Warp six, Mr. Sulu."

"Warp six, sir."

"Mr. Spock. Are there any other Federation vessels known to be
in this area?"

Spock thought for s moment. "The Falcon could be fairly close,
Captaln. Hey shakedown cruilse took her from Earth to Braco,
returning from there to Starbase Fourteen. She phould be in this
sactor by now."

"And that's the only onet®"

"The only Federation vessel, Captain.®

"wWaell, I shouldn't think a Starship would be sending ocut a Morse
S.0.8.%

"It 1is possible that it could be another old sleeper ship, like
the Botany Bay," Spock suggested.

"Are there any more of those ships unaccounted for?"

"There was no record of the Botany Bay, 1f you remember,
Captain."

Kirk nodded. "I had forgotten that," he muttered, aver so
slightly sheepishly.

YHowever, the probability is that it is an old ship," 8pock

continued. "The slignal is automatic - most likely the crew is all
dead."

"I1f that i8 the case.., well, the ship is still a hazard to
othar vesselg. Lieutenant Uhura."

"aye, asipe"
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“"The Faleon should be in the area. See if you can contact her.
If sha's nearer the slignaliing vessel than we are, Captain Leibstein
can deal with it."

"Ave, Bir."™ She turned back to the communications board. After
a few minutes, she sald, "I can't ralse the Falcon, sir."

Kirk and Spock locked at each other.
"The Falcon?" whispaered Kirk, "It ien't possible.”

Two anxious hours later they moved into sensor range of the
dereilct, and discovered that he was wrong.

"Can you raise them yeat, Lieutenant?" Kirk asked.

"No, sir. There's just the automatic £5.0.8. still being
broadcast. If they could hear us, you'd expect them to do something,.
aeven 1f they just cut tranemission."

Kirk glanced at Spock, who nodded.

"I fully agree with Misgs Uhura," he said. "The conclusion must
be made that they have no communications &t a21ll, and that whateverx
happened the survivors have Jjury-rigged scmething to transmlt the
Morse impulses.®

"We'll beam over." Kirk flicked on his intercom. "Mr. Scott,
Dr. McCoy, meet me in the transporter room immedistely. Mr, Sulu,
you have the con. Mr., Spock - " He headed for the turbolift, the
Vulcan at his haels,

The four men materialised on the bridge of the Falcon, A man in
pelence blue was watching a girl who was working on the wiring behind
the communicatiaons panel. He swung round with an exclamation as the
party materialised, and they saw that he was in the medical
department.

The sound made the girl loek up from her work. A slanting
avebrow lifted.

"Spocklt?

"T'Mara,"™ Spock saild, obviously surprised. He recovered himself
instantly. "This is Captalin Kirk, Chief Engineer Scott and Doctor
MaCoy o©f the Enterprise.”" He turned to his crewmates. "Ensign
T'Mara is one of the few Vulcan women in Starfleet."

T'Mara naodded a combined acknowledgement and greeting.

*"This 18 Pr. Ericascen.”

“Where is Captaln Leibatein?™ Kilrk asked.

"Dead,”™ T'Mara replied,

Dead, Kirk thought., Ppor Axel. He hasn't iLlived long encugh to

captain his firasbt command on active aervice. "Myr. Dawson?" he
continued aloud.
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"Also dead. All the command grade officers were killed,
Captain. As ranking ensign, I am acting commanding officer."

"You? But Starfieet regulations do not accept women -~ " It was
out before Kirk could stop himself.

Vulean though she was, she gave what, in a Human, would have

been called a rueful smile. "Captain, there was little alternative.
Captalin Leibstelin had a..." Unusually for a Vulcan, she hesitated,
appearing to sesrch for the most appropriate word. Finally, she

managad, "A ohivalry that forbade him to permit women to do anything
that might endanger them. He had mansaged to get most of the women
originally assigned t¢ the FfFalcon replaced. There were no women
aboard above the rank of ensign. Ag 8 result, it was only men who
were checklng the seguipment when the accldent happened, and sell the
senlior engigns who survive are women. They all locked to me as the
mogt senior. What else could I have done but take command?™

Kirk had liked Lelbstein at the Academy, but he could remember
him a3 & male chauvinist who fregquently spoke out against having

women 'in the male world of exploration', and he mentally applauded
the tactful description. "I'm sorry," he paid, anxious that sphe
should not clsasssify him 38 8 chauvinist asg well. #1 didn't mean..."

He hesitated, unsure of how to continue, and decided to leave the
awkward toplco. "wWhat happened?" He c¢changed the subject back to the
more lmportant question.

"The engines have bheen giving trouble since we left Earth.
Nothing major, but they dld need constant readjustment. Flnally,
there wag an explogion in the engine room. The Captaln and Mr.
Dawson were checking the damage with Mr. Lun, our Chief Engineer,
when there was a second explosion. Everyone in the engine room was
killed, and everyone throughout the ship who was handling instruments
was @lectrocuted. Most of the offilcers were checking theilr

instruments for any damage caused by the first explosion - that's why
the death rate was so high. Secondary life support systems are
working - barely. I managed to Juryrig the communications board to

transmit a pulsed distresms call - you plcked 1t upe®
Kirk nodded. "How many casualties??

"A hundred and six dead, another eighty three injured, some of
them severaely," Ericson answered. "There's very little I can do for
them, bar sedation, at the moment. I came to ask Miss T'Mara 1f
there was ahy chance of gettling more power."

"Very little," T'Maras replied. "But I'm not an engineer. Mr,
Scott may be able to help. Meanwhile, Captailn Kirk, as acting
commander of the Falcon, I must ask you if it iz possible for our
injured to be transferred to the Enterprise."

"I was about to suggest 1%. Bones, arrange it with Dr.
Ericaon."
YRight, Jim." The two medilcal officers went out through the

Jammed -open bridge door that led to the emergency stairs.
"What condition are the engineg 1in?" Scott asked.

"In my opinion, unrepalrable,"™ T'Mara answared, "Also 1
coneider that there 18 at least a geventy nine point eight percent
chance of another serious explosion within the next sixteen and a
half hours. I could be wrong ~ as I sald, I am not an engineer.™
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"Itd 1like a look at the angine room," Scott sazid.

"Of course, Mr. Scott.” T'Maras sterted towards the emergency
aexit.

Kirk sald seriously, "I think we Bhould transfer all but a
skaleton crew to the Enterprise as soon as possible. It'1]l make us a
hit crowded, but undesr the circumstances 1t might be best.?

The engine room door wag also jammed open, and bore all the
slgne of having been forced. Not until he saw it did Kirk reslise
fully Just how complete the loss of power was.

Inside was a shamblas. Kirk and Spock looked at each other and
then back at the twisted wreckage, Kirk trying not to ragister the
dark bloodstains that covered everything and the bodies trapped under
chunks of metal too heavy to 11ift. Scott looked round, acute paln on
his face at the ruin of all this beautiful machinery.

"You're right, Ensign. Thesge engines'll never work again,'" he
said sadly.

He moved over to what had been a main control board, clambering
awkwardly over an unidentifiable component that barred his way,
looked up at a dial that - impossibly - was still giving a reading,
Prowned at the figures and tried to move a switch. "It's all fused
sclid. Anything I try will just precipitate any trouble that's a
brewing.'"

"You agree there could be another explosion?" Kirk asked.

"Wall, Captain, everything's fused at 'on'," Scott sald. He
pointed to the dial. "The power is still being produced but it can't
get anywhere. It'11 build up for a while, then - " He shrugged.
"That reading's a lot higher than it should be."

"Mr, Spock?"

"T think the mooner we begin to transfer the Falcon's c¢rew, the
batter, Captain. Now that I have peen the demege, I believe Misg
T'Mara's estimate to be a generous one. An explosion, soon, does
appear likely."

Kirk nodded. "I agree," he said. "Mr. Spock, beam over as sBOON
as all the injured are transferred. Arrange for the distribuytion of
the Falcon's crew among ours, Tell Lt. Uhura to notify Starfleet
wlith the detalls of what we are doing. If the Falcon doesn't
explode, we'll take her in tow to Starbase Fourteen. Scotty, there's
nothing you can do here; you go too. i1'11 stay and help Miss T'Mara
organise the evacuation from this end."

Spock hesitated for a split second before replying. "Yeas,
Captain. "

"You sound doubtful, Mr. Spock?"

"You are morg important than I, Captain. Would 1t not be better
if I remained with Ensign T'Mara?"

"In case of accldents? No, Spock. Beam over,"
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They dacided that 1t would be simpler if the Falcon's crew was
beamed aboard the Enterprise from sickbay, since the transporter was
already locked onto the slckbay for the transfer of the injured -
aven although many of them, the lese seriously hurt, had actually
been in thelr own guarters - sickbay had never been designed to deal
with so many casualties at once. A disgaster of this magnitude was -
or had been - unthinkabls. Undoubtedly Starfleet's best scilentists
and engineers would spend many sleepless nights trying to discover
Just what had gone wrong...

This transfaear 18 godng to take some time, Kirk reflected
uneasily. However, no-one showed any sign of panic, and mentally
Kirk awarded T'Mara full marks for her handling of the crisis.

Most of the remaining crew were assembled in the main rec room.
T'Mara had spoken to them there, making no secret of the imminence of
another sxplosion, but she had also pointed out that everyone would
be clear long before the estimated time of 1ts cccurrence. And
although she upBed exactly the same loglical arguments that he knew
Spock would have done, somehow she had put a touch of humour inte her
information that kept anyone from reacting with the irritation Spock
gometimes engsnderad. For a fleseting moment, Kirk wondered if it was
due to the emotional stablility of being a full-bloodied Vulean...

For the most part, sll he had to do was stand by in silent
support as the c¢rew filed past en route to sickbay. Ona young
crewman hegitated at the steir leading to the living guarters,
looking mores than a little uncertain, and Kirk moved instantly to his
plde.

"You wanted something, Ensign?"
ny, .., Can't wa go and get our things, sir?"

"I'm sorry, Englgn. Look &t 1t this way - you can replace your
clothes, but not your life."

The young ensign s8till hesitated uncertalnly, and one of the
others stoppaed as well. "It's not his clothes he wants, Captaln.
He's from Dorutha, and hils pet rachat is in his gquarters.™

Dorutha was & colony world, settled by Humanas over a century
previously. The first gift a Doruthan ever received was a rachat; an
intelligent little animal that formed an almost symbiotic
relationship with 1its master - a relationship deeper than any other a
Boruthan was ever llkely to encounter. It was not unknown for a
betrothed couple to split up becasuse thelr rachats reacted adversely
to the proposed union.

Rachats ususally lived as long a8 their Human partners and did
not survive them; Kirk could imagine what it would be like for the
young Human to lose his rachat under these circumstances. He locoked
at the sBecond man. "You his room-mete?"

Pyan, sir."

"Go with bhim, Make sure he doean't take any unnecessary
chances.'" He looked at the sensigh. WFive minutes."

"Yes, silri"™ The youngster took off down the steps at a run, hie
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friend close behind him,.
Kirk let the file move on, and walted.

1t took & 1ittle longer than the five minutes, but Kirk had
axpected that,. He had net reached the ilmpatient stage when the two
enslgns reappeared, the younger one now wearing a fold-over jacket.
A small, pointed, furry head showed in the V.

A8 tha three men headed along the corridor, the young ensign
said, "Thank you, sirp."

slowly the walting queue greow shorter. Kirk began to feal
boreaed, Maybe he should have let ZBpock stay after all.

Suddenly remembering something important, he turned to T'Mara.

"it1l go up to the bridge, see 1f I can retrieve the Log," he
sald, "It mightn't be possible, with the power fallure, but we
should try for it. There might be information 1n it from the
computers that could give a clue to the fault."

A Blight expression of annoyance fllickered over the Vulcan's
face for an instant, and Kirk realised she was annhoyed at herself for

forgetting about the Log. "t 18 my duty, as acting captain,'" she saild.
Kirk shook his head. "Your duty i t0o make sure your crew geaet
to safety,” he pald. "I'11 be ag quick as I can."

Ha was half way to the bridge when the ship shook to ancother
axplosion. He wag flung to the floor; he picked himself up, and
carried on.

There was no need te bother about how much damage he did in
retrieving the small buoy that carried the Log ready to be jettisoned
in & ahilp's final moments only this buoy couldn't he Jjettisoned,

for there was no powaelr avallable to goperate the eject mechanism. He
had to get open the panel that shegltered it - and that panel also was
fused shut. He looked round for something to use as a lever.

It wag many minutes before the panel yielded and he retrieved
the buoy. Sucking a brulsed finger, he carried it triumphantly down
the staelr back towaprds Silickbay.

The ship shook agaln, but anly slightly - clesrly a much smaller

expleogsion this time. A taint smell reached his nostrils and he
sniffed.

Bmoket

The ghip was on fire. How many were there stiil to be
transported? It was lucky that fire hadn't broken cut earlier. At
ileast most of the crew were gpafa now, A thin wisp of smoke curled

along the corridoyr as he reached the sickbay deoor.

inside, he found only T'Mara and a dozen men. Even as he
entered, six of them shimmered away. The Doruthen - last in the
queue - smlled shyly at him, and the rachat's whiskers twitched as if
it, too, was acknowledging him.

"I was beginning to wonder 1f you were all right, Captain,"
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T'Mara admitted.

"I'd to break the panel open," Kirk explained. He glanced at
the six men who were still waiting. "These are the last?" He knew
that they were, but somsthing in him demanded confirmation.

"If there 1s anyone else they haven't reported in," T'Mara
sald. "I gouldn't get an accurate count because several men went
over with the injured to act as stretcher bearers, and no—-one could
tell me how many went. Pearhapg wa should take time to make a final
check of the ship - "

"Too late," Kirk saild. "Wa're on fire. It would be suilcide to
try. "

The last six meh began to fade, solidified again, fluctuated two
or three times then vanished. They looked at each other. What was
wrong with the transporter?

Kirk's communicator bleeped.

*Kirk here."

¥Spock, Captain. A component in the transporter has falled.
Your transport will be delayed until it can be replaced."

"Was the last lot of men all right??

"Yeg, though 1t was touch and go."

T'Mara touched hils arm, and pointed towards the door. Through
it, they could see smoke beginning to £ill the corridor. A wisp
curled into the room.

"How long wlll Scotty be repalring the transporter?"

"Only a few minutes, Captain.®

YYou'd better have McCoy standing by when we beam over. We're
on fire and the fumes are getting to us." He coughed ss the acrid
smoke caught at his throst.

"Can you obtain Life support unitse?

"Negatlive,. It's getting hard to breath in here - in the
corridor, we wouldn't last ten seconds."

"My, 3cott says five minutes yet, Captain."

"That's too long,'™ T'Mara put in quietly. "I agptimate we will
lose conscilousness wilthilin two."

"IT've sent for McCoy. But..." His voice trailed off
uncharacteristically.

T*Mara looked at Kirk. "Captalin," she sald. "You and 1 do not
know each olher, but we both know 3pock. He thinks of us both as his
friends. Can you trust me?"

"I'd trust any Vulcan," Kirk replied, mystifiled.

She leaned towards the communicator,. "Spock. I'm going to try
Mar'n'a. Be ready for ug.®
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“he looked back at Kirk. "It ig a special trance," she
axplalined. "T meld my mind toc yours, and put us both lnte a very
deep trance. In that condition, we have a better chance of

surviving. "

*"Carry on,"™ Kirk said.

Aboard the Enterprise, Scott was working furiousiy.
"Can 1 assisgt you?" Spock asked.
"No, wae'd just get Iin each other's way."

MaeCoy came 1in then, looking a little annoyed. "What's the
emergency?" he asked. "Ericson and I are still trying to get the
injured men settled and treated.®

"The Captaln will need you," Spock replled evenly. "The Falcon
is on fire, and there is & delay in beaming the Captain and Miss
T'Mara over. They will be suffering from smcke polsoning, if nothing
worge. "

“"Try 1t now, Mr. Spock.™ Scotty straightened with a grunt.

Spoeck set the transporter controls, operated it. The two lnert
bodies materialised, Kirk with hig arms round the buoy containing the
Log. Spock gtrode over to watch MceCoy giving them guick injections,
Then he appllied a mind meld to T'Mara. The girl took only s few
moments (o open her ayes and sit up.

"I lost him at the third level,” she saild.

Spock ilmmediately turned to Kirk, his hand reaching for Kirk's
face. McCoy looked at T'Mara, puzeled, but Instinctively deciding
not to disturb Spock.

"What goes on?" he asked,

“Mar'n's,” ghe replied. "A gpeclal trance, 8o deep that we
cannot come out of it ourselves. A third person must be present to
draw us back to consciousness, Normally it is only done when all
participants know each each other well, and Captain Kirk end 1 are
strangers to sach other. I thought that perhaps Spock Kknew your
Captaln well enough to compensate for the fact that I do not.
However, I logt contact with the Captain at a very deep level. Bpock

iy trylng to reach him now. If he cannot, Captsin Kirk will
aventually die.™

Spock drew back, #*T cannot gquilte reach him," he saild. He
looked round. "Doctor. 1f you will permit me to Join my ming to
voeurs, I can perhaps use your Human affection for the Captain to
reach him."

MeCoy didn't hesitsate. "Go ahead, Spock.?'

Spock reached for his face. MeCoy felt the tendrllis of Spock's

mind curling round hiles congciousnessg. ¥Imagine the Captain 1s at the
bottom of a deep hole,” Spock said, "You area trying to reach down to
him. "

Spock turned his attention back to Kirk. MeCoy could fael



22

nothing, but he obeyed Spock, straining his mind to imagine the hole,

straining an imaginary hand down to reach an invisible one. He felt

a hand on his shoulder ~ T'Mara, and knew she was helping him.

Nothing happened for what seemed a long time, Than 3Spock
raelaxed slightliy.

"I have him," he =aid.

A few moments later, Kirk's eyes opened. He looked round.

"We made 1t," he sald.

"Barely," Spock replied.

Kirk looked over at T'Mara. "Thank you," he sadid.

"It's S8pock you should thank," she answered.

"I could have done nothing without Dr. McCoy," Spock sald
gquietly. McCoy felt the falntest of pressures on hisg mind, then a

sense of withdrawal... and a momentary feeling of utter loneliness.

"Come on, Jim," he sgaid. "Miasg T'Mara too. Down to Sickbay.
want to check you both out.®

Later, satisfied that the Falcon's crew was settled in and his
own crew as happy with the arrangements as possible, Kirk headed for
the recreation room. As he entered, he saw Spock with T'Mara,
Playing chess. He want over to them, trying not to feel hurt - just
a little; aware that 1t was logical for Spock to seek the company of
ancther Vulcan, particularly one who had told Kirk she was a friend,
They looked up as he Jolned them. T'Mara rose.

"Would you like to take my place, Captain?"

"No, Ensign, finisah your game," Kirk said, foolishly pleased
that she should think to make such an offer, hoping nelther of them
realised it.

He watched them for a while. Spéck appeared to be winning.
McCoy came in, and joined them.

"Sverything all vright, Bonesg?"
"Everyone gettled,'" McCoy replied.

Spock won the game. T*Mara rose again. "Will you have a game
now, Captain?®

"You don't want to try for ravenge?" Kirk asked.

I

She shook her head. "IT'm not very interested in playing chess,"
she said. "L prefer to watch.,"™

Kirk took her place as 3pock began to set out the men. cut of
pure curiosity Kirk asked, "How well do you two know each octhere"

For a moment the Vulcans each seemed to be walting for the other

to anawer. Then Spock gald, "Quite well, Captaln. T'Mara is my

cousin."”



Stars sre not evenly distributed through mpace, Inside a
galaxy, there rre ciusters, which have more than their fair share of
suns;, in othsr areas, the stara are distributed, 1If not evenly, st
least ressonably s80; and in the region between spliral arms stars are
few and far bestweasen.

The United Federation of Planets, with the Klingon and the
Homulan Empires barring its route through its home spiral arm, had
for some time been comnidering trying to expand in the other
direction, acroass the space that separated thelr territory from the
neighbouring spiral srm, and colonising there. No matter that it
wounld take a ship travelling at top warp aspeed almost two months to
cross thes space between the two spiral arms; the Federation High
Council considered that the distance wes well within reasonable
limits.

Starfleet Command, with more experience of space travel than the
members of the High Council {many of whom had never travelled further
Lhan was necesnsary to attend the various meetingds, which were held in
rotation on the different member planets) protested violently about
ifte unrealistic piensg the Hidh Council presented to them.

"Politicians!" Admirazl Komack muttered in disgust as he examined
the proposals for expaunsion.

He read the first two pages ol the report with increasing
annoyance, turned to the third, and siammed his band down on the
buzwzer to summon his secretary.

She appeared almoest instantly. Indeed ~ knowing when he had
started 1o reag the report - she was surprised that he had not
summoned heyr eaviier,

"Set up an immediate meeting of the senior Command officers.”
"Aye, siv.” Comimander Schwarz had served on bhoard the Koungo for
some years before an injuiry had invalided her to a shore posting, and
it frequenlly showed in her speech. She limped back to her desk, and
checked Lhe compuier for the scheduyles of Komackh’'s senior colleagues,
then returned tc his roowm in time to caich sSome more uncowmpl imentary

muiterings.

"Admirat Fitederald and Vice Admiral Li will not be available
antii{ tomorrow morning, " Schwara reported. "Everyone else can bhe
contacied jommedigtely.”

"Tomorrow morning wiil do," Komack growled. "This has to be a
fult meeting. We have i1o be unanimous.”

They were.

By the next dey Xomsck had had time to read the full document
and summarise it, although both he snd Schwarz had had to work deep
into the night to do so.
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Komack reported the details to his colleaguesn; and found himself
for onte in the uvnusual and pleasing position of having complete
agreement from them. Although Komack was the senior officer in
Starfleet Command, Admiral Fitzgerald was an ambitious man who would,
Komack knew, dearly like to replace him and often disagreed with
Komack’s suggentions - even when his private opinion was known to
mesh with them. But this time, not even Fitzgerald raised a voice in
disagreement,

The discuasion was brief. At the end of it, Komack turned to
the computer where Schwarz waas compiling the minutes of the meeting.

"I want a message sent to the High Council,” he growled.
"Aye, sir."

Komack pausned, breathing deeply as he fought for self control,
gathering hias thoughts.

"Gentlemen. I have read with interest your proposals for
expansion of the territory controlled by the United Federation of
Planets and 1 have discussed these proposals with my colleagues at
Starfleet Command. I have been directed by them to bring to your
attention meveral facts,

"The region between the spiral arms has never been explored.
Although that space is almoxt empty, it Is not completely Bo. We do
not know what dangers might exist there. We therefore believe that
it is necessary teo send ships into the refdion to explore the proposed
route thoroughly before any attempt is made to cross it.

"To do this adequately will require money; money that Starfleet
will find impossible to allocate from its present budget.

"If we are to use our resources to investigate totally unknown
space a8s well ps continuing to develop our present territory in
addition to maintaining our defence against both the Klingon and
Romulan frontiers, we will certainly require more funding.

"This is a simple matter of arithmetic, gentlemen. The
resources of Starfleet are alresady spread too thinly. We do not have
enocugh ships.

“We have only twelve Star Cruisers; the Klingons are known to
have at least double that number of vesassls of comparsble type, and
only the Romulans know how many they have,

"Gentlemen of the High Council, you all have the best interests
of your home planets at heart; you all wish to see more money
allocated for the development of those planeta. Many of you look at
Starflest and do not see that we are of immediate umse to you, and
therefore do not consider our budget to be of great importance. You
forget that we are all that stands between the civilians of your home
planets, and of all your colony worlds, sand invasion by a ruthless
and greedy enemy.

"To explore the apace between the mpiral arms adeguately in the
time you suggest will require the ume of all our scout vessels as
well as half of our Star Cruisers, This will leave our home '
territory seriously under—-defended.

"Gentlemen, we do not say we will not accomplish what you ask.
However, with our present resources, we oannot accomplish what you
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The opinion of Starfleet Command waus, of course, overruled.

Faced with the aimost impossible task of exploring the space
between the spirai arms of the galaxy as well as maintaining s
reasonable presence inmide Federation space, Komeck finally essigned
four large survey ships to scout the direct route that would be used
en route to the unknown mtars of the other arm.

Contact was lost with all four ships, one after the other.

Urgded on by the High Council’s demands, Komack sent three
elght-men scoutships and two four—-man scouts into the unknown
regions. Denigned a3 they were to explore possibly hostile
territory, these smaller ships were faster than the larger survey
vessels whose primary function was to produce a repsonably full
report on newly-discovered habitable or explojtable planets whose
presence had been reported by the scout ships. The disadvantage of
using scouts for this mission was that they lacked the sophisticated
scanning capability of the survey vessels; their scanners wvere
capabie only of very basic study.

They, too, disappsared.

It was impossible to say just when four of the five vesseln
vanished: but as it happened, Starbase 15 was in direct communication
with the fifth when contsct wans lost,

The Madellan was in the middle of a routine report on one of the
few slar systems in the stellar deseri between the spiral arms when,
without warning, a crackle of static intervened, blotting out the
Eignal from the ship. The Communications Officer on duty at the time
was a highly experienced man recently invallded out of active service
due to 8 heart condition which, although making it inadvisable for
him to serve aboard a ship, was not severs enough to render him unfit
fer a dround posting. Despite his bhest efforts, he was unable to
break through the static tnterference; and when it cleared, as
suddenty as it had begun, he was unable to restore contact with the
Mage!llan.

Starbase 15 immedintely repovted back to Starfleet Command.

Admirat Komack read the report from Commodore Rosenberg and
passed it on to the High Council., requesting additional funding to
repilace the missing ships, The High Council immediately ordered him
to find out what had havpened - at the same time, ignoring his
request for more money.

when he received the reply, Komack swore, long and
imagdinatively.

Oumn the High Councilt Here they vere, now missing ltour
valuablte survey ships and {ive scouts, and the Hidh Council was still
refusing to admit that it was ssking more of Starfleet’s resources
that Starfiteet had to give. In 8ll conscience he tould not send any
more ships into the ares -~ yet without sending at least one more into
the void he had no way of finding out whsi had happened to them.
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At the rate they were gdoing, the Klingon/Romulan Alliasnce would
not need to fight the Federmation in order 1o take it over - the Hign
Council was in the process of handing Federation space over to the
enemy by leaving it undei{ended.

He thought things over for some time, but in the end he ceme to
the unavoidable conclusion that he would have to send in one of the
vegluasble Stor Cruisgers, Although not guite the neareat, the
Enterprise’s crevw had the best reputation for resolving impossible
situvations,

He therefore told Behwarz to prepare new orders for the
Enterprise, along with what littile information was available.
Captoin Kirk and his crew had been chosen for the unenviable task of
discovering what had happened to the missing nine vessels.

"New orders coming in from Starfleet Command, Captaln,'" Uhura
announced, breaking the silence that had gripped the bridge for fully
half an hour.

Kirk gave a grunt, half «of annoyance, half of rellief; the
current migslion -~ acting as a2 taxil mervice for routine Buppllies to a
smell minlng colony -~ wag not particularly interegting, and he was
bored enough to welcome a small diversilon; but he knew from long
experlience that a change of orders like this most likely dindicated
perious trouble.

"put 1t on the screen, Lieutenant."
Komack'®s face shimmered into view.

"Captaln Kirk. Over the past year, a number of ships have been
surveying the space betwean us and the neighbouring spiral arm, in
the reglon designated Quadrant 236/69/846KZ. Thesme ships have all
digappeared without trace. You are ordered to abort your pregent
migsion and investigete thespe disappearances,. All relevant
information 1ls being transmitted to ypour computer.

YThe Federation High Command 1s particularly enxlous that this
problem lg regolved as soon as possible. Komack, Starfleet Command,
out. "

Ap the familiar starfleld reformed, Kirk closed hisg eyes and
took & long, deep breath. He counted slowly to ten, then stood
briskly.

"Mr. Chekov, plot a course for Quadrant 236/769/BU6XE and execute
immediately, warp factor alght. You have the con. Mr. Spock, Mr.
Sulu, come with me. Lisutenant Uhura, call Mr. Scott, Dr. Mcloy and
Securility Chief Beaillie to briefing room three immediately."™

"Aye, sir." She aspoke to the closing doors of the turbolift,
sighed, and loockad at Chekov g2 he moved to the command chalr, his
place and Sulu's belng taken instantly by O'Neill and Rahada, who,
having called reliefs for themeelvesn, left thelr own, less important,
backup censoles unmanned for the brief time it would take for thosge
reliefs to arrive. "What do you think, Pav??

1 think the Captalin does not like the sound of these orders,"
Chekov replled gloomily. "I1f several ships have vanished wilthout
trace, we could assily be the next.®
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Kirk, Spoek and Sulu made their silent way to briefing room
three, Without facts to go on, Spock, 0of course, would say nothing
unless in direct responss to Kirk; but Kirk was cobviously deep in
thought. Bulu, after & quick look at both faces, decided that
spaeculation - at this point -~ was not called for.

McCoy, having the shortest dlistance to go, wag alreasdy waliing
whaen they entered the brilieflng room.

"What's all this about, Jim?" he asked immediately, ilgnoring the
brooding expression on the Captain's face.

“New crders," Kirk zald tersely as he sat. Beside him, Spock
wasted no time Iin flicking on the computer soreen and calling up the
information that went with these orders.

The docr pwilshed open again, and Scott and Balllilie entered
together.

"Captain®?® Scott was clearly agltated. "Warp elght? What's
happened?™ .

Kirk looked round the table.

"We have a change of orders, Scotty." He ran his flngers
through his hailr. "Jome of this... I've known about aome of this
for a while. It's not quite claggified information, but 1it's not far
from 1t.

""We all know that the Federation's options for expansion are
plightly limited by the Klingon and Romulan boundaries. without an
all-out wer, we're stymled in that direction. Not even the Klingons
or the Romulang want war - that's why they formed their Alllance.
They don't trust gsch other Pully even with the Alliance, so you can
guess how edgy they'd be without 1it. However, 1t seems that they
both trust the Federatlon snough not to bother with any sort of
officlal treaty other than the Organian one.

Yeas, I know we don't trust them, but they're not stupid. Wa -
we - defeated the ship the Romulans sent inte Federation space -~ they
logt face then, and they aren't going to risk that again in a hurry.

As foy the Klingons -~ they won't risk clashing with the Organians
again. and nelther will we,

"So the High Council ordered 3Starfleet to sxplore in the other
direction; acrosgs the staller desert and intce the neaxt arm of the
galaxy."”

Y1711 bet they dlidn't give Starfleet any more money for extra
ghips, "™ MeCoy muttersad cynically.

"I wouldn't taks you, Bones," Kirk repliled, “The High Council
depends too muech on the Organlan Treaty, and preckoned that they
didn't need to bother with any defsnsive presance other than the
Congtltution class ships,

"Komack was rather more cautlous. Starfleat has gent - to the
best of my knowledge - no more than nine shipe into that totally
unknown wpace in the past yvear, Komack's orders didn't tell us how

many were Involved, but I think my Iinformation ls correct.,"
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"That's no' bad for an area where there apren't wmany stars, "
Beott commented.

"Agreed. But that 18 the reason for our c¢hanged ordersa, All
nine have disappeared.n

Srock looked up from the computer read--out. "You are correct,
Captaln. Four survey shipg were originally sent into the area, and
after theaey disappeared, flve scout ships were zent in.,"

""Phat would be, .. arcund four hundred and fifty crew?" Mcloy
goundead horrified.

"Approximately, Doctor, The survey ahlps each carried a crew of
one hundred and six; three of the scouts were elght-man, and the
other twoe were four-man." He looked up. "Eight of the ships

digappeared without trace; thelr last recorded reports placed them
cloge to wuadrant 236/69/816XZ, where the ninth vessel poaitively
digapreared in the middle of a transmlgsion.”™

"What happened?"” Kirk assked,

Spcck returned his attention to the readout. "There wag
extended interference from static, which cut the contact; when the
statlc cvlieared, Starbase 15 was unable to restore the communlications
link with the Magellan."

There waa a short silence as hisg listenars absorbed the
information.

"Any further details?" KFirk asked at last.
"Negative. "

"Kemack's not asking much, is he?" McCoy sald drily. "o
informaticen, Jjust the quadrant where one of the ships dlsappeared.
Does he even realise how big one guadrant ig?®

Kirk ignored the comment ag rhetorical. He loovked round the
aothers. "Any suggestiona®®

"Until we actually reach Quadrant 236769 /846Xa, I do not belleve
a0, " Spock replied.

"Unfortunately, I think you're right," Kirk growled. "“Phe
detalls concerning the number of ships involved is clagsitied, of
course, as well as the reason for thelyr presence in that quadrant;
but it won't do any harm to let the crew Know we're on a rescue
misgion,. Dismissed.”

He wateched Sulu, Scott, MelCoy and Baillie flle out, followed by
Spock; but he was not surprised when Spock paused and allowed the
door to¢ slide shut, turning back towards the table.

"This misasion,.." Kirk said. "T don't llke the feel of it," He
rubbed the back of hig neck. "Something here is saying, Watch outt"

"y, too," Bpock said. "l would be more confildent if we Knew a
littie more about the area involved.™

Kirk looked at his First wfficer, hls eyebrows lifted. "We've
gone luto unexplored space pefore," he said. "It's part of our job
te go 'where no man has gone before’."
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"agreed, Captaln, But in this case, we are not golng where no
man hasg gone before, wWe are golng where nine other veepsels have
precedad us - and vanlished. ™

Ag the Entervrise silld into the star desert Kirk ordered the
lLong distance scanners to be put into operation. There was a chance
- vanishingly small, but 8tlll a chance -~ that 1if one or all of the
misging ships had been destroyed, they had managed to launch
l1ifeprcds. There was aiso the chance that if the ships had exploded,
there would still be detectable traces for the Enterprise’s
gophigtlcated scanners to plck up.

It took almost a month before the ship approached Quadrant
236,769,/BH6X2, They were, of course, unable to travel at warp eight
indetinitely, but even when they slowed down to rest the engines they
never dropped baelow warp six.

Ypace wag almost totally empty. There were a few starg drifting
through the parsecs towards the spilrsal arm they had Just left -
gravity pulling them - but there was no trace of elther lifepods or
ship debris.

As the Enterprise slld ilnto the gquadrant, Kirk ordered, "“"Warp
one, Mr., Sulu."

"Warp onea, gipe."
YSeannersd. Anything??"

"There 1ig one star gystem in this quadrant, Captain,"™ Spcock
reported. "A K1l star with six planets."

One of the planets was a dwarf hurtling around the sun 80O close
that thad the sun been more active it would have been in danger of
being burned by sgolar flares, Three were so far from the star that
they could be nothing but balls of ice. One of the other two was a8
gag glant, but the last one was gituated nicely in the eccaphere,
such ag 1t wag; Spock estimated that fopr such a dim star the
ecogphere wasg narrow anid temperatures on the planet's surface were
likely to be faiply low.

"If there are survivors, and they had any warning of what was
heppenling, they're most llikely to be on that planet,'" Kirk said
thoughtfully. "Mr., Chekov, get course for it. My, Sulu, agsume
standard orbit when we get there,?”

The Enterprise swung into orblt and began a gensor search,.
Almost immediately, Spock raisgsed his hesd.

"Life form peadings, Captailn. Human.,.. Klingon... Andorian...
and others. There are also metallice readings which would correspond
to the wreckage of ships."

Klingon?

A Klingon base on our pack door?? Kirk asked.

"Popgible,® Bpock replilied, a doubtful note in his voice. YThare
is, however, noe indication of advancad technology such as I would
expaect to £flnd in such a base, In addition, the readings indicate a

split into two communitles, one much lavger than the other - each of



308
them consgisting of mixed species.'" He bent over the gcanner again.
"Captaln, there are also some lilfe form readings of at least two,

possibly three, gpeciles unknown to me.'

"Uhurs, open 2 channel. Let's see 1f they have - " He broke
off axm the ship jolted sharply.

"We're being pulled down, Captain!" Sulu exclaimed.

""We have been caught in a strong magnetic field," Spock reported
almogt at the same moment. "You could call it & form of tractor
heam. "

Kirk reached to punch the intercom just as it bleeped.

"What's happening, Jsptain®"

"We're caught in a sort of tractor beam, Scotty. Give me warp
elight - we?ll try to pulil away."

"Aye, sir.®
"sulu, try to break orbit."®

The ship jerked, pulled away, and jerked again.

"lt's no use, Captaint!" came Scottt's voice over the lntercom.
YWe can reslst the pull for at least forty eight hours, possibly even
a llttle more, but after that.,. After that we'll go down, and

therae's nothing I ¢an do about 1it."

"How long could a survey vessel, or a scout, hold out agalnst
that pull?" Kirk asked,.

"sSurvey or scout? No time at all, Captain. Thay'd be pulled
down inside - oh, ten minutes at the sutside, 1f they had any
warning. Probably a lot less."

"Hmmm. That would seem to explain what happened to the mlasing
ships, then. Uhura, send =2 message to Starfleet - "

"{ can't, sir. Transmigsion 1las blocked by the magnetle field.
ALl T can get is static."

"Static!® Kirk's eyes blazed. "There's no more doubt about
it. Our missing ships are down there - and it'g up to us to find out
why. Mr. Spock -~ can we beam down safely?"

Spock frowned slightly. "No," he said. "Howaver, 1 believe
that a shuttlecraft would be able to make planetfall. It would of
course be caught in the tractor beam and be pulled down more rapidly
than is advisable, but since it 1is designed to travel through
atmosphere and land, it would not crash. That cannot be ssid for any
of the other ships that have been pulled down."

"But we would of course be pulled down to wherever the beam is
coming from."

"Of course., '
HYWorth 1t. The crews of the crashed ships wouldn't know what

wag happening; I don't say they'd panilec, but they wouldn't be ready
to face an enemy; they'd be toc busy trying to minimise the damage as
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they ceame down, We, on the other hand, wiill be ready." He pushed
hig hair back off hie forehead, 2 subeconesciouys action as he
congcliously braced himself - mentally - for action,

The intarcom blesped again.
"Kirk hare.®™

"Joott, Captain. We could maybes gain 8 wee bit move time by
revaerging polarity on the ship - holding her in orbit by magnetic
repulsion.”

Kirk glanced at Spoock,. "Whet do you think?"

"it could be dangerous, Captain. There are fluctuationg in the
strangth of the beam holding us, And if the landing psrty manages to
cut off the power source of the beam, 1t would be very dangerous
gince there would be no way to warn Mr. Scott of the impending
change.®

"I heard that, Captain. It should be possible to compensate. ™

"Try 1t," HKirk decided. "I'11 lesave it up teo your Judgement
whether it's likely to prove tee dangerous or not." One constant in
the universe was Scott's unwillingness to do anything thaet would rilgk
damage to the ship -~ or, more accurately, the engines,. "Now -~ Spoek,
I'"d like to lesave your expertise here, to help Scotty defend the
ship, but I'1l need you on the surface. Lt. Uhura, contact Mr.
Bailllie and Dr. McCoy and tell them to report to the hangar deck
immedlately. Mr. Bailllie ig to bring two of his best security
guards. "

"Aye, air." She turned to her consgole.

Captalin headed for the turboelift, his Firat Officer at hig
heels. As he went, he said, "You have the con, Mr, Sulu.®™

"Ave, sip.©

The 1L1ft deoor sghut, and Sulu glenced over at Chokov. Chekov
ghrugged, gaying nothing. Suly openad his mouth, then shut 1t again.

There wasg, a&fter =211, nothing he could say that was not already
obvicus tu the other senlor officers on the brlidge. And it would be
ne help to morale to let the Juniors know that thelr supericors had
anything laess than complste confidence 1in the Captain's ability to
solve thiz problem.

The landing party mat outslde the hangar door. Kirk looked at
the two guards with Balllie, surprised to nots that one was female -
well-built, but female.

"My, Baillle?” he ashkad.

Balllie grinned confildently, knowing what was in Kirk's mind.
"Captaln, Lieutenant Helmudsdotter hae won the sacurity section's
lest elght unarmad combat cowmpeitilitions without any difficulty. In
total, during those compstitions, she has been thrown fewer than ten
times. She's also sscurlty’s top marksman. She's the best I've
got ., "
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"rhat's some recommendation," Kirk acknowledged.

"and Lieutenant Kralik was runner-up 1in the last six
competltions,'" Baillle finished.

"Right. Let's get going." Although hies own choicee would have
bean for an ail-male landing party, Kirk was not going to over-rule
the opinlon of 8 sectlion head, especilally one as competent as
Baillie. He turned and led the way briskly to the Columbia.

The shuttlecraft mank quickly towards the surface. It was a
controliled descent, howeveyr; Kirk's skill as a pililot, while tested,
was not oversgtretched, and 8pock, sitting in the co-pllot's smeat,
remained relaxed even although his attention did not waver from the
readings in front of him.

The landing was not quite as smooth as the descent, however.
They came in rather too fast and bumped as the shuttlecraft touched .
down; 1t rose several feet into the alr and then came down agaln to
hit the ground falrly hard.

Kralik picked himself up from the floor, rubbling hisg rear
rugfully, as Baillle copened the door and jumped cut, phaser at the
ready; Helmudsdotter was juat behind him, and Kralilk, remembering his
duty, forgol his bruised rear and followad them before any of the
senior officers could move.

There was nao gign of anyone.

Kirk, closely followed by Spock and McCoy, Jjolned the security
guards, two of them looking round curiocusly. Spock's eyes were fixed

on a tricorder.

They were in a big clearing in what could only be called a
wood, Around them were the wrecks of a number of ships.

Kirk frowned ag he looked round. "The smource of the beam muast
be around here gomewherea,.."

Plaptain.,

Kirk swung round. The voice wag famlliar, but 1t was not from
ene of theilr group.

He Knew the tall filgure who stood there although 1t took him a
sgcond to recognise him.

"l{ang;! rt
"Welcome to Tortugs, Captain Kipk."™

"Kang, are you - the Klingons - responsible for what's been
happening to our ships?™" Kirk demanded.

"No, RKRirk. I, too, am a victim, But quickly - come. While you
stand there, you are in danger."

He beckoned them to follow him cut of the clearing and among the
treeg.

Ag they went, Spock sald guletly, "There ig a small group of



33

l1ife forms about A mile ahsad, Captein -~ approximately twanty. Mixed
racaes ~ I read Humang... Kiingons... Andeorisns... Tellarites... and
others.”

"That ia the group of which I am a member,? Kang replied,.

"Oh, " Kirk looked &t the tall Klingon. “"This quadrant 1is a
long way from Klingon space, Captaln Kang ~ you sre still a Captain,
I suppoge?"

"You could say that,'" Kang pald diegpiritedly. "My superilors
studied my report on the incident on Beta XIIA; then they studied
yours. They decided, most reluctently, to give me anocther chance -
unusual though 1t waeg to do so,. A Klingon Captaln who loses hils ship
i normally disgraced for iife. However, my new command was much
smaller - in fact, 1t was a scout ship." His face was expressive of
conflleting emotions - gratificatlion that he had been given another
command, shame that 1t was such an unimportant one.

After a momentary sillence, Kang went on, so guietly that they
could barely hear him. "Iin addition, my superiors choge to give me a
migslon that carrled -~ that appsared to carrvy - no opportunity for
making a mistake, by sending me to investigate this almost empty
space. There wasn't even any reason to gend me here — the Klingon
Empire ign't interested in a starless void. And then... and then we
were caught in a tractor beam and c¢rashed here.

"Aven 1f I should msnage to escape from here, I will never get
another commandg,*

"My report should exonerate you agasin," Klrk ssaid. "I don't
know yaet what has happened, what 18 causing this - but I have every
intention of finding out. 1 do know thet no ship smaller than a Star

Cruiser has any chance of aveolding being pulled down by that magnetic
beam. Even the Enterprise has barely enough power to regist the
pull, and - unless Scotty can pull off a miracle -~ she won't be able
to hold orbit for long."

Hang shook hils haad,. "You are generous, Captain, but I will not
be gliven a third chance. It 18 not the Kliingon way." He scunded
completely resigned about 1t; whatever emotion tinged his volce,
there was no bitterness. Then he went on, more briskly,

"We do have some 1ldsa of what i1s happening. There are creatures
here whoe control the tractor beam. They seem to be able to detact a

ghip coming into orbilt, but they don'it seem able to tell how long it
will take for thelr tractor beam toe pull 1t down. Once it lands -

usually crashes - theay come to take the crew prisoner.
YA few of us have managed to sscepe. The c¢reatures haven't
bothered with us - we'yre pot even certain that they know about us,

though we think that thgy probably do.?
"wWwhat happrens to the prilsconers?"

"They are forcaed to work for the crsaturaes."

Kang led them on through the trees untll they reached another,
but much smaller, clesring. A group of people walted there, among
them another two Klingong - Kirk was glsd to mee that one of them was
Kang' « wlife Mara; without reslising 1t, he had been ever o slightly



34

worrlied about her ever gince discovering Kang's presence. There ware
two Andorlansg, five Tellurlang, three Tellarites, half a dozen Humans
and several allens of specles thaet Kirk couldn't recognise; and a
tall girl, recognisable ag a2 Mahlian by her blue-tinted skin and
short blue hair.

It was the Mahlian who stood as the lilittle group entered the
giadea. Zhe moved forweard to meet them.

Her Starfleet uniform of science blue made her pale skin look
anaemic, She wore a Lieutenant's band, and Kirk wondered at her
confident attitude, since she was clearly ocutranked, by Kang if
nobody else. Yet in spite of her obvious self confldence, there wasg
a haunted expression desp in her syes.

"Vanora, this is Captain Kirk of the U.8.8. Enterprige," Kang
pald guiletly. "Also Mr. Spock, the SBecience Officer, and Dr., MeCoy
wheo, 1 see, is already a2t work,"

As Indeed he was. His trained eye had immediately notilced that
several of the group were clearly injured and, ignoring the girl, he
had headed straight for the nearest of them.

"1 do not know the names of the others," Kang went on, almost
apologetically.

"Mr. Bailllie, Security Chief, and Lieutenants Helmudsdotiter and
Kralik." Kirk finished the 1ntroduction.

"My greetings,'" the Mahlian said gquiletly.

Spock was studying her thoughtfully. "I am honoured to meet
you,'" he said. "I had heard that Mahlianas do not readlly leave their
home planet."

"That 1g correct, Mr. Spock," she replied guietly. "I am the
onliy one who hag ever done so voluntarily. It was not an easgy
decigion, but I had my reasons; they were valid ten years ago, and
they are still validq."

"and you are homesick," Spock sald softly.

"vYes," zhe replled,. "I do not doubt that 1 always will be. But
I abide by my cholce."

Kirk looked at her, puzzled. In his experience, Starfleet
paersonnel were feootloose, people who were slow to put down roots;

born explorers - the kind of people of whom it had once been said
that they would always seek to see what was on the other side of the
nill. To meet one who admittaed to being homesick was akin to meeting

a porpolse who was unable to swilim.

n the othepr hand, what Spock had zaid was true; as a race,
Mahlians - while welcoming visitors to thelr home planet - almast
never left it. Mahlian ambassadors an other planets were mostiy
hired outworlders; the few native Mahlimans who seprved in that
capacity did so only when there were important meetings, and they
remained offworld only ag long az was necessary for the meetings to
take place, rapidly returning home snd leaving theilir interests to be
cared tror by thelr employeesn... who, despite their power, had never
betrayed their employersas.

"I have heard that Mahllan women are the only ones aother than
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Vulcans to think logiecally and unemotionally,” Kirk said.

"Prue, Captaln," Spock repllied before Vanors could. "1t 13 moat
refrashing to meet gomeone alse wheo does think in that manner. "

MeCoy, overhearing, called cover. "He thinks that's a
comp Liment."

"It is a compliment," Vanors replled with a plight smile. "The
oniy difference between my race and the Vulcans is that we admlt to
the existence of what you might call the constructive emotions.
However, we do not let those emotions influaence our judgement, as I
have noticed Humans often do."

McCoy looked disgustedly at hap, "Jim, she's as bad as he ig!"
He turned back to his patiant,

Kirk was already impatient with the courtesies,. "Vanora, are
you 1n charge here?V It was the only explsanation for her attitude -
gand fang's attitude towards hew,

5he answered slowly. "1 am the last free survivor of the firgt
ship to be trappad here. As such, I am consildered to be the general
leader of this pltifully smsll group who have sscaped from the
plrates who trapped us. Howevar, we work a system where each of us
does what he 1s best fitted for. Tha simple matter of surviving and
remaining uncaptured means that we co-operate wlithout anything other
than token leadership being strictly necessary."

"wWithout a strong leader, you can't pogsgibly last Indefinitely,™
Kirk saild.

“She shruggead. YWwithin certaln limilts, [ agree," she sgaid. "T
am handicapped, however, in being outranked by sevearal of the others
- Captaln Kang among them. They, on the other hand, have had their

confidence in themselves damaged by losing thelr ships - even
although theilr surviving crew members look to them. We have had to
be tolerent and work by co-operation, wiith @ach small group insidse

our bigger one acting autonomously. I am thought to have the besgt
knowledge of the Tortugsns, therefore I am the general leader; the
one who hasg responsiblility for cupy safotiy. Nona of ug has thought of

the tong-term Implicatlions of such a mixed group; we have not dared
to. We survive from day to day. ™

"We'll see sbout that,” Kirk said. "ArLl right, glve me some
background.”™ He chose 2 fallen log and pat on it, looking round.
Most of the group had dispersed, and were bringing 1in wood, obviously
windblown, for none of ths pariy had tools and none ©of the wood
locked ag 1f 11t had been fallsd.

Vanora followed Kirk's gaze. "It gets veary cold at night,"” she
sald quietly.

Kirk noddsd; he would not have called the temperature
particularly warm even when the gun was shining directly down on
them; now 1t wasg sinking, throwling shadows. The temperature was
already dropping.

“rhight, then." he sald. "Lat's have soma facts. You say you
were on the firest ship to be trapped here. What ship? How long
ago? And what happened to the others?"

"Survey vesgel Discovery,” phe veapllied. "Wa were sent into this
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quadrant..." She heslitated, clearly calculating. "1+t would be
eleven months, five days ago 1in standard time; here, nearly filfteen
months, putting the time into seven-day weeks and four-week months.
There hadn't been terribly much for us to do - space here i1s pretty
ampty - and most of the crew were getting rather bored. Finding this
planet was a welcome break in the monoitony.

"We had Just entered orbit when we were caught in & tractor
beam. We didn't stand a chance. The communications officer tried Lo
call the planet, to tell them our ship couldn't land, but he dldn't
gat any answer. That's been the pattern silnce," she added. "No ship
hag managed to communicate with the pirates." Z2he shrugged. '"We
came down fast - too fast. when we hit, it was hard. Only a few of
usg survived the impact. Out of a hundred and sBilix, anly eleven
survived, and most of them were hurt; two of us ezcaped with nothing
more than prulsing, but everyone elsge broke one or more boneg. There
was no pattern to the survivals, elther,"™ ghe sdded. "Six from the
seiences; three from security; and two from command,. None of the
medical personnel survived."™

Kirk's eyebrows 1lifted. “"Sickbay i® the best protected part of
any ship."

"1 know, Captain. But nobody ever thought of a starship being
puilled down t¢ the surface - fast - by 8 tractor beam. When she hit,
poor Discovery crumpled like paper. A Lot of the casualties were
cauged by pecople belng crushed in the lmpact. If Sickbay wasn't
crusghed, Lt was cut off and the people there suffocated or died of
thirst.

"l guaessed that the people responsible for the tractor beam
would show up falrly quickly, and managed to get out. Englgn Malre
had the game ldea. We ware hardly out when we heard a group ol
people coming.

"We knew they wouldn't be friendly: and we thought we'd gtand a
better chance of doing something to help any other survivors from the
outgslide, o wea hid before the pirates arrived.

"They dld seem rather taken aback by the extent of the damage,
and none of the other ships have hit guite Bo hard, so they must have
some way of controlling the force of the bsam. Anyway, they searched
through the wreckage, and carried off nine prisoners. We couldn't
get close encugh to see who they were, but of course we gaw the
colour of thelir uniforms.

"We followed the Tortugans. They have a sort of camp - wooden
bulldlings, scome of them well constructed, others quite roughly bulilt
and 1ittle more than shelters - and if it hadn't beasn for thelr

control of the tractor beam I'd have thought that they were survivors
from o crash too, Thay certalnly don't look as 1f they're anything
more lthan a refugee group, but they're totally ruthless."

"others 1n the nelghbourheood?" Kivk asked.

"None. Just the one camp ©f them. There are nearly a tundred
in it we haven't been able to get a full count.®

"The tractor beam could have been automatiec, and they could have
been puilled down by Lt at some time in the past," Kirk mused. "Then
when they explored and found 1t, they learned how 1t worked and used
L t rz L13
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"I thought of that.! Vanora said. "fut none of them seem to
have the tachnological s3kill needed to run & space ship. That's what
they use their prisoners for - but I'1ll come to that,

"I'he next shlp to crash was the Venture. She didn't hit gquite
20 hard. Maire and I had stayed close to the pirates, watching -~ at
the time, they didn't know we were there -~ and knew something was
happening; so we went back to the clearing where we crashed. We Knew
we wouldn't have long, and managed to get Sheval, Haster and An'rwn
out and under cover before we heard the pirates coming. They pulled
out another twenty-elght, again mostly injured,

"The third ship down wasg the Star. With his broken arm, Haster
couldn't help, but he stood guard whille the other four of us got five
of her crew out, including Commander Varden, the first officer. The
pirates got fFifty six that time.

"The Beagle was next. Only her senlor cofficers were Human - the
rest «f the crew was Andorian, Tellarites and Catullan. We only
managed to regcus three that time, though; and we were nearly caught
oursslves. Wea just couldn't get the Beagle's crew to realise the
dangeor. The pirates carried off elghty seven prisoners, That was
when, for the first time, they had any reason to think that some of
us had escaped - Tellarites seem totally unable to keep thelr mouths
shut, even whaen it would be in their best interests.

"after that there were pome Federatlion scgouts. But the pirates
were arriving quicker by then; the lagt five ships down, we've only
risked sending one person to try to rescue those of the c¢rew who
managed to get out of the ships themselves.

"Mixed in with the Federation shilpg have been several others;
there was Captaln Kang's, and we rescued all three survivors; and
there have besn several girangera." 8She nodded in theilr direction.
*Two races we just dldn't know at all, We haven't been able to
communicate properly wlth them. As far as I can make out they're
from the other spliral arm."

Kirk glanced at Spock when he heard that, wondering how the
Vulcean would resct.

In fact, his resction was minimal; a glanted eyebrow lifted, but
the Vulcan said nothing.

Vanora want on. "None of us has proper medical training, and as
you sea some of us were injured. Y have some knowledge of Mahlian
healing technigues, but these are not wholly effective for other
races - the best I cvould do was ease the pain of the injured.®

Kirk nodded. "McCoy's one of the hest."

"“"Yas. I ¢an feel his caring.?

Kirk watched as one of the group 1lit & smell fire, then changed
the subject plightly. "You keep talking eabout Tortuga and
Tortugans. May I ask why?"

"1t was Maire who used the name firet. He maid that the people
who pulied us down were plrates and that Tortugas was a pirate
gtronghold. ¥

lrk had never hsard of the place, but decided to take 1t on
trust . "You giald gomething about them wanting technology?¥
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MYew. We've watched them ag ¢losely as we dare, Captaln, and as
far as we can see they have no tsehnology of thelr own except the
tractor beam and some rather nasty hand weapons, But they do seem to
know thalt technology exldsis, and they want 1t. The prisonersg have to
work; and from what we've seen, the skllled men are closely kept.
Only the relativeaely unskilled prischers have any freedom, and that,

not mueh. The injured..,." She gave a hopeless gesture. At leagt
there are one or itwo medical staff among the priscners. But a lot of
the more severely injured died. A mguad of sscurity men - closely
guarded come out in the mornings to bury whoever has died during

the night. "
"What do the skilled men work at?"

"Wa don't know. They work indoors; we never see them. But T
suspect they may be trying to bulld some sort of ship. The security
guards are taken out to the clearing every second or third day and
salvege what they can from the wrecks - that's why you didn't see as
much wreckage as you might have expected. Every now and then they
uncover another body and bury 1it," she added softly; then, atrter a
moment, she carried on briskiy. "Phey take the salvaged bits back to
the camp.™

Kirk grunted. "What about the tractor beam?”

"Az far as we Know, 11 operates from a bullding close to the
clearing where the ships have all crashed. We haven't been able to
get into 1t,"

"But the - er - Tortugans can?"

"Yag, We haven't been able to get close encugh to see how they
manage. Or rather, we dare not go close enough."

Kirk glanced at Spock to see his reaction, and noticed instantly
that the Vulcan was lcooking cold.

"Lat's go over to the flre," he suggested. A8 they Joined the
group gathered round the almost imaginary hest of the small fire,

Kirk noticed that three of the group -~ Kang, a Human and ona of the
unknown aliens - remained a little way away, watchful. "Guards?" he
asked.

"of course,' Vanora replled. *The Tortugans seem to stay
Indoors at night, but we daren't assume that they wilil. We stand

guard in threes for an hour at a time during the night."

"Sensilible,” Kirk agreed. He held his hands cut to the fire for
a moment. "You say that there's only the one group of Tortugans?"

"As far as we khow," she agreed.

"If there iz only one group of them, the answer seems falrly
obvious,” Spock commented.

"That the plrates themselves are not native to the planet?”

Vanora sald. "We did think of that. But someaone bullt the power
house, and these belngs lack the technology. The buildings in their
camp are similap, of vaprying sizes - indeed one of them 1g gulte

large - but look as 1if they had copled the design while lacking the
#klll to do Lt properly. Yet, if 1t was not the pirates who bullt
the power housa, who wag 1t9
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HFor we have not found any remains as far as wa've travelled -
not that we have besen able to travel fayp, We have found no other
builldinga, either intsct or in ruilns, Jugt that one. No sign of
artifacts, either, except the crashed ships.”

"It 18 pogsible that the power house was hullt many years ago by
a gpacefaring resce for soms purpcesge, but was sbandoned when that
purpose no longer exipted,?” Spock saild, "Parhaps the pull of the
magnetic fleld is aven Incidental, an acoldent and not the mein
reagon for which which the place was arscted,. It could have been
abandoned when ites buiiders discovered that it was acting an =8
tractor beam,™

"In that cass, wouldn't they have disconnected 1t?" Kirk asked.

dpock nodded. Hlhat would be the logiceal thing to do,"” he
agraad.

Kirk thought for a minutse. "If we apsume that the power house
was bullt by someone else, where do the... er... Tortugans fit in?"
he asked. "Could they be the spurvivors of a crash? Of a ship pulled
down by the beam?"

"I would think not, Captalin,” Spock put in. "Miss Vanora said
the Discovery was pulled down very qulchly; moest of the crew were
killed. That 1t seemsg to have besn the plrates themselves who, 1in
some manher, managed to modlfy the strength of the beam Bo that fewsar
crew were killed with each muncessive crash. If the pirates' ghip
was pulled down, I waould have expected it to c¢rash bheavily, with
conslderable loss of lifse. Yet there are many of them -
comparatively speaking. As 1P the esntire crew of s falrly liarge ship
had escaped with their lives.?

"O.K., let's talk around that e little longer,'" Klirk sald.
YLet's suppoge that they &7¢ the survivors of & crash. Or... could
they be the gurvivors of an unsuccessful attempt to colonilse the
prlanet? Could we supposm that they found the power house; activated
the mechanism lnside it in the hope that 1t was an emergency beacon;
and digeovered that 1t pulled other shipsg down.®

"if all they wanted was haelp, why contiasuve pullilng ships down?"
Balllile asked.

"And why keep the orews prigoner?’ Spock addesd.

"Wouldn't there be indigatlons of an attempt 4t colonilisation?®

Vanora ashed. There would surely bs ruinsg ~ wa found none. And
they would have some texshnology of thalr own, wouldn't they??

"a colony of farmers mightn't, " Kirk argued. "They would know
af the existence of technoelegy -~ as you #aid - but how much would

they know of how 1t worksd? The crew of the Enterevrise all know that
the shilp 18 powsred by metter/antimatter anglnes, but half of them
couldn’t begin to tell you how the anglnes work,. No - take a group
of farmers desperate to get homs ageln, diligcovering the tractor
beam. . ."

"Wouldn't it have besn wasler to ask for help?™ Vanora asked.

"They couldn'®t 1f they had no communications facilities," Kirk
polnted out, "Then whaen they digcoversd that the heam made ships
crash ~ that they hsd kKilisd - they sould have besn too aware of what
they had dona to ask for anything.”
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"Ne, Captain,™ Vanora said. ""You haven't segen them. They'rea. ..
vicious. They remind me of a little rodent that lives 1n tThe swamps
on Mehlia. Luekily L1t's restricted to the swampa, for it kills
indiscriminately, and slaughters far more than it needs for food."

Kirk grunted. "Have you any ldea of their soclal pattern?! he
agked.

"Phey seem to operate a gimple pecking order, Vanora repliled.
"That much we can be sure of. There isn't much co-operation between
individuals but a lot of bullying. The guards at the power house are
gulte low in the gcale - otherwise they wouldn’t be there. Such a
monotonous task is not for the strong among them. it shows every
time the Tortugan manning the power house 1ls changed. The guards
poglitively cringe. The half dozen who operate the place are
definitely among the strong oneg - strong enough that they only have
to show thelr teeth and the guards defer to them. On the other hand,
those six are very obviously competing with each other."

"Could these creatures be mentally unbalanced?" MoCoy asked as
he Jjoined them.

"Perhaps, Doctor," Spock sald. "But there are races where
strength 18 still the main source of power. We have an example of
that smongst ug." He 1indicated the Kilngons. Far from being

lhgulted, the twa Klingons in the group around the flire grinned their
appreclation of the comment.

"How are the injured?" Kirk asked.

"Tt've done everything for them that I can, down here,'" McCoy
answered. "One at least won't survive much longer, though, unlesg [
can get him up to the BEnterprise fairly fast, It doesn't help that
they're having to be moved every day,”" he added, not guite
accuslngly.

"We have no choilce, Doctor," Vanora said. "If we stay too long
in one place, the Tortugans will find us, now that they suspect some
have escaped from the wrecks. 1T for one do not wish to be captured.*

"Then the sooner we degactlvate the tractor beam the better,”
Kirk said decigively. "Vanora, will you take usg to ittt

"Yems, of course," she answered,.

Kirk looked round the group, assessing the eagerneszg of the
faces that he could see only dimly in the flickering flames of the

small fire. "Bones, you'd better stay here - thae injured need you.'"
Hig 1llps pursed. "How many guardse at the power housgse?"
e . aAnd the operator ilnglide. M

"Right. Spock; Mr., Balllilie; Lt., Kralik, Lt. Helmudsdotter,'
"{'m coming too, Kirk."

Kirk loovked at Kang, realising that more time than he had
thought must have passed if the Klingon had been relileved. He
thought he could guess why Kang was go anxious to be included, and he
gaw noc reason why the Klingon should not get a chance to salvage his
pride.

YVery well. "™



4l

1t was decided that 1t would be bettsr to walt until dawn beforeae
making their ralid on the power house. They settled to sleep azg best
they could, curled up against the chili.

it was in a dim half light that the group prepared to leave.
"Good luck," McCoy said quietly. Kirk nodded.

The small party disappesared into the shadows of the forest.

1t was not guite full light when they came in sight of the
building.

Vanora had led them to the back of it; beyond 1t, through the
trees, they could just see the shuttlecraft, stilill standing
apprarently as they had left it.

The building was constructed of rough stone, fairly long and the
wallg sloped Inward until they met. Kirk pauged for a moment to
admire the s8kill and workmanshilip that had gone into 1it. Vanora was
correct; thig was no crudely constructed building, 1t wags the work of
someons who knew what he was doing.

There were no windows.

Now that they had reached the power house, Klirk moved Into the
lead, and Vanora stepped back, willing to let him take over as she
would have been wlilling to stand down at any time for any of the
nfficers gsenior to her, had they been ready to take command.

They slipped round the side of the building, and halted where
they could see the two aliens who guarded 1t.

Kirk saw instantly what Vanora meant when sghe desgorlibed them asm
reminding her of a rodent. They were blpeds, but their faces were
muzzle-iike; they gave the ilmpression of bheing a cross between a rat
and a fox, and Kirk decilided that 1f he were asked to give a briepf
Gewcription of them, he would have to say that they struck him as
having a sly cunning; that he would be chary of trusting them as far
as he could see them, Let zslone out of sight.

Jompared to the impression that the Tortugsns gave, the Klingons
were pogitively reliable.

"Those belings do not look to be of anthropoild origin,' Spock
murmured, g0 softly thet Kirk could barvely hear him.

"Not all intelllgent specles are," he polnted out,

"N, But most blped species that we have encountered are
anthropoid -~ according to the blology of thelr home planets.™

Firk nodded, taking the polnt. Parsgllel evolutlon did seem to
b Lhe norm on most M-class planets, and although the bulld and
capabilitlies of the varlous ‘apesg’® from each planet varlied, they were

all, according to the language of thosge planets, anthropoild.
"that's the cage for our sprilral arm,’ Vanora put in. "We can't
say lhe pame for the other one. At least one of the allien rsaces in

our group is vulpine - and the member of thal race who 1s with us is
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most helpful."
"He doesn't Know the Tortugans?" Kirk asked,

"aAs far as we cvan tell, noa. But we haven't been able to
communicate freely. We heve a translator, but even 1t has not been
able to make much sense out of his language."

“pifferent apliral arm, different bases for compunication?” Kirk
suggestad,.

"Poegsibly," she agreed.

They crouched for some time, watching the two guards. In thig
glituation, guarding a building in the middie of nowhere on an
apparently uninhabited planet, two Humansg would have apoken,
exchangeaed the odd comment; twoe Vulecans would probably have taken 1t
in turns to relax and meditate, These two steood carelessly, slightly
crouched, one at each side of the doorway - there were no windows at
the front elther - poilintedly lgnoring esach other.

There was a shining panel on the upper part of the front wall.
"Vanora -~ you gay thera'll be one of them insidee®
"Yes - one of the gtronger ohes."

"Spock, how long do you think you'll need to disconnect the
tractor beam so that 1t can't be operated?"

"Tt i difficult to may, Captain, without having seen the unit.
Perhaps minutes: perhaps hours."”

"all right.?" Kirk raigsed his phaser. "Phagers on stun. Let'y
knoek these two out."™

Five phaser beams lanced towards the two aliens, stevruck them. ..
..and nothing happened for fully five peconds.

1t appeared to take the two Tortugans that long to reanllse that
something was happening. Then, without even looking towards each
other, @ach of them acting as if completely independently, they
hefted thelr side arms and rushed towards the hiding group.

Kirk made up hisg mind instantly. "Kang! Balllie! With met
Everyone elge, hidel"

He sprang from hiding and ran, slanting off at an angle.
Baillle followed him instantly, and Kang, to give him his due, only
heglitated for the barest of moments before he, too, followed.

One of the guards shouted. As Vanora had sald, the translator
failed to make senspe of it. The being for whom 1t was intended
understood it too well, however; the hiding group watched ag the doop
of the bullding opened, and a third alien appeared 1n the doocrway.

This one seemed to be plightly larger than the two guards, but
that could have been a false impression, created by hig more upright
stance,

He watched the twe guards pursulng the three fugitives, and his
lips twilsted slightly, giving him an esven more ugly expression. It
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gave the impression that he did not trust the twoe guards to capture
the three men, and indeed lte next move proved that, for it too begsan
to run after them.

"Not very c¢lever," Spock commented as he watched Kirk disappear
among the trees. "Unless there ls yet another of those beings in the
building?"

"There never has been morae than one," Vanora replied,.

"Come, then." Spock led the way into the bullding. Kralik and
Helmudadotter paused at the doorway, watchlng for the aliens'’
retyrn. inslde there was a diffuse light -~ 1t was impossible to see
where it came from. Vanora followed Bpock to the bench of controls.
The Vulecan glanced at the panel in the ceiling with some interest,
wondering how 1t worked. Then he turned his attention to the
controls,

They weare almost chilildishly simple. It took him only a moment
t¢e throw a gwlitch, and then remove a single component.

"rhat will disable 1t for good," he asald softly. He turnead to
the door, then turned back and removed a second component. He caught
Vanora's eye. #insurance, " he said. He could see a touch of
incomprehension in her eyes at this, purely Human, action. A
logical, pure-~blocoded Vulcan - or Mahlian - would never have taken
that gecond part.

Kralik and Helmudsdotter fell in behind them as they left the
powelr house,. They ducked back among the trees and Spock flicked open
his communicator.

"Spock to Enterprise.™

"Enterprise. Sulu here."

"1s the ship all right?o"

"Yag. We had a rough few seconds, but things are all right
now. "

"Lbr, McCoy 18 approximately a mile from here with a small group
of our missing personnel, two Klingons and some sliens. Some of them
are injured, and require to be beamed up immediately."

"Wa'll see to it, Mr. Spock. What about you and the Captailn?
and Mr. Bailillilde and his crew?®

"We're staylng down here for thae moment, There are more
survivors, but they are prisoners. We need to investigate further."
"aye, gipe.?

"Let me Know when Dr. MceCoy'sms party has beamed up."

There was a short glilence, then,

"They've beamed up, aip,"”

"We could be Iin a hazardous situation at any time. Do not try

to contact us, ™ Dontt call us, wa'll call you. The <ld Terran
comment entered his mingd with dvrresistable irrelevance.
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"Yery well, Mr. Spock."
"Spock out.™

Spock replacved his communicator. He glanced at the others,
"Stay hera. I wiil be bsck in a few moments."”

He turned and walked away. After a few seconds he glanced
round, He could still see the others; he went on a little further.
This time he could not see them. He moved to one side and carefully
buried one of tha two components from the tractor beam mechanlism,

carefully noting landmarks. He might, after all, want to retrieve
it. Then he moved on and buried the cother. That done, he carefully
retraced hls footstaps. Now only he knew where the two pleces of the

maechanism were hildden.

It wag not that he did not trust the others; but what they did
not know could not be tortured out of them.

As he rejoined them, the third Tortugan reappeared, stridling
back towarde the power house. It went into the building. A moment
later they heard a howl of rage. The plrate came out, screaming
almeost hysterically. It tried to sliam the door, but as s display of
temper lt was far from satilisfactory, for the door geemed to have a
apring which controlled its action, and 1t closed pralatively slowly.

The creature strode off, still gibbering to 1ltself.

"Come," Spock breathed. He led his party after the alien.

Kirk, followed by Kang and Bsaillle, raced through the trees,
leading the aliens away from the power house. Kirk wanted to gilve
Spock as much time as possible to sabotage the tractor beam; however,
luck friled them, for they ran stralght into a group of the pirates,
and were prompitly ceught,

The Tortugans who were chasing them caught up with them almost
at once, and the aliens chattered together briefly; a few words
seemaed to be enough to explain to the newcomers what had happened.

Spock hadn't haed encugh time! Kirk struggled wildly, trying to
delay the aliens; the other two were guick to copy him. They all
recalved several deep cuteg trom the claw-like nails of their captors
bef'ore they were finally immobillised.

wne of the creatures bent and began to lick at the blood running
from the gashes on Kirk's arm. The others neither helped Lt nor
tried to hinder it. Kirk sensed that the creature was becoming
exclted by the taste of the blood, and tried, uselessly, to pull
away . Then the beapst bit him.

He felt the teeth sinking deep, tearing at hig arm, and gritted
his own teeth against making any sound, guessing that 1f he did the
alien would become even more blood-crazed.

SBurprigsingly, one of the cthers intervened at that point,
Jabbering fiercely. The creature that had bitten RKirk trled to
speak, prasumably to defend ltself, and was giliven no opportunity to
do sgo. The allen that had stopped 1t lashed ocut; parallel cuts
appeared on the culprit's face,. It shrank back, no longer attempting
to gspeak, and Kirk realised that they had just been given a
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demonstration of the ‘*pecking order' Vanors had mentloned.

Kirk opened his mouth to speak, to try to make contact, but Jjust
in time saw Kang's face. The Klingon was mouthing at him, sllently
and seemingly desperately trying to tell him something. He thought
for a moment heforae reslising what Kang meant,

Quiet?r If they treat bheir own kind like that Ffor speacking,
what will they do to us? He aimply objects to his inferior damaging
U,

Kirk nodded, and Kang relaxed.

The three prisconers ware dragged roughly through the trees as
the alien who had interrupted strode back In the direction they had
come Ffrom. Kirk saw 1t go, and eould only hope that Spock had had
encugh time to disablea the tractor beam. He wondered 1if they would
be subject to illtreatment agsin now that the apparent senior had
gone, but the aliens who were left sesemed to bae compleiteliy cowed.
They were merely taken to the aliens’ camp, ungently but not
particularly cruelly.

The Tortugasns® oamp wasg very closse to a spteap, rocky hillside.
Vanora's comments on it were coprect; although made of wood, the
buildings 811 bore m certain similarity of deslgn to the stone-buillt
power house, and sevaral of them, particularly the largest, were
well-bullt; but the others were crude constructions, looking off
balance and ag 1f it would not take much to knock them down.

They were taken through an area where men - and women - of
various races were working, pulling apart pleces of twigted
wreckage. Even as they pessed the workers, a clogely-guarded party
of eight prisoners, of three different rsaces - Human, Andorian and
one of the unknown races - brought in a large plece of metal, which
they dumped close to the workers. Then they were hustled away again,
theilr captors ignoring their very obviocus exhaustion.

Kirk stared after them, unable to keep hies disgust at the
Tortugans' callous treatment of thelr prisoners from hils face;
Baillie's expregsion matched his Captain's, and even Kang looked as
if he, too, thought that the pirates were being unnecessarily brutal.

The pirates hustlied the three of them on, through the camp and
towards the hillside.

There, they saw a cave mouth. They were pushed Ilnto it,

1t was a large cavea, lit by a diffuged light; they could not oee
where [t came from. Several pirates were gathered near the entrance,
probably guarding it, for there were prisoners working here, too,
building what looked like parts for a space ship. Humang; Andorians:
Tellarites; a Catullan; two Klingons; three or four of the various
allen races that they had already seen - and pBeveral who were
obviously of the same race as the pirates themselves. Kirk looked
curiously at them, noting that these Tortugan-race prisoners had a
gubtly different gensral appearance from the pirates. Where the
plirates had & look ©of cunning, these priscners of the same race
looked momehow gentler, though how a ratty, foxy face could look
gentle was beyond Kirk's comprehenslon; and they had obviously bean
at the recelving end of a great deal of cruelty, for all of them were
badly marked by the parallel gashesr left by the claws of their
captors.
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Now why had the Tortugansg imprisoned some of their own people?
Speculation seemed pointlass,.

Near the back of the cave, resting on a 'c¢ouch' of branches and
watching the workers, was a Tortugan who looked altogether mesner,
more vieclous, than all of the others, The guards pushed the three
newcomers forward, while, it seemed, trying to keep as far from this
kKing rat as possible.

Strange; to almost any race, 1t was usually gulte difficult to
tell individuals of other races apart. These Tortugans looked
faclally idantical to Kirk - only their stance, which betrayed their
social posiltion, made 1t possible to differentiate. But this one did
gtand out; Kirk knew that he would recognise 1t again anywhere.

The king pirate - for so it had to be -~ glared at them, hissing.

"What position you?"

The voilece had the unsccented quallty that marked 1t as that
produced by a translator, and Kirk'se eyebrows lifted as he realilsed
that the pirates had a translator that was better than any possessed
by the Federation, for the Federation transiator had been completely
unable to make sense ocut of the alien language.

Kirk hesitated only a fraction of a second, watching the

ceraature's eyas. It was no use trying to dissemble; he would only
gsuftfer for it, and pointlessly.

"I am & ship's Captain," he said quietly.

"Ikilles have?"

He shook his head. "Ag Captain, T must have some Knowledge of
8ll & ship’s functions. I have no particular skills.™

The creature grunted and looked at Balilile.
"1{ Ou?"
"Security guard. No skills."™

"Rrrrgh. And you®" It glared at Kang, who glanced first at
Kirk, then at Baillie, back at the c¢reature, and kept his mouth shut.

"Tellt"™ The beast bared its claws, the threat clear.

"Tell him, Kang," Kirk advised. "It'g pomething you Klingons
still have to learn -~ there's a time when defilance is foolish.
These... beings... are clearly much stronger than we are." He glared
at Kang, trying to send a message wilth hils eyes. Flatter them! Bide
our time! Remember we have friends on the outgside!?

Reluctantly, Kang mumbled, "I alsc am a Captain.®

The plirate relaxed ite cleaws, but with every appearance of
raluctance, They were left in no doubt that it would thoroughly
enjoy ripping thelr flesh open.

It looked past them at its oringilng fellows and snarled - the
translator elther failed to cope with the comment or it had been
switched off - and they grabbed the three men and pulled them wut of
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the cave agsain, They weaere hauled over to the workers who were
pulling apsrt the wreckage their fellow prisoners had pulled in.
There was Jllittle doubt that they were belng set to work with the
unskillied prisoners. Kirk could aimost admire the single-mindedness
of the Tortugans; they certainly 4did not believe in wasting time.

"See?™ Kirk muttered to Kang. "If you'd stayed obstinate, you'd

have been in there yet, belng cut to pieces by those c¢claws. As 1t
L, wvou're ocut here wilithout any more injuries. And you didnt't tell
thewm anything of importance, either. Just your rank -~ and that's one

of the three things sny prisoner is expected to reveal."

"i{ know, but I don't like it," Kang muttered. "Kiingons never
tike having to surrender it1o anyone, Howaver, I admit your advice was
g’OOd . It

That's quite a compliment, Kirk thought even as he said, "No
patter than yours to me a while ago."

Theay began to work; but the short planetary day was drawing to a
cloge, Dusk fall guickly, and when it was too dark for them to see
properly, the Tortugaens herded them to one of the larger bulldings,.

it wasa one of the more s8olid structures. Inside, 1t proved to
be lined with metal, and the three new prisoners locked at each
other, startled, 1in the same diffuse light that they had encountered
in tha cave,

Thisg racve was indeed a paradox, a mixture of the surprisingly
gophigticated and the extremely crude.

Two of the pirates carried in a tub of an unpleasant-smelling
mash, dumped it In the middle of the floor, and backed out. The door
slammed shut.

The prisoners gathered round the tub. Only extreme hunger could
paergsuade anyone (o eailt that mess, Kirk thought.

The food - if 1t could be called food ~ was gquickly eaten, and
then the prisoners surrounded the newcomers.

By this time, the Federation personnel had regilisztered Kirk's
rank. "Taptain?' The sgpeaker was a security lileutenant commander,
Mwhat shipe"

“"lames T. Kirk, J.8.8. Enterprise," Kirk replied.
There was a confusged babble of sound for a moment, then the
gelf-appointed spokesman went on. "Enterpriune? Startfleet gend out a

gtar crulser after us?"

"o course. We couldn'’t leave the orews of nine ships
unaccounted for.?

His vary cheerfulness geemed to glve them hope, "You havsn'tt
crashed. .. have you??”

YNO, We were able to malntaln thrugt agasinst the tractor beam,
thougt:. only Just. We - " ne indiceted Baillie - M"vame down by
aghutt lecralft along with my sclence officer. By now - with tuck - he

has <divabled the tractor beam and its working on some way to free us
all. Infortunately, phasgers don't woerk on these creatures."
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MHe was thnterrupted by an uproar outgide. The door was flung
open and two of the pilrates entered, glaring around them. They were
followed by king rat.

"prigoner new," he snarled. "Speak you."

Kirk stepped forward. "Yag®

"Speak you. Who withe"

Kirk looked at him, and indicated Kang and Baillle.
"Whea other?" The claws twiteched threateningly.

"My sclence offilcer."

"Where he?"

"1 don't know. We were geen and caught. He waan't."

The pirate lashed out furiously, moving too quickly for Kirk to
dodge, 2lthough he had been evpecting a blow. Blood ran from the
gashes on his chesgt, soaking into his ripped shirt.

Kirk straightened, glaring at the king rat, although he said
nothing. He was not minded to give ground any further, even although
he realised the stupidity of open reslstance; the pirate dared not
lope face with the others - it would claw him to death 1f it thought
he was challenging - or even appearing to challenge - its position,
and while he was willing enocugh to flght to prove his peoint, should
it be necessary, bare hands against razor-sharp claws were far from
even odds.

The king rat snarlied, then turned abruptly and sirode out,
followed by the others. The door c¢licked shut again.

One of the Federation prisoners pushed forwards. "I'm a
doctor," he sald. "Duffus, from the Beagle.," He examined the gashes
acrogs Firk's chest, and grunted.

"Besgt to let them bieed,"™ he said. "We've discovere:d that these
gaghes often become infected, especieally 1If we stop the blesding
rlght away."

Kirk nodded, then looked round the group. "Can you tvillL me in
on the msituation here??

"All we know 1s that the prisoners are split into two groups
the ones who work outside the cave, bringing 1n the wreckage {rom our
ships or sorting it into bits, and the ones who work inside the
cave, Heaven only knows what they do, but all the engineers are in
there. "

"wigures," Kilirk sald. "They looked ag If they were bullding
its of a ship - using the parts canniballsed from the wreckage.®" He
rubbed Lhe back of hls neck. "Jome of the prisoners in there look as
1f they're the same race ss the pirates.”" He looked round the blank
faces and realised that nohaody else had realised that. "But they
don't look as vicicocus," he sadded.

The prisoners were all very tired: desplte the excltemenl of
diliscovering that rescue could be near, they soon gettled down to
gleap.



49
Kirk lay down with them, but he was unable to sleep; the gashes
on his chest, where the blocd had finally clotted, were beginning to
ache almost Iintolerably.
And then he (elt a not familiar, but known sensation of
faintness, and realised that Spock had returned to the Enterprise,
and had turned the ship'’'s phasers on the pirates’' encampment,

He regained congclousness on the Enterprise.

As he blinked his eyes open he realised that McCoy was standing
ovaer him, with Spock on the other side of the bed.

"How do you feel, Jim?'" McCoy asked.
"Not too bad. A little stife."

"What about those gasheg?"

Kirk considered, "Aohing a l1ittle, but nothing out of the
way., " He pushed himself more upright. "Report, Spock."
"The tractor baam was easily disconnected,”™ Spock replied. WA

"soon as that wasg done, I contacted the ship and had Dr. MceCoy and the
rest of the escaped persconnel beamed abosard.

"The easiest way to retrieve you and the rest of the prisoners,
as well as capturing the pirates, was to gtun everyone in the pirate
camp. Howevar, as we gaw, ordinary phasers are ineffective against
these belngs. Miss Vanora, Lieytenants Krallk and Helmudsdotter and
I remained on the planet untll we captured one of the pirates - "

"Ware any of you hurt?" Kirk interrupted.

"No ., They may be lmmune to standard rhasers, but they are as
sugceptible to a neck pinch a8 any other race."

"Of course," Kirk smiled.

"Wae were able to establish what the difference wasz in his
nervous system that gave the Tortugans immunity against the phaser,
and adapted the ship's phasgers sasccordingly. Then we stunned everyone
in the pirates' camp."

"Jome of the prisoners are the same race asg the pirates,'" Kirk
sald.

"Wa guspeacted that," Spock replied. "However, we did not dare
take any chances. All members of the Tortugan race are in the brig,

but we Kept the ones we thought might be prisoners apart from the
others. "

"I'11l know them, " Kirk saild confidently.
"Are you sure, Jim?" McecCoy asked. "They all look alike to me."

"Cartain, Bones. But then, I only really need to ldentlify one,
don't I?7 He'll be able to identify the others."

"Ag long as you pick the right one," Mcloy worriled.

"Boneaes, 1f when it comes to it ['m Iin any real doubt, all we
need to do 1ls ask the other men who were imprisoned in the cave."
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"That's true."™ Mcloy looked round the othexr bheds in the room.
"You're the first to come roun<d, though."

"A few minutes more won't make that much difference,'" Kirk
replied.

He forced himself to his feet, awaying slightly, feeliling just a
little nauseated ag a slde effect of the unusual stun. Forcing
himeelf to 1lgnore the asickness, he grinned at Spock.

"Come along, Mr. Spock. We have some prisoners to free."

Even though they were unconasgilious, the members of the Tortugan
race who had been prisoneryg were quite eagily distingulshed. They
had indeed all been correctly identified as different from the main
run of the plrates. All were more seriously hurt than any of the
actual pirates, even those ot the pirates who had been disciplined by
stronger onesg, and all that strangely gentler look to them. The
actual pilrates, aven in unconsclousness, $till had a more rat-like
appearance.

Kirk ordered his men to move the 'gentle' Tortugans to proper
guarters, but left a guard with them, with orders to report in
immediately any of them showed signs of regaining consclousness.

Although he was the first to regain conscilousness, Kirk did not
remaln the only one to do so for long. He agsigned Chekov to lilisting
the names of the Federation surviveors for transmission to Starfleet;
asglgned 8pock to trying to sdapt a trenslator to cope with the alien
languages; then, giving in to his increaging nausea, he returned to
hig guarters with orders that he bhe contacted immediately one of the
tgood? Tortugans regained consciousness.

He lay on his bed feeling lncreagsingly mizerable. The
after-effects of a phaser gstun were never pleasant, but this time -
rrobably because of the altered frequencies - they were far more
unpleasant than usual.

He Jjumped when the intercom bleeped tor attention., wat up, and
fumbled the connection opeéen.

"Kirk here,"
"Gomegz., sir. One of the aliens has regeined conasciousnesgs."
"On o my way."

He rfumbled the connection closed again, and stood, swaying
alightly. Then he headed for Lhe door.

By the time he reasched the room where the Tgood'! Tortugans ware
sleeping off the effectyg of the stun, several more of them had
regalined consciousness. As Kirk entered the room, he gaw that they
were all looking slightly disorlentated, and wondered agailn at how
different these beings looked from thelr pirate fellows.

He opened his mouth to speak, then hesltated, suddeniy
remembering that Federation translators didn't work with these

heings.

One of them looked up, saw nhim, and came oveyr to hilm.
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"Leadar you?®

Ah. They all had thelr version of a translator, then. That
could be useful.

Hyen, Captaln James Kirk. You are on bgard the U.3.8,.
Enterprise, a Btar crulser of the United Federation of Planets. We
have some reason to belilieve that we come from a different spiral arm
of the galaxy from the one that you do." He wondered if the
translator would cope with the complexitlies of that, but it seemed
that 1t could.

"Gratitude., Helped you us,”
"Wwhy were you prisoners too%?"

He had to listen very hard to follow the explanation, for the
translator, although it could cope, did so presumably following the
rules of grammar of the alien race,

The aliens’ home planet was called H'law’'rd. Thousands of years
previously, their race had been honters, feared by most species on
their home planet. Finally, however, their diet had altered to
include vegetable matter, and with the omniverous diet had come a
morg civilised way of life.

However, very occasionally, individuals were born with the old,
uncontrolled hunger for blood,

It was difficult to know what to do with those individuals. To
keep them in prison for life seemed unnecessarily brutal, yet how
else to protect everyone else from them?

For lack of any other answer, they had imprisoned these people,.
but once manned spaceflight had passed the experimental stage, what
better way of getting rid of them in such a way that they would
bother nobody than take them to an uninhabited planet and leave them
there, to live freely in the way that suvited them.

They had been doing this for many years. They had built the
power house on the planei to provide a source of light and heat as
well as the houses of the original camp., What they did not know was
that one of the c¢criminals had mansged to adapt the power source,
producing a magnetic field that was guaranteed to pull down any ship
entering orbit.

Their ship was tskingd a batch of criminals to the planet when
they were caught in the maegnetic field and pulled down. The crew
stood no chance at all againzt the brutality of the criminals, who
were led by one of the most vicious of these throwbacks.

But their ship was designed to land on the planet. The
criminalas were resally surprized when later ships crashed.

"Our shlips sre mostly desiligned not to land," Kirk put in.

With Iuck, they expected this to be the last group of throwbacka
to be brought here, for they had discovered the reason for the
problem; a genetic fault which could now be predicted through medical
examination of the adolts, and if such a8 prediction was made, the
couple would be pdvised either to look elsewhere for their mates or
choose not to have children. Since nobody wanted to breed a
throvhack, everyone affected accepted this restriction., Unfoertunately,



however, the knowledge that misused the power house would not go
away; and how could they disable it and leave these unforiunates
here, on a planet where it became very cold at night?

"We might be able to find another planet," Kirk sald slowly.
"But tell me - are thera females among them?"

"Not, Females affected not, Males only."
"What is your ilfe span?” Kirk asked.
HRaveoelutions fifty."

Around fifty years... and they were all adult. Say another
thirty years at most. "Then there's no problem. We gshouldn't have
any trouble finding somewhere for them. Then we'll get you home,"

Saying he was going back to his cabiln to change, Kirk left the
H'lsw'rdlian with S8pock, letting the patient Vulcan discover, through
the sBlow, laboured translations, where 1ts home planet was; Spock was
perfaectly capable of dolng that while 8tlll working on ilmproving a
translator. His general feeling cof malaise had not lessened; if
anything, he felt aven worwse than he had earliier, when he first
regained conscicusness,

He had coriginally blamed the after—-effects of the heavy stun,
but nobody else seemed to have been affected; man after man had
regalned consciousness, and all of them seemed to be perfectly fit.
He was the only one feeling slck; and the Tortugan-inflicted injurles
were feeling hot and uncomfortable, particularly the onesg on his arm.

Kirk returned to his gquarters, intending to have a shower before
he changed. Be felt hot and sticky, and felt that a shower might
Just ool him down.

It didn't.

Wearing only a robe, he gat at hig desk, toying absently with
the reports that sgsat on it, unable 1o summon up the energy to do
anything positive with them. Finally, he gave up. He dropped the
robe on the floor beside tis bed, and crawled into 1t.

Probbably &ll he needed was a good gleap.

A yulcek echeck of ithe H'law'rdlan translator wag all that Spock
neaded to adapt a Federation one to follow the alien tongue, and,
wlth more fluent language, the probleme of cvommunicating wlth the
H'lsw'rdliang dimlnished to almost nothing.

H'lsw'rd was close to the edge of the other spiral arm, and ripe
for contact, It was & promising start to the proposed Federation
expanslion programme, for the H'lsw'rdians had explored some of the
syatemeg clogest to them and could advise them. And the translator
now alaso worked with the other alien races. They, too, were
explorers, and ilmpressed by the apparent ease with whiech the
Enterprlse crew had overcome the pirates; Spock took the opportunity
to explaln to them all the way in which the Federation worked.

The only real problem wses the Klingons. Certainly there were
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only the five of them; and Kang seemed convinced that they would be
forever dishonoured by the loss of their ship. Spock did not wholly
trust them, for they would suraly be anxious for socmething, anything,
to redeem themselves in the eyes of their superiors. He ordered a
surreptitious guard to be kept on thelr movements, then went to
Kirk's cabin to report to him.

When he recelved no answer to his buzz, he used his override and
went 1in.

Kirk lay in bed, toseling restlessly; thinking that his Captain
was in the throes of a nlghtmare, Spock put & hand on his arm to
waken him, and stilffened as he falt the fever-heat that burned
through the Human. He swung round and punched the intercom.

“"Spock to Sickbay. Pr. McCold, please report immedlately to the
Captalin's cabin. ™

It seemed an age before MceCoy arrived, although his tilime sense
told Spock that it was barely a minute,

"What's wrong?"

"The Captaln 1s running & fever,'" Spock said, And only he knew
the effort it took to make the gtatement quletly and evenly.

MeCoy checked Kirk quilcekly, his expression growing increasingly
worrled, especlially when he saw that the badly mauled arm was
inflamed and swollen.

"How did this happen?" he asgked. "His arm wasn't gwollen like
this when I checked him out earlier."®

"I don't know,'" Spock replied. "The injury must have happened
when he drew the Tortugans away from the power house. FPerhaps Mr.
Baillie c¢an enlighten us." He reached for the Intercom agaln as

McCoy gave the Captaln an antibilotic injection.
"Mr., Balllie, please report to the Captain's cabin.”

*Oon my way,'" came the answer. The Security Chief arrived as
McCoy, having taken possesslion of the intercom, was calling sickbay.

"what happened to the Captain's arm?" Spock asked.
"His arm wag clawed," Balllie replied. "One of the pirataes

Btarted licking his blood, then bit him. Then ancther one chased it
off before it could do any more damage."

MoeCoy grunted. I guppose there could have been an infection on
the claws -~ " he began.
Spock sald slowly, "Perhaps not. Many of the prisoners were

clawed, but nobody else appears to have had an adverse reaction.
Besgides, there didn't peem to be any species native to Tortuga to
give rise to harmful bactaria. I suspect the bite.,"

"You could be right.

I will speak to Thiptg - "

"Who?
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"The Captain of the H'lspw'rdians."

"Oh . "

Before MeCoy could may anything more, an orderly appeared
wheeling a trolley. Spock helped McCoy 1ift Kirk onto it, and
watched ag it dissppeared down the corridor.

"Mr. Baillie, almost everyone taken prisoner by the Tortugans
was clawed. Has anyone else complained about thelr injuries not
healing properliy?"

"Not to me, sir, but I'l1l1 ask round."

Spock went off to spaak to Th'r's, and Baillie, as good as his
word, went off to gapeak to the survivors of the crashed ships. He
quickly lesarned that there had bheen gome fatalities - and every one
was someone who had been bitten. He hurried to tell McCoy.

Meanwhile, Spock had obtalined fyrom Th'r's a sample of saliva,
which he took to McCoy.

Testing guickly sBhowed that there was s substance in the galiva
that was poilsonous to Humans, and Spock promptly set to work
gearching for & neutrallsing agent.

Meanwhile, McCoy wag busily testing Kirk's blood, sesking to
digcover if there was anything in it other than the alien substance
in the saliva to account for his fever - he had a memory of reading
somewhere that a lion's bite could carry an infection.

He found traces of alilen bacteria, but they were far from
getive; 1t seemed that they were too alien to survive in the Human
bicodstream.

So - the poison was the main problem. He wapn't aeven totally
coertain that it was a poisen - an allergic substance seemed to be
Just as likely; pecople tended to think of allergies as not beling
fatal, but they could be.

Meanwhile, Kirk's temperature was stlll risging. McCoy nibbled
his upper lip for a moment, then injected a broad-spectrum
antli-histamine.

Then Spock returned from the lab, carrying a small phial.

"'l should be effective, Doctor,™ he mald gquietly.

"Tested?"

"On a laboratory animal,'" Spock replied. "It worked perfactly.
I eannot of course be certalin that 1t will be ag effective on a
Human. "

"All right.®™ Although he would neveyr admit it openly, MceCoy
trusted Spock's Judgement. He took the phial, and injected Kirk.

Nothing happened for what seemed a very long time. At last,
Spock indlcated the diagnostic panel,

"Hig temperature is dropping, boctor."™
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They found a planet in asnother solar system that was suitable
for the Tortugans. The Enterprise crew fabricated encugh buildings
for them, they were beamed down and left; then the ship hesaded for
H'lisw'rd.

They were half way there when the message from Starfleet, in
response to thelr report on the Tortugans sltuation, caught up with
them.

"Wa've to wear our diplomatic hats," Kirk complained from the
bed (in his cabin) where McCoy was insisting that he still smpend part
of each day. "rFrankly, 1I'd rather be back on Tortugat"

Spock and McCoy looked at each other.

If Kirk wag complalning, he was all right again. It was a
comforting thought.




STRANGERS AT THE GATE <%

When the transporter malfunctioned - somewhat noisily, and with
a flash that materialised even on the surface ©of the planet -
everyone had returned to the Bhlip except Kirk and Spock.

"Landing party!" It was Scott's voice, slightly panicked.
"Kirk here."

"Are you and Mr. Spock all right, Captain?"

"Yes, Scotty. Did the last group get back safely?"

"Aye, but it was a close thing. 1 was pcared you'd been caught
in the backliash."

"No, we hadn't got inte position. How long before it's
repaired?®

"T dont't know yet, spir. I havena' had a chance to check the
damage. Will I send down a shuttlecraft for you?"

Kirk thought about it for a moment. It was an uninhabited
planet; their survey had shown no dangerous animalg. 1f they stayed
put, 1t would glve Spock a few hours' break,

Granted, the Vulcan ate work and always refused shore leave; but
Kirk often felt guliliy about it,. Thias would give Spock a shaort
'leave'!, and he wouldn't even be able tTo continue gathering data
about the planet, for all the tricorders had already gone back to the
ship.

"No, I don't think so, Scotty. We'll go and have a logk at
those caves we gpotted just before beam-up. We'il stand by for your
signal every half hour until you're ready for us.,"

"Ave, sir "

Kirk returned his communicator to his belt with a satlsfaction
that he had some difficulty in hiding.

Spock looked at him gquizzically. "You could have asked Mr.
SBeott to send down a shuttlecraft. Why are you g0 pleased about
staying heret?

Kirk grinned wryly. He should have known that he could not hide
his feelings from hisg friend.

He thought gquilckly, but it was not difficult to find an excuse.
"I wag Just thinking - 4t's like playing truant. It's the same sort
of feeling that I used to get whaen I was a8 kid raiding the
nelighbours' apple trees. Sort of... guilty, but not gullty enough to
satop. And..,. well, we didn't have time to check those caves.
Without iight we won't be able to go deeply into them but it will
give us the chance to sese something of them."

"Without tricorders we won't find out much either," Spock
peinted out,
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"IT¢?1l be like & good old-fashioned exploreation - the =ind tiere
usaed to be before tricordars were invented,” Kirk insisted.

Spock shrugged mentally, and followed the Human.

The first thing they discovered was that the walls of the first
cave they entered were glowing faintly. Spock peered closaly at the
rock, then gtralghtened.

"I gould wish that we had a tricorder, Captaln,'" he said. "This
rock may be radiocacitive. If #so, expopurs could be... dangerous.
Certainly it does not have the appearance of a radicactive rock...
but appesrances can be deceptive."

"The light will let us get deeper 1intoe the cave," Kirk
suggaested. "Supposing it 1§ radiocactive, Spock - how long an
expogure can we riske®

Spock hesitated. "Posglibly an hour or two..." he ssaid slowly.
He, too, was beginning to feel curicus as to what was beyond the
limites of immediate visgibilility.

"Then let's go into the cave for quarter of an hour - op until
we gat to the end of 1t, of course. Then wa can turn and come back.
That'll be within the limlts of our check time."

He set off; not unwillingly, Spock followed.

The cave dascended slowly, curving slightly. It was nearly five
minutes before they saw anything.

They rounded a fairly sharp bend, and came on a cluster of
stalactites and gtalagmlites, almost classically shaped, glowing
translucently 1in the dim light. Kirk paused for a moment in open
admiration.

"They afe beautiful,’" Spock agreed, sensing his friend's
thoughts.

It took some moments to find a way to pass them without doing
any damage; then, once past, they continued through the cave. S8ingle
stalactites and stalagmites dotted the tunnel, and here and there the
walls were streaked wlth sheets of the same limey material, and here
and there were psatches of vegetation that Spock thought were
lichens=, There was nothing as spectacular ag the ¢luster they had
firset seen, but the cave still held a faery beauty.

"Tf we are to return to the surface in time for our rirst check,
we must turn now," Spock sald at last, reluctance colouring his
voice, He thought he could see more gtalactites ahead, in the
distancea.

"l guppose po," Kirk agreed. There was no point in being
foolhardy, and they really shouldn't miss a check.

Theay turned back.

It took only a few minutes for them to realise that they weare
lost. What they had thought was a single passage turned out to be
forked and reforked when they tried to retrace their steps. When
they finelly came in sight of a particularly spectacular stalactite
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that both men Knew they had not seen befors, Kirk atopped,
"Wa're lost,"” he said bluntly, admitting it openiy.
"Iindesed, 1 belleve we are," Spock agreed.

Annoyed with themselves, but not yet worried, they triled to
retrace their steps, but 1t was hopeless. The passapes seemed to be
multiplying.

"This iz impossible!"™ Kirk sald safter five or gsix minutes. He
locked vound. It wag impossible to say which was the passage they
had Just come down; Just behind them, two passages led off.

The time for theilr check came and went. Kirk's faint hope that
the Enterprise might somehow pileck up the communicator signal through
the rock were unrealised. They could do nothing but blunder on,
hoping that soconer or later they would emerge inte cpen air agaln.

When they did finally lesve the tunnels, it was to emerge into a
great open apace; a huge rock hall, The roof rose gharply to a point
where they could not see ity the walls diverged so rapldly that they
were practicelly forming =2 stralight linse. Nelther man could see the
fayr side of the gresat hall, yet they were ptill definitely
underground. The glow was brighter here, shining with an unhealthy
biue light.

Spock peered at the rock again.

"1t is definitely radice-active here," he said,. "We mugt get
away, or wa will surely die."”

Kirk glanced back into the tunnel, strangely reluctant, now, to
re~aenter it. The very beauty of the Btalactites now seemed somehow
frightening, the shapes that had been so0 appealing, somehow
threataening. He took a deep breath, opening his mouth to speak.

YCaptain - look!™

Kirk glanced at the Vulcan, then followed his pointing fingenr.
Coming towards them were speveral humanoid shapes.

Az they drew cloger, the two Enterprise offlcers could see that
they had a standard bilped shape - but their naked bodlies were a
pallid, unhealthy, colourless grey-white, and their eyeliids appeared
to be fused shut. Yet they were making thelr way unerringly towards
the vigitors, asg confidently as if they could see. Memories of blind
cave fish rose from hils subconscious mind, totally fallilng to
reassure him.

The humanoids stopped, theilr leader a bare yard from Kirk.
"Welecome, strangers."

At least the transelator was working. But the voice was thin,
high-pitched, and with a2 timbre that sent & shiver down Kirk's back.

"We're lost," he msald abruptly, politeness forgotten 1in the need

to get out of this place. "Can you ahow us a way out, back to the
surface?"
"The surface?" There was a note of alarm in the thin voice.

"The surface 1s death."
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"Hot to our kKind.,” Kirk replied. “Your caves are death to ug.t
Tha humancids muttered together, their volces sounding like the
twittering of bivds, top high-pltehed and shrill for the hearing of

alther man to distinguish words.

Finally the spokesman turnad back to Kirk, "We will take you to

the surface, but we must prepave ourselves first. Wa muat cover
ourseslives 80 that the killing rediation of Outside will not touch
8., Come —- be our guenis. Heast yourselves until we are ready."

Kiek hesitated, reluctant to g0 with them; more than reluctant,
but he realised that 1if they refused, they might £find themselven
desgearted by these oddly repulsive cave-dwsllers who were theilir only
pogsible key 1o escaps from the caves,

The eyelegs humanoids led them away from the rock wali and into
the huges cavern. Thaey must have covered at least a mile before they
saw, ahesd of them, what looked like a small town; a cluster of huge
blocks of stone, wlith many of the humanoid forms moving about.

As the party reachad the "town’ the two vigitors saw the beings
clearly. Some were small, obviously children; but Kirk suddenly
found himaelf wondgring it these cyeatures were, iln fact, mammals
despite the male vonfiguration of the ones who had met them, for
there ware others, without male smexual organg, who had no breasts;
and then he realised what had perhaps instinctively repulsed him.

None of the creatures had nipples.

They looked like men - but they werae not men.

The visdtors were ghown into one of the 'houses'. These blocks
did not have the blus glow that the rocks of the cavern had, but
windows cut into the sides of the block let the light in. Yet these
could not be windows in the usual sense; the humanoids were sightless

and dld not need light.

The humanolds brought in water and a peculiar greyish-looking
gsubstance piled high on 2 stone plate.

"Food?® Kirk asked nervously when they were alone again.

"Probably lichens of zome kind," Spock suggested.

Nelther felt hungry enough to sample it; and although both were
thirsty, they were not inclined to risk drinking the water. if it
came from an undarground spring, which seemed most 1lilkely, 1t would
cartalinly be lethal to them.

Thearae weas nothing to sit on but the ground, Slde by side, they
leaned back againegt one of the walls, waiting. Kirk yawned, and
cloged hils eyen.

A creackling sound woke him,

He reaised his hesd with 8 jerk, smelling the smoke that curled
under ithe dosr of hisg reoom., Qutside, hs heard the terrified howling
of hiz dog, and then his mother’s anguished scream.

*Jhmey )

He stumbled fowvards the door, groping for the handle, then
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snatched his hand away a8s its heat burned his fingers.

The asmoke was really thick now, and he coughed as it stung his
throat. How could he gzt out?

The windew!

He staggered and fell, choking, to lie wtill for & moment, but
e was too obstinate to give up. He had to resch the window...

"Jim}"

How did the fireman know his name?

"Jimt" The call came sdein, and this time he managed to answer.
"1'm here,” he croalked,

Strong arma czught him, He 1looked up at the adult face
gratefully...

cand frowned at the sight of the slanting eyebrowa and pointed
ealrs.,

"Jim. "

The urgency in the volce dragged him from the memory he had
buried beyond reach of consclous recollection and back to the
pragant.

"Spock?®
"You were dreamling, Captain.®

"More llke a nighimare,” he mutterad. "Somathing 1 thought I'd
forgotten long ago. Thanks for waklng me." He ahivered as he
remembered the helplessness...

Several man—-shapes pattered into the room. They were clutching
what looked like stone knivesn, and Kirk knew instantly that his first
instinct had bean right.

The lichens might be their staple dlet - but these creatures
ware fiesh-eaters too, and he and Spock were undoubtedly being
regarded ag potentlal Food.

He whipped out bis phaser, routinely set to stun, and fired.

The beam was wesk, and failed even as his finger s8till pressed
the button, but it fellad their attackers.

"The radiation must have dralned the phasers," Spock suggested.

"Haver mind that nowl Lat'as get out of here. We'll be better
taking our chances with the caveg."

They paused at the deoorway of the stone block, peering out, It
sgemed clear; but a sound made Spock hesitate, and touch Kirk's arm.
They waited.

A ¢hlld vran past. it, too, was clutching a knife, and Kirk
realised that, part grown though it might be, 1t was probably totally
saif-sufficient, possibly lsarning from the adults but unllkely to be
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depandent on any of thew.

Cnee 1t was out of sight, the two men slipped out of the *hous.
and began to wallk guickly baek towards the cavern wall, as gquietly as
thay could. When they wers about half way, they speeded up o a run.

Thare wave zevaral openings, and nothing to indicate which, if
any, they had come ocut of. They hesitated, wondering which one to
try, when z sound behind them deslided them; the 2ound of pattering
feaet coming sver clomar.

Hirk glenced back, then plunged into one of the passages.

It teok them upwards falrly guickly, but sounds from balow told
them thst their pursuers were feollowing.

The roof lowared, and they had to erawl for mome yards. As they
straightenad again, Kirk murtered, "Any powsr left in your phasper,
Spock?®

The Vuleasn reallwed instently what was in Kirk's mind. He drew
his phaser and almed 1t at the roof of the low passage.

There was just sufficient powar to loosen enough rocks to block
the low tunnel.

"Right - comsa onil®

They scrambled on. Suddaenly the pagsageway forked. Thay
hesltated, Thare seensgd to he a movement of aly from the right hand
tunnel; Kirk turned into 1t immedlately.

Within ten yards they knew 1t was blocked by & rock fall. Yat
thera was alr blowing through the fellen rock; thie way must lead to
the outside.

"Wa must dig through the rook,?”™ Spock said guletly. He might
have besn suggestling going for s swim on a hot day.

Kirk nodded, elithough he was near despalr as he looked at the
fallen rock. His earg stralined, listening for the padding of feet
coming towards them, for he was sure thst the phasered tunnel would
not stop those creaturssg Ffor long. They probably knew a way round
it, another pasggage leading to hare.

They began shifting the rock, depositing 1t bshind them, using
1t to block the tunnel Iin an aittempt to defend themselves against the
creatures. It was fortunate that it wW&s$ all rock, with no soll to
complicate matters. fany of the pleces were relatively small, though
some were larvger and it took all of #pock's sitrength to shift these -
the tunnel was hardiy wide enough for them to work slde by side.
Thelr fingers were soon torn and blesding.

Memories from the past thet he had long subdued began to run
through SBpock?’s head. He trled to ilgnore them as he worked doggedly
on, his nmuscler straining as he hauled at the rocks that were too
heavy for tThe Human to attempt. But the memorles, once roused,
refused to be ignored,

Singly, az he had livsd them, the svents he wasg involunterily
remaemnbering had besn basrsble and controllable; but all together they
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battered at his mind, draining hisg econtrel until he beagan to
understand why, in ths grip of his nightmare, Kirk had been threshing
wildly.

Grimly, bhe set his lips and laboured on.

At filirst Kirk found the hard work keeping hls mind occupied; but
sz he got intoe & rhythm, the encloged naturse of thelir surrcocundings
began to beat on his mind, recalling the horrible occasion when, as
an adventurous - over-advanturous - small boy, he had become trapped
in & narrow drain he had trled to erewl through for a dare. The
memory of his helpless terror fogged his mind,

The draln had not baen empty., elther, he remembered. There had
been -

A sudden hiss brought back the childhood memory tenfold,

A colourless snake-like beast reared up on 1ts tailil from under
the stone he had Just 1ilfted. Kirk, already 1in the grip of the
memory of terror, dropped the stone and turned as 1f to flee,
completely forgetting that there wapg nowhare to flea to.

The sound of the stone thudding to the ground caught S8pock's
wandering attention. Ha caught Kirk's arm Jjust as the Human began to

TROWVE .

"Let me go - 7

"Jim!i™ Then, when awareness began to return to Kirk'as eyes,
Speock contilnued. "wWhat 1is 1to"

"3nake..." Klrk managed.

Spock looked down. "There i1 nothing there but rock,'" he

insisgted, not altogether sure that he wasg spesaking the truth and far
from sure whethar he was apeaking to convince Kirk or only himself.
"You must believe that.®™

The himesing sounded again in Klirk's ears, and he struggiled
against Spock's grasp, obliviocus of the bruising grip ©of the Vulcan's
hands.

Hysteria? Bpock wonderad. Certainly Kirk's reaction wag one of
unthinking terrcvor.

voncern for Kirk shattered the memorlies that had been beating on
Spock's mind, and he remembered seeling McecCoy dealing with a
hygterical youngster who had proved to be totally unsuilted to
Stersghip life.

He released one of Kirk's asrms and slapped hisg face - hsred,

it worked. Kirk gave s shuddering gasp of relief, and relaxed,
slumping slightly, fully aware once more of where theay weraea,

After a moment, Kilirk stralightened resolutely. "Thankg, Jdpock.™
Hle hesltated. T keep remembering things... unpleasant things,.."

S0 do U, Captain,”™ Spock sald guletly. "But we mustl raemember -
thaey area only memocries, They are events from the past, and they are

rast. They cannot aifect ua now., ™
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Kirk turned back to the vockfall. "What do you think is ceusing
1t?"

“"Incertain. It could be the radliationt it could be a... a
woeapon uged by the cave-dwellers to trap thelr prey." He hauled a
large stone from the rockfall and pushed it against the baprrier they
warae bulilding.

"VYou know, that's something of & pugrla," Kirk sald. He was
taking to keep his mind off hils growing claustrophobia. "The planet
has practlically no animels that those crgatures could use for food,
and they clearly don't like coming to the surface ~ didn't they call
it 'death’? The obvious food gouree is lichen or posglibly fungus -
yat thay seem to bs meat-asters. How do they get thelr meat?"

"pParhaps animals wander into the caves for shelter in inclement
waather,” Spock suggested. "Or perhaps..."

"Yeap?" Kirk askad when Spock made no attempt to finish his
gantenca,

"Canniballsm, They may eat thalr own dead; sand... the cave
system 18 extensivey there may be several groups of them. They could
asplly conplider the membersg of other groups ag leglitimate prey."

Kirk shuddered. #T didn't like them when I paw them," he said.
"1 think I like the thought of them even leaess now."

"Captaln, remember that that 1s only speculation," Spock
insisted.

"Yeas. But I think ycou'vre right. Ah - "

Spock pesred past him, The stons Kirk had just shifted was the
last one at the top of the rockfall. They were nearly through.

It took only 8 few minutes to clear enough of the rocks to let
them wriggle through, and they set off along the cave with renewed
optimlsm.

#Think they'll manage to feollow us?" Kirk asked.

"They undoubtedly know the cave asystem well," Spock sald

thoughtfully. "Howaver, this passage was blocked; they may not Know
it. "

They hurried on. And then, in hisz haste, Kirk stumbled over a
loozse stone. Ha lay still for a2 moment, unwilliing to stand, to put
any waight on the stabbing pain in his ankle; then through the rock,
he felt the vibration of many feet,. He sat up.

1 hear them,’” he sald tightly. He sorambled up, and winced as
he tried to put his welght on the injured ankle.

Spock alipped an avm around his wailst, pulling one of Kirk's

arms round his own shoulders to support the Human, and hurried him
on.

Ahead of tham, the dim blue light whitened and intensiftied.
They had reached the mouth of the cave,

Outside, they looked over the ground that they had so recently
been surveying. A shuttiecraft stood there; four security guards and
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a yellow-clad figure that Kirk recogniped ae Sulu were checking
tricordaers,

"8ulut®

Thea five figures below them turned, and bagan to run towards
them. Spock, still suppeorting most of Kirk’s weight, stasrted down
the slight slope that led away from the caves.

The two parties maet about halfway between caves and
shuttlecraft, Just as the first of the cave creatures emerged.

Y"What - %
Spock glanced back. "Theyire deangerous,'" he aald.

Two of the guards lifted Kirk betwean them despite his protests,
and the group ran for the safaty of the shuttlecraft. A8 BOON ASB
thay were all in and sitting., Sulu took off,

Below them, the crestures mlilled around for some moments, not
knowing where their prey had gone; stilli aware of it, but knowlng
that it was retreating rapidly. The sun sheone on them, tco warm,
burning thelr unaccustomed spkin, Afrald, they abandoned the chase
and returned to the welcome cooclness of thelr caves.

S8ulu reported back to the Enterprise as the shuttle soared
skywards, and McCoy was walting when 1t landed and the hangar
repressurised.

"You two need Keepers,” he told them as he ran a scanner aover
them. "For intelligent men, you can be reelly stupid at times!
Gedng into those caves...™

YActually, Doctor, I suspeect that the cave crestures were aware
of us even when we were on the surface and put the thought of
entering one of the caves into our ninds, " Spock said, loyally
agsuming equsal blame with Kirk.

MeCoy grunted his opinion of that a8 he stralghtened.

"Youtre both goilng to need decontamination,”™ he sald bhluntly.
¥and that means a couple of days 1n sickbay.®

"RBones -~ Y

McCoy glared at him, and he subsided. The doctor nodded, and
turnad to the intercom,

Sickbay. I want an oprdsrly down hers with & med trolley
ilmmedliately,
"Bonaeg, I can walk - " Kirk protested.

“Jo on a trolley and stay in sickbay two daye, or walk and stay
in slckbay four days,” McCoy replied.

"Bones, that's blackmaili®™

?Vlr'es . %
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Onece in sickbay, MeCoy hustled both into bed. He checked their
readings sgain, and reached for s hypo.

The injecticons given, McCoy put a support bandage round the
twisted ankle.

Now, go to sleap, " McCoy inmtructed, knowing that they had no
option; he had given them both & strong sedative.

Ha waited until a soft snore broke the silence:; then he turned,
and went back to his office to £11l in the inevitable accident
report.




PHILANTHROPY

Spock and McCoy halted their argument long encugh to acknowledge
Ambaszsador Beauly's presence 1in the corridor, and picked it up again
the moment they were past him.

Beauly looked after them, frowning & little. He had only been
aboard the Enterprise for a matter of hours, but this wag the second
time he had heard the two disasgreelng. Forgetting that on a ship the
glze of the Enterprise the Doctor and First Officer could very easily
svold each othar 1f they wanted to, he decided that something would
have to be done about it.

For an Ambagsador, Beauly was very dogmatie, and he had the
habit of Jumping to immediate, unalterable conclusions based on first
impresgssions, His first impression here was that McecCoy and Spock
apparently found it impossible to asgree; 1t was therefore ilmpogsible
for them to work together effaectively. From the few words he had
hesrd, combined with hip knowledge of Vulcan psychology -~ which was
more timited than he reslised - he decided that McCoy muat be the
instigator of the guarrel; and without waiting to consult Kirk, or to
seg anything of the working relaticonship betwesen the two men, he
followed the Doctor to Slckbay.

McCoy glanced up from the tape he had begun to study as Beauly
entersed his office. "Yes, Ambapsador?™ he asked. "What can I do for
you?'

Even although at need Beauly could be as devious as the next
baauroccerat, he was not & man who normally wasted words. He pbelieved
in coming stralght to the point whenever posmsgible; and on this
occaslon it was undoubtedly possgible.

"Doctor, in the few hours I have been aboard 1 have heard you
guarraeillng with Commander Spock on two separate occasions.™

McecCoy stared st the Ambassador, open-mouthed, too startled to
say anything,

"It was obvious Lo me,” Beauly went on, "that you began those
guarrels, and that it 18 therefore impossible for you and Commander
Spock to work together in harmony. Accordingly, I will make it my
buginess to recommend thai you be transferrad as soon as possible to
another ship. I cannot undevstand why Captain Kirk has not already
made such a recommendation. ™

Baefore the stunned MoeCoy could recover enough to reply, Beauly
turnaed and left.

McCoy stared bleankly at the clesed door for gome momants: then,
collecting his scattered wits, he went in search of Kirk.

He found the Captaln In his guarters, playing chess witn Spock.
Kirk glanced up as McCoy entared, and begen to smlile a welcome, but

the smlile gqulckly faded as he saw the trouble on the surgeon's face.

"Bonest! What's wipong?"

"Beauly. Hg heard Spock and me arguling and thinks we were
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savious about 1t. He'w reconmmending my transafer, hée told me.”
"He can’t do that,” Kirk maid., "Hoit if I oppoge 1t."

] think perhapeg he cen, Captain,”™ Spock put in. "As an
Ambassador, he has 3 grest deal of influence and I did hear that he
i5 related through marrisgs to Admiral Lewls, of Stsffing."

The three men looked at emaoh other.

I'11 go an ave & word w m, r ecided.
"Ity 4 h d with him," Kirk decided

The Captain waz sway for a very short time. He iooked furious
when hae returned.

"Na use?” McCoy mshked,

"He sccuged me of wantonly sndangering the shilp by condeoning -
or at the least permitting -~ the presence of two officers Iin the crew
who so diglike sach othasr thet they cannot agree.'

"Parhaps I should be the one tc see him, Captain," Spock
puggentead, "According to what Dr. McCoy told me while you were away,
he 13 being blamed for instigating the ‘'guarrel®. That dbeing so, I
am the logical ona to tell Mr. Beauly that ocur efficiency is not
affectad by our ‘'dig-agreements’."

"You can try." Kirk pald gloomily. "But I tell you how, he
won't llsten. 1've naever mat such an opinionated, self-satisfled
idiot in my life!l?

Spock buzzed at Besauly's cabin door, and on racelving a reply
from within, he gntered,

Beauly looked a little surprised to see him. “"Yeg, Mpr. Spock?"

“Ambassador, " Spock begsn, "I belleve you may have reached a
hasty decislon regarding Dr. MeCoy. He and I, contrary to the
impression you appear to have recelved, are on parfectly good terms.
Certainly we disagree fraquently, but never about anything important
- and wa both derive s conpilderable amount of enjoyment from these
differences of oplindan.®

"I am preparvaed to admilt that you do not appesar to take offence
at Dr. McCoy's attitude,? Besuly bBaid slowly, "but then, Vulcans
never do. My experience isg that VYulcsns do not realise when they are
being deliberately insulted.?

*Youy pardon, Ambasepsador, but I am half Terran. I would know 1f
that were the case.¥

"WVary well, I can accept that - or at least that it could be
BO. But 1t 414 seem to me that Dr., McCoy was belng deliberately
insulting ~ 8¢ subtly, however, that you mady not have reallised 1it."

Tambagsador, be wasm not.W

“"That 1g the forgiving VYVulean neture, Mr. Spock. I am afrsid I
must hold to my opinilon. Your efficlency may not suffer, but McCoy,
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to my ming, clearly does not regard you with friendly eyes. His
competence to proceed with his work in an efficient manner must be
suspect. I feel I must heold to my original decision, ahd recommend
to Admiral Lewis that he be transferred as soon as possible.”

"Ambassador, we do work well together,'" Spock insisted.
"Vulcans do not lie. Dr. McCoy and I are not serlous when we
disagree, any more than two wrestlers are when they indulge 1in a
sparring contest..."

"You, perhaps, axre not," Beauly repeated, "but I think you are
mistaken in your view of his attitude. That will be all, Mr. Spock,"
he added, seeling that SBrpock was preparing to advance yet another
argument .

*"Yes, sipr."

Kirk ang MecCoy were walting in the corridor for him as he left
the Ambasgsador's guarters. He looked at them and shook hils head.

"He wouldn't listen,”™ he saild. “"He thinks I wasg defending Dr.
McCoy bacause Vulcecans do not take offence."

Yyou tried, Spock,' McCoy said, rather dully. "Thanks for
that.,"

"We can try letting him spee you working together," Kirk
decided. "But from his dogmatic attitude, 1 don't hold out much hope
of il belng succeasful."

For several days thereafter 3pock and MceCoy refrained from
exgrcleing thelr tongues on esach other. Beauly saw them together on
& number of cccaslons, and remained cbstinately unimpressed.

"it says a good deal for Commander Spock's patlence and good
nature that he permitg Dr. McCoy to use him l1lke that," Beauly told
Kirk eventually.

Kirk tried again. "Ambassador, McCoy 1sn?'t using Spock.
Neither is patience nor good humour necessary. I've known them for
years, slp. Naelther of them will admit it openly, but they do have
conglderable affectlion for each other. It does show - sometimes.
They argue ap theilyr way of expressing thai affection, and everyone on
the ship knows 1t. Dammit, 1f they really didn't get on together,
would McCoy be s0 anxious to stay here? Would Spock want him to?"

"i'm afraid theat's toou complicasted for me, Captalin,” Beauly
replled. "Men who are frlends do not argue in the terms I heard Dr.
McCoy using to Mr. S8Spock.!

Three daye later the Enterprise reached her immediate
destination and swung into a standard orbit round a planet which had
been investigated by & Hesearch vessel some monthse previcusly. The
eyrew of the Ulysses had repcrted the native Acrons ag belng extraemely
nervous and gusplcious of strangers; indeed, they had been unable to
gat hear tham. Acron wap wall off the usual beat of Starflecet
veggals; hor was it anywheara ngar Klingon or even Romulsan influence.
Thare was nething to indicate that the natives knew anything about
othar racas, yet they were nervous of strangers. Starfleet felt that
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thig fact was unusuel enough to warrant investigation,

Sengora indicated a not very plentiful, well-scattsred,
intelligent humanoid populastion living at 2 pre-industrial level.
Farming appasared to be the main pureult.

"We'll beam down,' Kirk declided, not surprisingly. As usual he
chose Spock and MoeCoy to sccompany him. Beauly made no secret of the
fact that he consldeared Kirk's choice injudicious; Kirk stcecod firm.
At lamst, he said,

"Would you care to accompany usg, then, Ambassader? You would
then be able to matlsfy yourself of the competence of the landing
rarty. We three work waell ftogsther, we understsnd each other; I
would not choose them otherwise.™

"Vary wall,” Beauly snapped. "But I warn you, Captain - one
gign of inefficiency and I'11 have you out of the service for
endangering your command. Poss that make you change your mind?®

"Ambassador, I have spelected ths two men with whom I work best,
and who, in my oplnion, work effectively together."®

Baeasuly merely snorted,

The landing party materialised in an epen, spargely-wooded
stretch of country. Thay lookaed round, moving slowly forward as they
did mo.

“There's a path here, Captaln," Spock salid.
It was very faint. Y"How raceant is 1t%" Kirk askaed.

Spock sheook his head. "Difficult to say, precisely, Captain,
It may merely be an animal track, of course.?

“But you don’t think mo."

"I would say that an animsl track would show more obviocus sign
of umpe, Captain.®

"Do we follow it?Y MeCoy ashked,

Kirk nodded, "Rut carefully.” He glanced up and down the path,
and gestured. *"Choilce of direction will have to be arbitrary," he
sald. "Thera's nothing to indicate which way would be best. Let's
go this way.” He glenced conglderingly at Beauly., Thigs man was the
weak link 1n thelr team; not Hpock, not McCoy. Where best to place
him so that hes ceould csuse the minimum amount of trouble? "Mrp.
Spoek, you go filrst; then you, Bones. Ambassador, 1f you follow
MeCoy, I'11 bring up the rear.¥

They went on in silence for some dilistanca, then Spock stopped.
Kirk movad up beslde him.

HWwhat 18 it, Spoock?®
"A village, Captaln.®

Ahead of them, Jjust rescognisable as a settiement, was a cluster
of primitive hutg madse of woven sticks and resed thatching. The placs
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seemed deserted.

"Thig could be why the track loovks unused," Kirk mused. "The
people have left; migrated to another area, perhaps?"

"] disagree, Captain," Spcock put in. "The aresa around the hutsg
bears a look of cultivatlieon - primitive, certainly, but
unmistakable. People are unlikely to leave a region before they
harvest thelyr crops.™

McCoy noddad. "He's right, Jim. Unless something scared them
g0 much that they just ran.?”

"1¢ they were simply frightened away, they would soon return,”
Spock objected.

t*parhaps not," Kirk sald slowly. "I know that, logilcally, once
the cause of theilr fear was gone, you might expect them to come
back... but the Captain of the Ulysses reported that the Acrons were
vaery narvous. A race like that might keep on running."

"what ocould frighten them?" Beauly asked.
"A rare but very dangercus life-form? McCoy suggested.

*T would think not, Doctor,? Spock ssid. "They were reported to
be suspicicus of strengers. Humanoid beings, accustomed to a
dangerous native life-form, no matter how rare, would noet neceassarily
be suspiclous ©of another humanoid.™

Kirk looked at him. "Speculation?™

"A posgibliity that they are familiar with a dangerous alilen
humanolid - or at least have encountered such a race. Wae cursealvesy
arae famililiar with seversl humanold races who are, to say the least,
unfriendliy. "

Kirk nodded.

"pgut that dogsn't explain why the Acrons, having run, didnt't
eventually come back," McCoy protested, "They must have left here
waaka ago." He glanced round the weed-thick paRasages between the
huts.

"T kKnow, Doctor. I would therefore guspect that thisg putative
race lg extremely dangercousB; the natives may have begun to run, then
all been killed. It may also be a race we have not before
engountered; we sare very near anh unexplored spiral arm, and 1t would
be foolish of us to assgume that the Klingons and the Romulans are the
only inimical species in the galaxy."

The party moved on slowly, half expeciing someone to spring out
at them from one of the huts, deserted though they seaemed to be, But
nothing stirred in the empty settlement, and they reached the other
glde of it without incident.

Gnece there, something caught Kirk's attention, and he led the
way through the grass to s barren arasa. The vegetation, crushed,
scorched by extrame heat, was just baglinning to sprout agailn. The
pateh was geveral times larger than the mark left by a shuttlecrarft,
Spock turned his tricorder onto 1t.

"What csused 1t, Mpr. Spock?" Kirk asked.
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"There arae traces of fuel deposits, pertiaslly burned," Spock
replied slowly. "Phis mark was left by some kind of vehicle,
presumably a flying ona; whatever kind of englne 1t hss, 1t is not
particularly efficient.?

rEfficient anough to get arcund in," McCoy commented drily.

"It certainly supports your theory about a dangerocus race,!" Kirk
told Speoek. "And certainly net native to this planet."

"Tndead not,"” EBpock agread. "There 13 nothing on this world to
indicate any flight potential.®

"The next guesticn 1=z, what makes them dangerous?"
"Siave hunting?® Besuly suggested. "That would explain why

there aren't any of the villagers sround; any that 4did escape would
be scared to come hack.™

"Surely there 1ig a limit to the number of slaves any such
culture regquires?" Hpock sald doubtfully. "Unless, of course, the
death rate among them is very high."

Kirk shook hip head. 9YThat doesn't folliow, Spock. Did Vulcan
aver have a period when there was s slave-owning culture?"

"No. In the diatant past.,."

Kirk cut in before the Vulean could slaborate. "Well, Earth
did,.. and remember that 'Roman’ culiture we encountered a while
back? Slave-owning cultures neaver have encugh slaves. Posgession of

slaves 1is a sign of wealtht that was part of the reason why Rome,
back on Earth, sventually fell, Too many slaves,. The cltizens
hadn't encugh to do. Even their fighting wae all done, eventually,
by members of conguered races.,. and the slave population cutnumbered
the frea population by... I ean'¢ remember the exact figures, but it
wag dozens to one... But I think we're entering the realm of
pointless speculation now."™ He pulled out his communicator. "Kirk
to Enterprige. Is there any aign of machanigation on any part of the
planet's sBurfaca?"

“¥nnooo, Captain.” Uhure scounded doubtful. "There are
indications of another ahip nesrby, but we can't pinpoilint 1it.
Nothing else."

"Any chance that it's & ship on the grounde"

*It's possible, Captain," Scott's veoice cut in, "but if it iz we
can't give you a position. The resdings are fluctuating, fading in
and out, and very faint even at thelr strongest., More like a sensor
ghogt than anything eleve."

YRight., If you do locete anything positive, let me know.®

YAyve, sir.¥

"Kivrk out,®

"Is thet anothsyr track?" MaCoy asked, polinting.

"Looks like 1t,* Kirk said, '"Let's sea whera it goes.”

The want along 1t failrly quickly. After a while it forked,
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three branches leading off it 1in different directions. All looked
equally unused.

"Spoek, yvou take that path," Kirk said. "Bones, you take the
middlie one. Ambagsador, you and I will take the other. Be careful.
Contact each other at the first sign of anything - anything at all,.
If you find nothing within, say, three hours, beam back to the
Enterprise. ™

The others nodded acknowledgement and set off.

Kirk and Beauly found nothing. Their path led only to the
fields around the village, and after about an hour of wandering
around trying to make sense out of 1te meandering route from field to
field, getting increasingly anncyed by Besauly's sssertive
guggestions, none of which appearad to have any pogltive foundation,
Kirk contacted Spock and McCoy. MaeCoy reported that his path also
appaarad to beg nothing more than access to the flelds, but Spock was
making good time on his track, which definilitely Beemaed to be goling
pomewhere. "Most probably to another village," he concluded.

"Right, then,'"™ Kirk decided. "Bones, beam up. Walt for us,
then we'll all beam back down to joln Speock. Kirk to Enterprize...
Scotty, you have all our coordinstes? Beam McCoy, Beauly and myself
up, then down again at Spock's position. EFnergise when ready."

It seemed no time mt all before they materislised in the
trangporter room. McCoy moved back onto ths platform to join them,
and they returned to the surface. They materialised heslde the
barely-marked track, to find no sign of Spock.

"Scotty, have you got the coordinates righte"

"Ave, Captaln.®

"Kirk te Spock." There was no answer.

Kirk and McCoy looked at each other, concern showiling clearly on
both their faces.

"Could something have attacked him - knocked him ocut?" Beauly
agked.

"IInlikely," Kirk replied. He looked round.,
McCoy moved a few paces, and stopped. Hlim. "
"Yeg, Bones?"!

Ag KirK Joined him McCoy bent and picked up Spock's communlicatop
from where it was lylng at the side of the track. Beauly Jolned
them.

"You may have bhean pight after all," Kirk told the Ambssgador.

"Whoaever - or whatever - 1t wasg can't he far away,'" McCoy said,
"It's only seconds slnce we talked to him."™

"You would think so,"” Kirk agreed, "but in that caspe, we should
he able to hear something, surely. I can't hear anything..,.r™
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"Could he have been tranzported eway?” Beauly asked,

Kirk locked at the Ambassadorp, At last he had made a useful
suggestion.

"Kirk to Enterprise. Any wozrd yet on that unidentified ship?®
"It could ba on the ground qQquite near you," Scott answered.

"Spock's theory about a heostlile race peems pretiy well proved, ™
Kirk went on. "It alsce seems a8 1f he's been caught by 1it," he
finished grimly.

"So what are wa walting for?" McCoy said urgently. "If wa're
to rescue him..."

"Hold on, Bones. =&, We don't know that that i3 what happened -
jt's stiil speculation,. b, We don't know whera this ship 1is. And c,
it won't help Spock 1if we blunder into the same trap.™

"All right, then. Lat me set myself up asg a deccoy, then you and
Ambassador Besuly can see what we're up against; and 1f I'm caught
too, expecting 1¢, I might be In gquite a good position to help
S8pock. "

"I know, Bones," Kirk said sympathetically. "But remember,
Spock may already be dead. It won't help Bany of ug if you're
Kiltled, It'a too bhig a rigk."®

"Ian't Spock worth 1t?" McCoy demanded fiercely. Beauly looked
at him sharply.

Before Kirk could reply they became conscious of a sweaet, sticky
smell, then all collapsed unconscious.

Kirk sliowly became aware of lying on something hard, and then of
2 steady humming sound. He opened his eyes and looked around.

Beauly and McCoy lsy beside him, still unconscious; a few feet
away, Spock was sprawled limply. They were in a small room with
metalilic walls; a grating near the celling looked like part of a
ventilation system; apart from that, the walls looked solid. At a
gueas, they were Inside the alien ship.

Kirk scrambled up and bent over Beauly, then McCoy. Both were
stirring, and would not be long in regsining consciousness. He
croagsed to Spock, and rolled him onto hisg back,

Evan hig untrained eye could pee that something was far wrong
with the Vulcan. Spack wes breathing heavily, and his face was an

unnatural bluelsh colour, Kirk crossed back to McCoy and shook him.
"Bones! Wake up, Bongat?®
MoCoy grunted and opaned unwilling eyes. "dim. wWhat,,."
"Spock,™ Kirk said tersely. "Something's wrong with him."

McCoy sat up abruptliy at that, looking round. As Beauly opened
his eyes McCoy was moving over to Spock. He bent over the Vulcan,.
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"Wall?” Kirk asked snxiously.

McCoy groped for his medical kit and found it missing, He
reached next for his communicator, and failed to find it either. "It
lovcks like msome sort of allergy,” he sald, his voice worried. "y
can't think of any known Vulcan sllergy, but that doesn't mean there
isn't one somewhere. Without instruments I can't even begin to guess
axactly what's wrong - or to treat him. We've got to get him back to
the Enterprisa.”

P"How?" Kirk asked bliuntly. "My communicator'ts gone too. And nmy
phasar. I can't gee a door 1n this plasce, either."

"1l don't know how," McCoy sald irritably. "But 1f we don't get
him bsck to the Enterpripe, and soon, he'll dia. This... allergy...
or whatever 1t ias, is affecting his lungs. It's becoming more and
more of an effort for him to breathe, and unconacious as he is, he'll
soon reach the point where he haantt the ability to make the effort.”

Kirk bit his lip. "Any jdes what might have caused 1t2?"

McCoy shook his head. "IInless whatever we were gassged with. He
must have had a dose of the pame stuff. Blood with a copper base 1o
vary rare - the vulcanold gpecies are the only intelligent ones I

know of with 1t. His blood could have reacted to the gas in a
different way from the one iron-based blood would. And 1€ that's the
case, his lungs sare probably the first place where the reaction would
show up."

He felt for Spock's pulse, adjusting his grip on tha Vulicant's

wrist until he found it. "Heartbeat's slowed, too. If I even had my
kit I could give him an anti-histamine injection. The longer I am
getting him treated...” He trailled off, not needing to finish,.

"aAny possibllity he's managed to put himself into some sort of
trance?™

McCoy shook hig head again. "Hig breathing's too laboured for
that, Jim. It's not a trance."

"Not aven a healing trance?"

"No. Besides, he needs a few paconds to prepsre, and he
wouldnt have had the time. Remember how gquickKly we werea Knooked
out? 1t was almost instantancous.,®

"that's true.

With startling abruptness a door that had been invisible until
then slid open. Four., .. c¢reatures... sntered.

They resembled nothing so much a8 a praying mantis; Beauly, the
diplomat, took an automatlic step backwards. They were humanoild, in
that they were bilped and two-armed and stood reasonably @rect; but
thay had a secondary pselr of rudimentary arms culminating in tiny
claws, which looked as 1f they might still be functional when the
ereatures fed, Their heads were insect-like, with two bulbous eyes
saet at the sldes, short antennae, no nopes and large mouths. They
had no obvious sars. The actual shape of thglr bodlies was difficult
to determine, as they wore loovse laong robes; but from the way they
moved 1t seesmed possible that they had large abdomens protruding
behind - or below - whare thelr lesgs joined their bhodilies. Thelr arms
wares connected to thelr bodlies at the front of their chests, and
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terminated in tentacle-like fingers.

A Kirk moved forward, hisg attention was drawn back o McCoy.
The surgeon was bending over Spock, his mouth caovering the Vulcan's.

"Bonap?"

"He's past... making... the effort..." McCoy Jjerked out as he
worked, gasping out the words as he drew ancther deep breath to force
into the Vulcan's lungs.

Kirk whirled to the aliene. "You've got to leat us get back to
our ship! Our friend l1ls dying!®

The allens seemed to communicate with each other, although Kirk
heard nothing smave a series of meaningless clicks, Then one of them
moved forward, holding out a communicator. Kirk snatched it, then
nearly dropped it in his haste to open it.

"Kirk to Enterprise - four to beam up. Have a medical team
standing by."

They were caught in the familiar transporter tfield.

Once on board the Enterprise McCoy and the waiting medical team
rushed S8pock off to Sickbay, leaving Beauly staring after the
whirlwind with an almest stupified expression until Kirk attracted
his attention.

"I must admit,”" the Ambassador sald thoughtfully, "that Dr.
MceCoy's reaction to Mr. Spock's condition has surprised me... and yet
it is wholly in keeping with what you -~ and Mr. Spock -~ told me.
Perhaps 1 was wrong after ali..."

Kirk managed to smile, “Yes, Ambagssador, It does gshow -~
gometimen." He glanced at the door, wanting to follow, knowlng that
duty must come first. "You and I must now consider what to do about

thoge alliang down there., ™

Baeauly straightened almost defiantly. "I am a fully qQualified
Ambasasador,"™ he told Kirk, unnecessarily. it is my duty to retuvn
and attempt to meke contact with them."

"l fully agree, silr, Their readiness to let us go, after they
had captured us, seems to indicate that they started off by thinking
us natives; once they realised we weren't, they probably wanted to
seec what we'd do."

The two men beasmed back to the planet, taking a translator unit,
to materialise in the little room they'd left so short a time
before. The insectlle aiiens ware walting, locking almost as if they
hadn't moved during the interval. OFf course, Kirk thought, patiencea
i a virtue amonget coarniverous insscts like the praying mantis...

Kirk faced the alilens. "T thank you for permitting us to reamove
our friend, May I ask why you captured ug? You mugt have known thet

we were not nativesg. "

"We did not know.,"™ The translated language came over in a
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saries of clicks, sounding very unusualj both men found they had to
listen hard in order to follow the allen spesch. "Your spacies all
look alike to us.®

Well, that figurad, Kirk thoughti thess aliens all looked alike
to him, too.

*When we examined the small devices you carry, we soon realised
that you must be reprasentative of a more sdvanced culture,. It teook
ug gome tima, however, to decide that you must be like us, travellers
from another world,®

"Do you know why the natives are so frightened of strangers?®
Beauly ssked.

Kirk's first thought, that that was a stupilid qQuestion, guickly
faded as he realised that the Ambasssador was right; the allens were
making no threats, had in fact tresated them very sympathetically. It
seaemaed unlikely that theay would behave so to one race while preying
on another.

"Wa have baen removing them from this planet and taking them to
anothar world."

"Whatt!? Beauly sounded horrified,
YWa have a reason. Come, we willl show you."

The two men followed thelr hosts to another room, where there
was & viewscocreen. One of the aliens manipulated a control, and
plctures began to form on the screen.

"This is five yemrs ago, when wae first arrived.”

The pletures showad & mountaln range. High, asnow-covered hills
stood out ¢learliy against the sky; tress climbed half-way up the
slopes, marching in serried ranks.

"Our sensing devices showad instabllity in this ground., We
walted, and watched."

"Insgtability?" Kirk sxclaimsd, "Those mountains look good for a
million years!®™

"rour yearsg ago, ™ the inseet sald eveniy.

It wag the same range of mountainsgs, but now two of them ware
smoking and red lava was pouring fluldly from one ©f these,. The
trees on its lower =lopes were buprning, the flre spreading rapldly on
sach Blde of the ptream of lava that was destroying them.

"Threa yasrs ago.V

It was agaln the same view; but now 1t was terribly changed.
Now, at least half the peaks were showing signa of incipilent
valecanism. One of the new volceanos wes throwing out great lumps of
rock; very few trees ware lerft.

"Two years ago.™
It had to be the sgsame scene, Kirk reaslised. Had to be, But i1t

was 80 altered as to be almost unrecognisable. The whole outline of
the mountaine was different, and every mountalin there was breathing
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smoke., One was almogt gonejy in its pleace wear s volcenlc crater, the
pitiful wreck of a once-proud gisnt. It must have exploded, Kilrk
decldad. He glanced at the aliens.

*"The nativas took fright when all this hsppened?" he surmised.

The ingect manipulating the control turned ite head in a
pwivelling motion to the right. "Thigs vange of mountaeins is8 in a
deserted region. There was no-one living nearby to flee ih alarm.
This 18 only one of many such avreas, For 80 many volcanoea to appeanr
over such & small ares so quickly, indlcates great instability. We
investigated, studied the planet carefully, and realised that it is
beginning to digintegrate. We estimate that it will explode within a
few waeks. Thease are the only intelligent pecple we have found in
twenty years of travelling to the stars; we wanted to ssve them if we
could.®

"So you began to carry them off?"

"Them and thelry domestlc animals., We take them to a planet of a
nearby asystem. The planst resembles this one closely, and those we
took there first have settled down well. But it i1s becoming
increasingly difficult to catceh them. The ones who are left do not
believe us when we try to tell them of the dsnger, and run from usg.”

The two men looked at @ach other. Fear of inmects,... of
allensa. ..

"Parhaps we could haelp,”" Kirk suggested, "The natives might
iisten to us - you say we resemble them sufficiently that you can't
tell us apart.'

Baauly shook hip head. "Thae crew of the Ulysses couldn't get
near them, remember, Captain? But..." he glanced at the alilen, ™.
have you ever thought of bringing back some of the ones you have
settled, and getting them to tell the others you mean no harm?"

. .

The alien swivelled ite insectile head again, "Do you think it
would be affective?"

"Well, 1if they see some of thelr own paeople happy and contented,
they might be more inclined to iisten.®

"Where are you taking Them?"™ Kirk asked.

The alien clicked what must have been a pet of coordinates, but
it failed to translate. No referentsz, Kirk realised. Ch wall, they
could gort that one out Ffrom the ship.

"How long does 1t take?®

"Five of our days to get thers," was the deolaful reply. "Only
four of our ships are available to assist; our home world is too far

away for any further help to resch us in time."

"I'1li see if any of our ships are near enocugh to divert,*®

Beauly remained with the aliensg whaen Kirk beamed back to the
Enterprise. His firast thought was to contact Sickbhay.

"McCoy here.”
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"How 18 he, Bones?"®

"Breathing." McCoy's volce was carefully controlled. "We'tve
run tests, but we can't come up with any cause, although
anti~-histamine shots did help, and he seems to be throwing off the
effacte all right. Donft ask me when he'll regein consciousness,
though."

Satisfied, Kirk went to the Bridge. While Chekov checked out
the nearby systems to discover which one was beling used for the
resettlement, Kirk contacted Starfleet Command and arranged for the
nearest Federation vessels to be diverted to help the evacuation.

With the assistance of several of the transplanted Acrons, the
remainder of the evacuation was successfully carried ocut by a mixed
fleet of Federation and alien vassels.

Beauly left with the inspectile Jaaniks to provide liliason between
them and the Federation. This was a friendly speclies worth
cultivating, despilte the initial mistrust the insects' appearance
engenderad.

"I am pleasaed that the Ambassador declded not to recommend your
transgfer, Doctor," Spock told MeCoy some hours after they left the
agterold belt that Acron had become. "I would have... missed,.. the
entertalnment that I deridive from the illogical workings of your
mindg. "

McCoy grunted. "I knew I should have jumped at the chance,'" he
asaild, "I might never get ancther."
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The planet called Thorsten had been pettled for nearly half a
century., The colony on Thorsten was well established. Iits economy
should have been flourishing, It shouild have been expanding.

Instead, it had been [{irst static, then failing, for two or
three yesars] now it wbBs coliapsing.

Governor Mesters was known to have veached his level of
inefficiency on Thorsten;: he had been a sstisfactory enough asgsistant
governor, but once he was In a situation where he had nobody to pass
the buck to (should it prove ne¢essary), he proved to be of an
irresolute nature, but he was not incompetent encugh to be removed
from offlice. To be incompetent, & man has to do something, make some
declisiong, ugually wrong. and he did neither. He simply coasted
along, letiting evenits take thelr course, and for several years they
did so without any trouble.

Then the titanium mines began to show a growing drop in
production.

Since they had no valld reason to deprive him of ofilee,
Masters' superiors in the Colonisatlon Offlice kept presgsuring him for
reasong for the lack of continuing expansion in the titanium mines,
in the hope that the constant harassment would encourage him to
reglign - especlally since he was nearing retirement age.

Masgters, to give him his due, did make an attempt, as persistent
as hisg rather easy-going, vaclillating nature would permit, to
discover the reagon for the pooy production figures from the mines
that were the main source of income for the planet. But incowmpetent
ieadershipy does not ancourage conscilentiousness among his underliings
unless an ambitiocus one sees an opportunilty to bring his tace to the
attentlon of thosge in supreme power; and there was no opportunity for
that on Thorsten, since s8ll reports to the Colonisation Office, and
from them ta the Federsastion Council, went through the governor,
Mastera'’ depsartment heads had become lagzy, giving only the appearance
uf brisk effliciency when he was around, knowlng that theilr superior
lacked the drive to do anything positive about 1t 1if indeed he even
noticed thelr negligence.

And then Masters, who for go long had been too lrresoclute even
to decide to remove himself from & pomsition that he found unbearably
demanding, finally made a popitive decision and took early retiral,
driven to it at last by the continuel pressure from hils superiors.

The powers that be at the (Colonigation Office breathed a
collective sigh of relief and put their heads together to gelect a
BuCcessor. Thay dilscusgsed gualilificationns, this time looking for
someone who had proven exparience in colony governorshilp rather thsan
an asssistant spplying for promotlion,

After much thought, the declslon wes make to appoint Roald
Dorcas to the post.

Puspite s well-deserved reputation for belng able to get
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satisfactory work out of a gtone, Dorcas had always maintained a good
raelationgship with the men under him. He went to Theorsten gquite sure
that within a month the planet’s problems would be at an end; he was
convinced that these probleoms were all the responslibiliity of the
previcus Governor, whose reaputation -~ or lack of one - had bacome
well known throughout diplomatic circles.

He was wraong.
Not only did his arrival fall to improve the sltuation; within a

vary short time he realised that matters were growlng rapidly worse.
hegpite every incentive he could offer, production of titanium

continued to drop. The miners claimed that they were producing
almost as much of the ore as they had ever done -~ there was
dissatisfaction over certain of the working conditions and a work to
rule in operation - but the welght of titanlum leaving the mines was

steadlly diminishing.

Hig study of the figures led him to the unwelcome conclusion
that the miners were lying, although he could nhot understand why they
should. An ingpection of the mines showed that the veins of ore were
Btdll rich. Certainly the miners had had some genuline grievances,
none of them particulariy major - Mesters'® vacillation and
unwiilingnesgs to commit himself to any concession that he might have
to jJustify later were respongible for many of them - but Dorcas
guickly manasged to resolve most of these and promised to look into
the remaeinder. The work to rule was suspended. It had made no
difference to the praduction fligures.

Unlike Masters, Dorcss was not afrald to admit that a gltuation
had become impossible. His report to the Colonimation Office listed
everything that he had done in an attempt to rescelve the problems as
well as the few things that Masters had managed to suggest, and
finished wlith a request that an experienced negotiator should be gent
to Thorsten in an attempt to discuss the situsation with the niners!
leadersg, for he wag still reasonably sure that he had nothing more
than a labour dispute to blame for the trouble.

Perhaps predlctably, the Colenisation O0ffice reported the lach
of progress on Thorsten Lo the Federation Council, which 1in tuprn
erderaed Starfleet Command (¢ Do Someithiling About 1t.

Startfieet - alse predictably - responded in 1ts usual Lasnhion,
by sending in a Starship.

Jamuws T. Kiprk scowled ilrritably as Admiral Filtzgerald's imape
blanked wut, to be replaced by the ever changlng startieid. wWho did
Starrleet think he was - Sherlock Holmes? This situation needed an
industrial negotiator, posslibly even one sikilled in Industrial
gsplonage; the sltustion seemed to Kirk toe bear ail the halimasrhg of
typleal commerclial sabotage.

vartainly it was difficult to think of any group who would be
able Lo benefit from a faelled Faderation mining colony; betfore a
private group was permitited to take over any Federation-funded
project 1t had to pay back all the money the Federabtion had spent i1in
daveloping that venture as well as showing that Lt wans wealthy enough
to do somathing positive wlih Lt. Few indugstrlial groups, no wmatter
how succedsiul, possaesged that sort of monay.

What of one of Lhe member planetg of the Federation? passed



B1

through Kirk's mind. He mphook his head, The iikellihood was
vanishingly small, for the failure of & Federation undertakiling mesnt
logy to all member planats.

He rose abruptly and crogsed to the scilence station. "Opinlon,
Mr. Spock."

The Vulcan shook hie head. "The situation is unprecedented," he
pald guietly. ihidisg 1s not a normal industrial dispute, that is
certaein: the minerg have made no imposplibles demands, and while they
did have certalin grievances these would now appear to have been
ractitfied. It i not a strike nor, now, a work to rule; the miners
Bay they are worklng normsally, that the ore is being produced,.
Theretore the problem is one outside the industry - desgprite Governor
Dorces's suspiclons.®

Kirk nodded gloomily. "I tend to agree,”™ he muttered. He
slghed. "Just what Starfleet Command axpects us to do,.."

Spock glanced at him, the falntest gleam of mischief 1in his
eyan. "It i3 your own fault, Captain. You have never yelt falled to
regolve whatever problem Starfleet has asalgned to you. If you do
not want to be asssigned these ilmpossible milssions you should
endeavour to fall occasionally - %

"And have them think I'm incompetent?" Kirk responded in kind,
his mood dinveolunterlly lightened by his friend's teasing even
although the lndignatlion in his voilce was only half felgned.

The gleam in Spock's eye intensifled. “Then 1t 18 a matter of
pride, Captain? You complsin, but you are also proud to be asgigned
these 'lmpossible misslons??™

"Dammit, Spock - "™ Kirk gave a resigned shrug. "{ puppose I
am, " he admitted ruefully. "Not for myself, though..."
#No, not faor yourself,"” Spock gald softly. "it's far the

Enierprise, ign't it?Y You're really quite proud that Starfleet
auytomaetically thinks of the Enterprisse when there 1is s difficult task
te be undertaken."”

"Yag. Yea, I am.” He glanced round the bridge. "l'he best ship
~ and the bept crew - In the Fleest.™

As the Enterrrise swung into corbit around Thorsten Kirk swung
the command chair round to face Uhura.

"Contacet the Governor, Lieutenant," he ordered.

There was & brief pause, then, "I have Governory Dorcas, sip,"

*On the main scraen,”™

The fece that shimmered into view looked tired, although Kirk
knew that Dorcas had only taken over hils pasilition a faw weeks

previously.

"James T. Kirk, commanding the Starshlp Enterprise, Jdovernocr,”
he introduced himsslif,

"Captaln Kirk. ¥You are most welcome.,
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*T understand you're having some problems, Governor."

"Yeg, Captain. If you would like to besm down we can discuss
them with the filgures in front of us."

"By all means, Governor." He glanced over at Spock. "You have
the co-ordinates, Sclence Officere?®

"VYag, sir."

H=z stood. "Welll be straight down, sir. L. Uhura, contact
Begurlity and tell them that the landing party 1s to report to the
trangporter room ilmmediately. Mr. 8S8ulu, you have the con. M,
Spock - " He headed for the door, the Vulcan at his heels.

The four securility guards were already walting in the transporter
room when the Captain and the Flret Qfficer walked in.

Security duties were normally undertaken in rotation, but
because of the nature of the misslon, Kirk had ignored the duty
rogter on thils occasion, and selected four highly experilienced men to
accompany him., Inexperienced men sometimes made the most elemantary
of mistakes; although they were well tralined in beoth armed and
unarmed combat there were times that 1t seemed that the men angd women
who speclalised in security were taught nothing else. It never
failed to horrify him when he discovered how little some of the now
cerewmenmbers knew about pogsible dangers on alien planets.

The groupr materialised in Dorcas' office. The Governar began to
move forward to greet them, but paused when he saw that his Vulcan
guest carried a tricorder which he was gtudying even ag he shimmered
into existence,

A the guards scattered to doors and windows, Spock scanned the
room carefully with the tricorder, then nodded to Kirk, who was
already wiping sweat from his forehesd.

"it'as eclear, Captain.”

"Clesar?" Dorcas asked, puzzled,.

"We wished to ensure that there were no communications devices
surreptltiously embeddaed in, or on, your furniture,™ Spock explained.

"Oh. You mean bugs?"
"Yeg, dovernor," Kirk asgreed, smiling apcoclogetically.

"I can gee why, I think, but do you really think {t wag
ngcegsary? Who would want to bug my oftficer”

"Oftfhand T can't think of snyone, but you never know."™ tHa
indlicated Spock. YMr., Spock ls my Flrst Officer - also,
Ilneldentally, my Science Officer, I've discussed thils asftuation with

him. We're agreed that 1t has to be caused by something more than a
gimple lLabour dilspute - W

"Captalin,™ Dorcas interrupted wryly. "labour digputesg are seldom
gimple, bult I am now forced to concur. The miners had some
leglltimate grievances, but most of theso were easlily dealt with. Any
that are gtill outstanding are bLelng negotiated. There is no reason
for the miners to be disrupting the output of titanlium ore. Indeed,
thaey say they are working full time and produclng a Pull guota of
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ore.

T don't want to disbelieve them, but the production figuras
have been diminlshing steadily.” He indiceated a wallchart that
showed a steadily dropping line. “The colony was almost
self-pupporting when this started, Captein, sven with Masters?
mlsmanagament. The earliest drop in income wasn't blg anough o
throw the colony into the rad, but ms 1t continued... Another six
menths llke this and we’ll be showing suceh a loss that we'll be ripght
back to sguare one; fifty years saway from being self-supporting.”
Porcas ran & dilstracted hand through his hair, "Ii've got a good
reputation, Captain. IT'11 admit T don't want to lose that. But
there's more than that; c¢colonists who gettle & new planet expect to
havae to work hard - 1t can be practically slave labour in the first
fow years, despending on how much money has bean invested in it in the
firast place, and there was & lot Invested here. I don't want to see
211l the herd work of itwo generations of colonlests tThrown away; I
don't want to sea the present generation condemhed to noething but
constant hard work st 2 time when they hsave the right to be expecting
an improvement in theilr standard of living, increased leisure
time. .. That's another reascon I don't want to disbelieve the
miners. I can't see them being wllliing to lorpe a higher standard of
living. Yet I have no cholce but to disbelieve them.

"There have not been any demands by an outside body, or threats
to any personnel on the plenet that I know of. Just this impossible
drop in output.®

Kirk grunted. Dovrcos hog his priorities right, he declded, as
he said,

YGovernor, the Klingons couyld ba responsible for gquite a
surprising amount of disruption without even letting themselves be
sean. In their eyes, bankrupting s Federation c¢olony could be a
legltimate move in the powsr battle botween us."

Hot as 1t hsd been inside the office, 1t was even hotter out of
doors - a stlceky, humid heet that all of them - even Spoek, whose
home planet wap dry - found enervating. Within seconds the Humans
were all swesating profusely, and Spock, whosge metabolism was geared
to preserving body molsture, found himself wishing that he could
sweat - anything, even the lesp of preclous body fluid, that would
rellieve the dlstress of the unpleasant heat would be welcome.

borcas took them to the mines, where the manager, Karl Unger,
showed them round, The men wars all hard at work, and watching
them. Kirk decided that tha Governor was correct; ha did not want to
disbelisve thene men. From the way they were working, there was no
reagon for the drop-off 1n production. Their morals was not good,
which was hardly surprising under the clrcumstances, but they
raesponded to Unger's pralse, his occasional joke, in a manner that
showed that the ming manager was well liked.

Yet when Unger showed them the production figures, calculated
from tha smount of ore taken from the grading sheds, thsse lndicated
clearly theaet production had fallen guite sherply.

Kirk seid little untll they got basck to Dorcas' office. There,
in the blessed relief of a mare elghty degrees fahrenheit, he said
slowly, "When was the last shipment eBent out?”
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"They go monthly. The last one wag three weeks ago."

Kirk turned to the Vulocan, Mr, Spock - 1'd like you to take
two of the guards and check out the gtorage areas here. Compare

what's there with the figures for the last three weeks that Mr. Unger
showed us.™

"weg, sir.?" Spock looked over at the guards. "Tadden;
Ponnelly. Come with me."

The three men went out, and Kirk turned hls attention back to
Dorcas' records.

He begsan to lock over the records, discusailng them with Dorcas.
They gave him B history of the colony that he found quite
fagelnating, and he was soon deep in a study of it. He eventuyally
raiged his head from papers showlng the first signs of the
incompetance of the unmigsed Masters to the realisation that fully

two hours had passed and there was no gign of Spock's party coming
bhack.

Surpriseed - checking the atorage areas ghould not have taken
half that time - but not yet worried, Kirk reached for his
communicator and flipped it open.

"Kirk to Spock. Spock? Come in, Spock.”
There was no reply except a faint crackle of static.

"Sitrange," Kirk muttered. "Wirk to Tadden... Kirk to
Ponnelly..." His frown deepened when neilther replied.

He glanced over to where the two remaining guards were standing
by the window, gazing out and exchanging spasmodlc conversation.

They looked bored, and in all honesty he could not blame them 1f they
wearea,

"Dhixont Faglaurt®

The twoe men Jjumped, but recovered quickly, turning with every
eppaarance of alertness.

VSixr."™ Fasleur was a man of few wards; Dixon answered for them
hoth.

"I can't get s reply from the rest of the landing party. We'd
better go to the storage sheds and see if they're all right.
Governcor, I'1l1 call on you again tomorrow; but for the moment I musgt
check up on my men.'

"Wes, of coursae, Captain. If there's anything I can do..."

"If there's any trouble, I'11 take you up on that, but I imagine

there's a simple enocugh explanation, though offhand I can't think of
ane, !

He nodded s farewell and led the twoe remalning guards from the
office into the intolerable heat of ocutdoors. Even the clouds that

had begun to gather did not c¢hill the air when they passed in front
of the BUn.
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They found the storage area easily snough. It was
cluttered-~looking., dirty and with a strangely hopeless appearancea of
neglect - but it was deserted. To call these bulldings 'sheds' was
not wholly accurate, for they were guite blg, but they were buillt of
wood and had & not-quite-permanent air - ag 1if whoever had bullt them
in the first place had Intended to replace them at the flrst
opportunity with something more durables but had never found the time
to do BoO,.

The threa men looked inte mshed after shed, noting the depressing
emptiness of most of them, but finding ne sign of the missing trio,

At lest Kirk called a halt, He sBcowled round at the
unresponsive buildings a8 he flicked opsen his communicator.

"Kirk to Enterprise.®

"Enterprisa. Lt. Uhurs here." Her volce had a background
accompaniment of crackling.

"lLigutenant, has Mr. Spock called in?"
"No, sir.®

Kirk hadn't really sxpected an affirmative. PAsk Mr. Scott to
beam down a full search party - Mr. Spock and twoe of the guards are
missling. Initiate a sensor gcan ~ "

"Seott here, sir," the Chilef Engineer'’s voice interrupted.
"Sensorsg arvena' working properly - " The signal taded completely for
g moment, replaced by a hissing crackle, then strengthened. Hlhis
prlanet has & heavier than upual magnetic fleld and 1t's disrupting
the signal.™

"Damn. All right, cancel that. But get a search party down.
There's only about an hour of daylight left, unfortunately, but I'd
lika to make full use of 1t."

"Aye, sir.?

Kirk replaced the communicator on his belt. Moments lLater, he
heard the hum ©of the transporter as the flirvat group of securlty
guards materisalised.

In the hour before 1t became too dark to see properly, the
Enterpriee's securlty guards searched the area arcund the grading and
storage phedsa as thoroughly as wag possible without the help of
tricorders. There was toc much static electricity in the air; i1t
dlsrupted the tricorders as much as 1t had the communicator signal,
and as the sky darkensd the static lnterference worsened. Kirk could
feel - or thought he could feel - a tingling in his body that
corregponded to the crackling of the electricity in the air.

Finally, reluctantly, Kirk geve up for the night, He called the
ship again.

"lL.anding parity ready to besam up, Mr. Scott."
"I wouldn't - B¥+%188&1 - disruptlon.®
"I didn't guite catch all that, Scotty."

TRRERRHT - working properly, Cspiein.®
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“Captaln Kirk."

Kirk swung round. Intent on his attempted conversation with the
ship, he had not hesrd Dorcaes' approach.

"7 wouldn't recommend trying to get back to your ahip now,
Captain. The magnetic interfeorence isn't impossible for moast of the
day, but it gets worse at night -~ there's a bulld up of electricity
during the heat of the day. It dissipates during the hours of
darkness,. You'll be able to contact the Entearprise again in the
morning. Meanwhile, I cen provide gquartera for you all. The huts
that were put up for the bullding workers sare s8tlll used from time to
time so they're in good condition, and I've a spare room at my own
house where yocu can stay, Captaln.®

Well, that explained why he had been able to communilcate with
Dorcas when they srrived without the annoyance of static ¢rackliing
disrupting half of what was being said.

"Thank you, dovernor," He was not happy about the situation,
but realised that it would be ungracious to complain. He was
beginning to dislike this planet, he reslised, as he wondered why, in
almost fifty years, nobody had thought to include information about
the nightly magnetic disruption ©f the atmoaphere in the recorded
dats for Thorstan. Probably because most of the contact and loading
of ore was done esrly in the planet's day. Well, once he returned to
the Enterprise, he would personally see to it that the information
was entered in the data banks.

Kirk saw hiaz men assigned to the currently empity workers'
dormiteory Dorcas was offering them. It was at least clean; an ailir
conditiconing system had been swilitched on, and the hut, whiie not
exactly c<¢ool, already had the worst heat off 1t and, according to the
dovernor, would scon reach & tolerabls temperature. Kirk nodded
rolitely as Dorcas added, "There'll be a meal ready soon in the mess
~ " he indicated a door on the opposite slde of the corridor - "and
therve’'s a common room along there. I think you'll be comfortable
enough."

Kirk hung back slightly as Dorcas turned to the door, glancing
at Lt, Gulkin, the ranking member of the search party.

"I1f you havag any problems let me know right away," he murmured.
"aAye, sir."
Kirk followesd Dorcas out. In some ways he would have prefervred

to remain with his men, but he reslised that this would be the
perfect opportunity to talk over the situation with the Governor in
guarantesed privacy. Degplte thelr failure to find any bugs in

Porcas' offlce, he had become gqulte spuspicious of the security on
Thorsten.

The search wap ressumned at first iight.

)

Heveral hours latsar a tricorder trace led s palr of sesarchers to
a plile of rubbish in & narrow slley betwgen two of the sheds.

Tadden's body was roughly buried among the empty boxes and sacks
of asnonymous, mixed wapte. The back of his head was smashed in.
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Lt. Cappasn reached for his communicator,

"Cappas to Captain Kirk."

"Kirk here.”

"We've found Tadden, sirv. He's deaqd."

"wWhat about Lt. Donnelly and Mr. Spock?"

"No sign as yet, sir. Wa've only Just found Tadden. About to
resuma the search in this area. We're beslde the storage sheds,
gip, "

"1°11 be right there.®

Kirk paused only long enocugh to order all the search parties to
the storage area and call MeCoy down,

Dy, MoCoy bent over Tadden's body, scanner busy.

*Killed instantly," he zald with the professional impersonality
that he apsumed at auch times 1o cover hisg soprow at the waste of a
young life. "Ha's beaen dead at least twenty four hours."

"any other injuries?" Kirk asked.

"No," McCoy replied. "I suspect that someone came up behind him
and kilied him before he even realised the danger."

"In that case - " Kirk's voice was grim - "the ather two should
be arcound here to.?

"We don't know that they were all killed,"™ McCoy protested.

"1f whoever killed Tadden was golng to bother with prisoners,
why kill one of them with a blow from behind?" Kirk asked.

"Over here!* Gulkin celled harshly. Kirk moved instantly, McCoy
behind him by barely the second that it took him to rise.

Ponnally lay at the other end of the plle of rubbish. His skull
had also been crushed by a heavy blow.

"He's the same?" Kirk asked unnecessarily asg he bent over the
dead man.

McCoy nodded. "yam, Killed instantly sabout twenty four hours
ago."

Kirk straightened and looked yound. The rest of the men had
resumed the ssarch, but Gulkin was still standing looking down at
Ponnelly's body, the expression on his face showing with brutal
clarity the effort he was heving to make to maintain his
self-control.

"Lieutenant?” he asked.
He msaw Gulkin’s adam's apple bob as the securlity lleutenant

swallowaed bhefore he looked up. "It's Juat... Dave Donnelly was a
good friand, sir. Even while we were atill searching, I'd hoped..."
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"We't'll get whoevar killed Donnelly, Lieutenant,' Kirk promised.
He glanced round again. The pile of rubbipgh was belng moved steadily
to the other end of the alley as the pearch for the missing Vuican
continued, '

Behind him he hesrd McCoy talking, then the hum of the
transporter. A moment later, McCoy Jjoined him.

"I've sent the bodies up to the ship," he said. "I don't think
there’s any naed for an autopsy. The cause of death is self-
svident.” He fell silent again as he watched the rubbish being
shifted.

Even before it had =all been moved, it was clear that Spock was
not hidden there.

Kirk ordered the segarch extended agaln, not sure whether the
lack of a Vulcan body was good news or bad. Then he turned and began
to make his way back towards the Governor's office. Dorcas should at
least be informed of this development.

Ag he went, he noticed that the area was strangely guilet.
Surely there should be someone at work? Even though the mlines weare
apparently working at less than half capacity, there should be some
ore to grade and then move to storage.

He rounded a corner, to see a group of four or flve men
loeitering in the roadway shead of him. Pespilite his belief that there
should be spome work to do, there seemed to be no reason for thelr
rresence, and he felt uneasy, not liking the look of them; there was
an alr of watchfulness about then. He slmost hesitated for a moment,
almost turned back, then changed his mind and strode onwards. There
was no reason to feel nervous; hadn't he just been thinking that
there must be some work for the non-mining men of the colony to do?
If they were not working, it must be because, in the present
uncertaln eaconomic climeste of Thorsten, they were unemployed and
merely looking for some way to pass & few hours, and possibly
ragardad him with some hostility as 8 representative of the
Federation which had so far failled to produce a solutlon to the
problems the planet was {facing. They might have 1t in their minds to
rough him up & bit, but 1if they did try to start somethling, he was
confident that hisg tralning would ensable him t0o defend himself
without any great effort.

Hae watched them surreptitliously as he walked briskly towards
them, alert for any hostile move,

He had almost reached them when something heavy landed on his
head, and he collapsed.

Kirk regained consciousness to the awareness of a thraobbing
headache. He opened reluctant eyes, and closed them again hurriledly
ag the dim electric light hurt them. He lay for some moments, hoping
that the throbbing in his head would ease, but it remained
obstinately severs, preventing him from thinking clesrly.

At last he opened his eyes agaln, very csauticusliy, and glanced
round the small, filthy and - he now realired - really very dimly lit
room, moeving his head carefully to avoid asggravating the ache,.

He forgot about it, however, when he saw the man who was sitting
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beside him, apparently gusrding him. He pushed himssl® uprilght,
grinning foolieshly.

"SIpooki™

Hig First Qfflicer locked blankly, unrecognisingly, at him, It
was guite clear that the nams meant nothing to him.

When 8pock, with Tadden and Donnelly, ieft Kirk they hsaded
stralght for the storags area. They soon left the mine offices and
entered an ares which bore a2 slum-like appearance, unlikely though
that seemed in 2 colony a8 recent ag this one. It zeemed more like
pert of an ancilent colty, hundr=sds of yvesvrs old, decreplt and
desperate for renovation.

The place had an unsavoury atmosphere and aven Spock glanced
round uneaslily as they made thelr ecsuticus way through lneressingly
litter-strewn streets, paest the grading sheds to the onaes where the
graded ore was storad.

As he looked round, 1t speemed to the Vulcan that the area had
been designed for maximum inconvenienca. The sheds were an awkward
glze, too big to bhe teotally =fflclient yet, at the same time, neot bilg
ancugh; fully stocksed, each would hold too much for one freighter but
nat encugh for two. The etreets bstween them were too narrow for
patfety, to0o; should fire break out in one ©of the sheds the streetg
would be useleass as flrebresks. The sntire area would go up llke
tinder.

Ha knew thst the ore was taken to be graded, then to store, in
wheeled transport; he would have thought that the streets were too
narrow for any wheeled vehlicle to negotiate easlily. Cartainly it
would bes impossible for two such vehicles to pass.

Spock led the way round & corner, and stopped.

A truck, long but narrow, was drawn up at the entrance of one of
the sheds; several men were busy, loading it with what had to be some
of the meagre ptock of ore that was Iin storage. Altheough they had
been told that one was not expected for other week, a freighter must
have arrived unexpectadly.

And vet... He had just left Dorcas, and 1f anyone wag told that
a8 freightery had arrvived, 1t should have been Dorcas. These men had
obviocusly been working for sBome time. In addition there was
something about them —~ a furtive guality that sttracted Spock's
attention. it wer almost as 1f what they were doing was not
official.

"What are they doling. gir?" Tadden asked softly. "Nobody saild

anything sbout ore belng moved.!

"1 know, Lieutenant. I believe that wa should check this with
Mr., Dorcas.®

He had his communicator half out when they wsre jumped from
bahind. Three iron bars were brought down aimost gimultanesously.
The two Humens collapsed, both killed instently; Spock siumped to the
ground, unconsolous.

One of the sttackers growled, "Good work, Mason, Drem," a2 he
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bant to examine the three bodies.

"Thege two are finished -~ shove them somewhere out of the way
whare they won't be found too guickly. Bring the Vulcan along - he
could be a useful hostage.?" He stralghtened. "Looks like cur time
here has about run out,. That basgtard Dorcag was bad encough, noseying
in where he wasn't wanted, but now that he's called Starfleet in...
8till, we'wve done pretty well; this goose has been pretty well
rlucked for the moment. It's about time to move on. We'll get as
much away as we can while the boys in red are running round loaking
for their pals then if we have any trouble getting away curselveas we
can use buster hers a8 & levaer.®

*Why not Just kill him now, Bosa?" the man called Mason asked

uneasily. "Yulcans have good memories; he’'ll remember our faces -
"Mapon, a dead hostage 1s a useless hostage. We need to keep
him alive until we get away., After that,.. Well, I never sald we

ware going to let him go after wa get off planet, did I%"

When the Vulcan regeined consciousness and struggled into a
gitting posltion it wes to £ind himself in a gloomy, dirty rocom with
three masked, armed men glaring at him. He blinked at them,
confused.

"Your name?" one of them snapped.

"I..." He shook his head, puzeled. "I don't remember."

"What is Dorcas planning®" There was impatience in the rough
voice.,

Spock consldered the question. "I don't know what you're

talking about,” he sald at lasat. "Who's Dorcase"

"I knew it was a waste of time bringing him here,"” muttered one

of the other two. "Kill him now.®
"No." The first speaker held up hisg hand. "Vulecans do not lie,
aven when it would be to thelr advsntage to do so."™ He turned hils

attention back to Spock. Reaching out, he twisted Spock's head round
to face the light, net btethering to be gentle; he peeraed into Spock's
ayes. HCan you remember anything?% he asked, a calculating note in
his voice.

Spock looked at him. "No," he sald at last, "Who am 1?7 And...

who are you?" Even lacking his memory, instinct told him that he did
not know these man.

The man glancad at the other two. "He's lost his memory."™ He
stated the obvious wlth & gloating satlisfaction. "That could be...

very. .. ugseful.” He thought for s minute, then addresgsed Spock
agalin.

"Your name 1s Vulcan,™ he said. "Now listen; you were attacked
by & government agent, for no reason except cruelty. The goveyrnment
of this colony is corrupt, and we're trying to do something about
it. You could help ug. Will you help us? We found you lying
uncongelious where you had been left by your attacker. We brought you
here to tend your hurts. In return, will you help us to destroy this
evil government and put s new one into power?"
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Spock continued to look at him; his worde were oddly at variance
wlth his facial expression and sven the tone of his volce; somewhere
deep in the Vulesn's mind a question tried to formulate itself, but
his head ached too much; thinking was g0 much of an effort that it
wag eagler not to think.

He could only take the words at thely face value. There wasg,
after all, no logic in lying.

"vgs," he sald. He hesitated. "What will T call you?'"

"My name 1s... Onse. That 18... Two; and this other friend is
Three." The Vulcen would never be able to tell the three of them
apart anyway ag long as they kept thelr masks on. (In fact, he

could, for thelyr heights were different.) HRast now. We'll bring in
some food shortly.?

He went out, followed by his two men, leaving Spock alone.

are you #8ur® this 18 safe?" asked Mason, the man desighated as
Two .

"of course 1t 11" laughed One. "Wa've got him convinced
already. Think of it - Vulcans are very strong. With a tamed one to
help us load up we'll get double the stuff away in the time we have
lert. The idiots from Starfleet will be too buasy looking for their
missing pals to bothear ambout the missing ore - we'll Just have to
make sure we take ore on 1lts way from the mines rather than after
it's graded. It's a pity, becauge we'll get a proportion of
low-grade ore among it. 8tiill, even low-grade titanium ore 1s falirly
valuable, and we'll probably be able to gell it to some hick planet
that doesn't know the difference till they start to work 1t."

"And what 1f the Vulcan regsalins his memory?" Mason ingisted.

"Mason, you're a worrier,'™ the third man said.

"Too right, I ami? Mason admitted. "It's kept me alive, too,
Prem, and cut of a rehabilitation centre. i'm happy with myseaelf the
way I am. I don't want any shrink poking arcund inside my skull

telling me what a bad hoy I am and how 1'1i1l need to change my ways."

"1 don't think there's much risk, and I do think it's worth what
risk there 18," One gald decisivaely. "Romember - while they're

looking for him in the lest place he was known to be, they won'it be
looking for us.,®

what Spock had chanced upon wag the theft of titanium ore.

With the srrivel of Governcor Dorcas, the man who had introduced
himself to Spock ap One had guickly realised that their days of
carefree larceny on Thorsten were numbsred.

He was not particularly upset. Pegplite the impression that he
had carefully given his men, he had been aware for some months that
1t wag only a metter of time before the insfflicient Masters was
replaced by somecons wlth more drive; indeed, if anything he was
surprlased that the replacement had not emrrvrived earlier.

dreed, bhowever, had persuaded him to continue gathering the
titanium ore for aes long asp popsible and even to extend the range of
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his activities. Where they had originaily done nothing but rald the
gtocks of ore at the grading sheds, dn the last ftwo or three weeks he
had taken advantage of the total lack of morale in the colony to

remove much of the ore that had gone inte gtorage to awalt transport,

The interruption they had receaivad when Spock and his men had
appeared had caused the gang to retreat with their truck not quite
half full, One wan determined to make up that half truckful and - 1f
possible - cecllect still another truckful of ore.

The next day saw the gang joining the ore itrucks being loaded at
the mines, quietly adding their truck to the line of vehicles being
loaded.

"This is the smource of the government's power," One told Spock.
"They have a monopoly, and sell 1t at an inflated price. We plan to
sell 1t at & proper price and use the money to help undermine the
tyrantg. "

Spock accepted what he was told. The half thought that had
bagun to formulate had gone, apparently beyond recall. He found it
eaglest to accept what he was told.

He spent most of the day helping to load ore into a truck, and
when it was full and driven away helping to load another, only half
awarae that he was working harder than any of the other men. He was
very tired whaen at last the work was finished and he was taken back
to the dingy little room that was, apparently, home. He was only
half aware of the sound of the door being locked.

His head still ached, and when he lay down on the heap of gacks
that was the only posgsible bed, he discoversed that there was a
painful place on the back of it. The aching made it difficult to
concentrate, and he felt guite 111.

He could remember very llttle, even of what he had been dolng
during the day. One half memory did remain; he thought he remembered
One saying that they would tend his hurts, but no-one had done so.
And at the back of his mind wasg a gtrengely empty faeeling, =s if
gsomething that should be there was missing - but he had no idea as to
what 1t could possibly be.

Ag it happened, Bpock was glven very little time to rest.
Barely fiftesn minutes had papsed when he heard the grating sound of
the key turning and the door opened agsein to admit One, closely
followed by Three, who was carryling ah unconscious man giung over one
shoulder. Spock sorambled to his feat; Three strode over to the
sacking bed and dropped hilis burden ungently onto it.

"Speclal job for you, Vulcan,'" One sald, a note in his voice
gpeaking of some emotion that Spock was completely unable to
identify. "rhis 1s & government spy we've Just captured. He has to
be guarded. He's unconscious Jjust now, but even when he comea round
he phouldn't give you any itrouble, If by any chance he does... kill
him., "

vrille" Something in the empty mind rejected the order.
"Hemaember that government men tried to kill you, Kemeambeaer that

the government 1ie composed of corrupt men. We'd like him slive for
the moment tao get Informetlion of the government's plansg out of him,
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but 1t's not vital; you'll be doing the sountry 8 service if vou do
kill him. ¥

One and Thres left., =and S8pock hesrd the lock grating ag the kay
was turned agaln, securing the door. This time 1t registered.

Why are bthey locking ms 4n? he wondered, dimly but without any
real interest, as he gank back onto the macking bed. He looked down
at the unconsclous man wilthout recognition, but somehow liking the
look of the prisoney. He would not want to kill this man.

With a mental effort that left him shaking, Spock decided that
the man did not loeok like the representative of anything corrupt.
And... he &lso had hurt his head. it gave Spock a strange spympathy
for  the prisoner as he reachsd out and touched the cut on the
uncongcious man's hesad very gently, remembering the still untreated
injury on the back of hisg own head. Wag this what his head injury
looked likae? An opesn cut, with the brownisgh-red of dried blood
surrounding 1it?

Then the captive's eyes opened, and shut again guickly. Spock
found himpelf sympathising. The prisoner also must have an aching
head from the blow that caused that cut.

After a few moments, the man'’s eyes opened again, slowly and
carefully, He looked round,

"Spock!?” he sald.

But the sound meant nothing te the Vulcan.

Kirk looked thoughtfully at his Firast Officer. Thig, then, was
the answer to one guesgtion; something had happened to make Spack
forget who and what he was. But what? For a moment he wished McCoy
was there; then, remesmbering the possible danger of his pesition, he
was glad that the doctor was safe,.

"Spock," he asaid mgein, his voice gentle, sgoothing. "Don't you
rememnber me at all? Jim Kilrk - your Capteiln. Your friend."

He began to sit up, to be stopped by the more than usually
impersonal note in the other's volce as he said, "You will remain
gtill, tyrant, or - 9

"Tyrant?"™ Kirk exclaimed, surprise makling him speak louder than
he had Intended, and winced as his own volce made hig aching head
pound. He notliced the Vulcan'’s eyes closing momentarily as an
invoiuntary spasm of pain flickered across his face.

Peain? What on earth had heappened to Spock that he would show
pain s0 openly?

But Bpock was looking at him once agaln with that cold, almost
threatening, expression that forbade liberties; a hostlle stranger.

Fighting the throbbing in his head, Kirk began to spesk. He
spohke of the past; of the yesars that they had been together. He
Bpoke of the dangere they had faced side by side, of work they had
done together. Spock listened, his face s3till expressionless, never
taking his eyes off Kirk's face,
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No memories stirred in the injured mind... but the veoice was
kind and gentle -~ so much more pleasant to hear than the rough, harsh
voices of One and his men. He felt that he wanted to trust this
man. .. but government men had injured him, and this was a government
man. .. If only he could think!

Kirk's voice eventually faltered to a stop. This wag getting
him nowhere.

He cloged his eyes agaln in a futile attempt to ease the
pounding in his head while he wondered what else he could do to reach
his friend. At laspt, without opening hies eyes, he said, "3pock, what
are you trying to accomplish here? You and these others?™

"We geeak,..." Spock hegilitated as he fought to remember the lies
Cne had fed to him. "We seek the downfall of a corrupt government,"
he managed at last. Kirk's eyes opened abruptly a2t that. "ITts

supporters are wicked men who must be stopped before esveryone is
desgtroyed. ™

"Iit's the men you're with who are wicked," Kirk protested. "The
government is dolng the best it can for everyone in spite of the
selfish actions of these men here."”

"You insult my friends, tyrant." The words came automatically,
but to Kirk's ears Spock's volce somehow lacked conviction.

"Ar® thay your friends?" Kirk asked, speaking more gently.
"What are you getting out of all this? Anything? What are they
giving you for your efforts? What will your reward be? Have they
ever sasld?"™

Spock frowned. "I want nothing," he sald. "Tt 15 enough for
right to defeat tyranny."%

“"Can you be sure that right will detreat tyranny?" Kirk asked,.
"Do you — ¢an you - trust them all? How much do you Know about them,
Spock? How wall do you remember them?" '

Spock looked puzzled. "I..." He hesltated for a long time. At
last, he saild slowly, "I know nothing about them. But they have been
good to me; they brought me here te tend the hurts that a government
agent gave to me, and they heve sheltered me..."

"Can you remamber that a government agent hurt you?"

A long pause, ""Na. But why should they lie to me?” An enemy
must have hurt me, and only friends would help me. That ig...
loglcal. ™

"Yes, that would smeem to be logical," Kirk agreed. "But Spock,
Humans sre often not particularly loglcal. Humans are among the
galaxy's greatest opportunists. Suppoge they hurt you thempelveg -
and when you they discovered that you couldn't remember, pretended
that it was someons else who hurt you, in order to gain your
confildence. You're very strong, Spock. Have they used your
strength?"

Slowly, Spock nodded.

*Asked you to do more than your share of work, and you stilil
recovering from an inJurye"
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Spock nodded again.
"Would friends ask that of you?" Kirk's voice was very gentle.

There was ancother long silence while Spock struggled to make his
rebellious brain consider the question.

"No," he sald at last.
"I wouldn't ask 1t of you,"™ Kirk said softly.

Spock tried to consider Kirk's statement, confused by the
conflicting 'facts® he had been given sinve he regained conscilousness
to a world in which there was no past.

At last, remembering the long monologue of we went... we did...
that the captive has glven him, he asgked, "Who are you?"

"Bafore you were hurt, you knew me well, I'm Jim Kirk. You are
ona of my closest frlends, Spock - indeed, you are my closest
friend. And as your friend, I think that you have not recovered from
being hurt. You should be lying down, resting."

He reached over to put a gentle hand on Spock's arm. The Vulcan
stiffened suspiliciocously, and Kirk remained very still. Spock relaxed
slightly.

The Human was irresistably reminded of a dog he had once owned,
when he was still a boy. It had been a stray, and very nervous; 1t
had taken s great deal of convineing that nobody would hurt it. But,
its confidence once galned, 1t had been so friendly...

He waited, lgnoring the throbbing beat inslde his head, until
Spock was completely relaxed once more.

"Spock, ™ he sald as gently as he could, "will you let me - your
friend -~ look at your injury?"

He wailted, hardly daring to breathe. He could tell that he had
made Epock start thinking, had made him a little suspiclicocus of the
maen who held them. He sensged that Spock wanted to trust him, yet was
Bo convinced by the lies he had been told that he was afraid to trust
his own 1nstincts.

After a moment, he smiled at the Vulcan, allowing the very real
affection he felt to show cleariy.

Spock continued to hesitate for what seemed an age, then he
grasped Kirk's right hand and held it firmly.

"You may look."™ Ha turned his head.

With his left hand, Kirk carefully moved aside the blood-matted
hair, gtruggling to forus wlith syes that he now realised were
persisting in trying to ses doubls.

The wound looked nasty, swollen and inflamed. Kirk falt round
it carefully with gentle fingers. He wap very aware that the limited
training in first ald glven to all Starfleet persconnel wag completely
inadeguate to permit him to do anything useful for this ingury.

"Bones should see this," he gald. "It needep skilled attentlon.
It must be very palnful?" His tone made it a question.



96
yYag," Spock admitted. "and my head aches."

Kirk nodded slightiy, although Spock couldn't see the gesture,
and, slightly cliumsily because he was using only his left hand,
pressed the sides of the wound more firmly. A fair amount of
unpleasantly-coloured pur ocozed from the cut, and 3pock drew in his
breath with a gasp of pain,

"Sorry," Kirk said. 1t was cobviocous now that Spock had forgotten
even pain control along with sverything else. "Tg there any water?"

Spock had not thought about water since his capture. Evean
injured, his desert-born metabollsm required very little ligquid, "I
don't think so."

Startled, Kirk asked, "Didn't they give you anything to drink?"

"NO. "
Sugpilcicon flared. "What have ypou had to eat?"

Spock had not thought about eating either - the food promised
him the day before had not appeared - but even wilithout memory,
ingtinet had controlled him,. Tha body of a Vulcan who was sick or
injured normally rejected food until he had had the copportunity to
initiate a healing trance. "I have not been hungry."

"That isn't an anawer, Spock. Have they giliven you any food?!
HN(). "

Kirk'g lips set 1in an angry line. He kept the anger from his
volce however asg he said, "I cant't really do anything to clean this
cut up without water." He pressped the swollen sides of the gash
again, and more pus ocozed from it.

"Let my hand go, Spock, I need to tear my shilirt to get some
cloth to mop this up."

Spock hegitated for a moment, then obayed. Kirk began to worry
at the hem of his shirt, mentally swearing st the obatinacy ©f the
material ams 1t refused to tear. His shirts usually tore far too
easily, according to Stores,.

And then he hesasrd the familisr hum of the transporter.

Ag they materialised on the transporter pad, still in a slitting

position, Spock swung round. "Where are we?'" Then he regilstered the
presence of two phaser-armed security guards as well as two other
men. Anger on his face, he reached out for Kirk's neck. "Where., . .?
Traitor! You tricked me nicely, tyrant, with your false words of
friendsghilp. But you won't fool me againt!"

Kirk grabbed at his arms, desperately holding him off, grateful
- in spite of his concern for his friend - that Spock seemed t¢ have
been sllightly weakened by hig injury. MclCoy leaped forward, waving
the pecurity men back, A hypro hissed; Spock Bwayed and fell forward
against Kirk, who broke hls fell, steadying him with gentle hands,

"What caused that?" Mce(Coy askad. "Oh, my God!"™ He groped for
hip Beanner and checked the Vulcan's head Iinjury.
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"He seems to have lost his memory, " Kirk explalned,

McCoy grunted and glanced towards the control console, "Seotty,
call sickbay for a medical trolley.¥ He looked back at Kirk. "What
about you, Jim?"

"I*1i do. Just give me pomething feor a headache, and -~ '

"lLiay," McCoy cvommentad without heat. "If you have a headache,
you won't ‘dot. Just how did you gt your headache, anyway? To say

nothing of that gash." He turned the scanner onto Kirk,

fWell..." Kirk hgsitated, unwillling to let anyone know how
easily he had been caught.

"Somacone clouted you over the head, rightev

#I... I think so."

"I think s0," McCoy growled as he checked the reading,. "iim,
you don't get concussion by accident. You only get concussion
courtesy of a blow on the head -~ ¥

"Which oould have been an accident," Kirk offered in a very
small volce, well aware that the doctor couldn't be fooled. "y

didn't see anyona.™

"Don't try playing woxrd games, Jim," McCoy mald,. "Tadden and
Ponnelly are dead because someone c¢louted them over the head with
more force than was needed Just to kKnock them out. You could have

been lying there dead too and then we'd be reporting in for a new
Captain.®

“"Yap, [ know," Kirk said quietly. "Sorry, Boner - I was Just...
Jugt. ..M

"Jim, the only wey to keep me from worrying about you 1is to make
sure that I've nothing to worry about," McCoy sald bluntly.

Kirk liocooked at him, hesitated, then saild, "How did you find ua?"

"It'as planet morning, not gulte dawn. The magnetic interference
i at ites lowest." He glanced over at the Chief Engineer. "Scotty
tried looking for VYVulcan readings - got ‘em without too much bother,
too. So we Just beamed Spock up along with the Human who was with
him. We had sxpscted i1t to be one of the pecple who were raesponsible
for his disappearance; 1t was sheer good luck that it happensd to be
you,"

The door swished open and an cgrderly hurriad 1in, pushing a
trolley. McCoy helped him to 1ift S8pock onto it.

*Right, Abrams. I'11 be right behind you.®

"Yag, Doctor.” Abrams left as qulickly as was consistant with
giving the patient a swoceth rids.

"You, too, Captaln."” McCoy offered Kirk his arm, "It1ll spare
you the indlgnity of & ride, but you need time in sickbay."

Y"Bones, we've got to let Doreas know -~ 9

"I'1l saee to that once you'wre in bed," McCoy told him firmly.
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"You can f£111 me in as we go."

"Not that I do Know much," Kirk sald ruefully as McCoy steered
him towards the door. He called back, "Well done, Scotty," as the
door ocpened, continuing as it swished shut behind them. "Ag far as I
can make out, once the mesn who captured Spock discovered that he had
lost his memory, they spun him a tale about a corrupt government,
that they'd rescued him when he was hurt. I'd just begun to convince
him that they were no friends of his sand that he could trust me when
you beamed us out." He shruggaed. "“"Now he sgems to think I've...
well, kidnapped him, wouldn't you say?” He shrugged. "At the pame
time, I don't fault Scotty for beaming us out, Spock's rather
degperately in need of medical ettention.”

"So is Captain James T. Kirk," MeCoy told him bluntly.

"Just close the cut and give me something for the headache,
Bones - ©

"Uh~uh. No way. You don't fool with concussion, Jim. "

They turned into sickbay and McCoy gestured Kirk onto the
examination table. With a resigned sigh, Kirk tock his place on 1t.
MeCoy checked the cut with gentle hands, asnd Kirk winced.

"38till say 1t'11l do?" McCoy growled. Without waiting for an
angwey, he cloused the cut.

"Spock'™s worse hurt than I am," Kirk protested with a worrlied
glance at the bed where Abrams, helped by Nurse Chapel, was sgsettling
Spock.

"pon't try to sidetrack me," Mcloy growled. iy I attend to you
first while Chapel's getting Spock into bed and c¢leaned up a bit
that'll get you out of the way; then I'll be free to concentrate on
trying to re-wire the circuits that that Vulcan computer calls a
brain. Now - how bad 1is your headache?"

Kirk hesitated, then sgettled for the truth. "Pretty bada."

"I wouldn't have belleved you if you'd maid anything elege,™
MeCoy commented drily.

"Give me something for 1t?" Kirk asked. "Pleage?"
"Sorry, Jim. I can't glve you any mesdication; not with
concussion. You should know that,"”

Kirk meade a face, but he did know that McCoy was right. The
doctor watched as the Capteln, realislng that he was not going to
fool hies friend about his condition, closed his eyes. Mceloy nodded
to himself, seeing in Kirk's behaviour a clear indication of how bad
he really felt. He couldn't let Klirk sleep properly - but he eoould
let Lilm snateh a brlef nap.

He stood looking down at Kirk for a moment longer before he
turned to the bed where Spock was lying. Hearing the sound of
MceCoy's feet moving awasy, Kirk opened his eyes and watched him,
allowing himselilf to relsx now that McCoy was attending to Spock. His
only real worry now was hig First Officer's memory - or rather, lack
of one. If the Vulcan did not ragalin hisg memory, his career in
Ztarfleet was finlshed... but 8t least he was alive.
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That'a... something, he reflected as hilis face twigted in grief.
If Spock never regalned his memory, Kirk would miss him, and miss him
badly, both perascnally and profeaglionally. But at least he would
know that SBpock was alive,

Without realising it, he drilfted inte sleep.

He was wakened about half an hour later. He looked up, seeing
McCoy's face peering down at him, and cloped hilis eyes again. 1t
seamed that he was nho sconer asleepr than he was wakened again... and
again... and again,

Finally, he woke more fully, to the realisation that the
pounding in his heasd was fractionally less. He tried to sit up,
realising that he should bsam down to see Dorcas. The mement he
moved, howevear, McCoy, who was atudying his readings, pounced.

"and where do you think you're going?" he demanded.

"I forgot - I have to report to Dorces - ®

"Not in person you don't," MoCoy told him. "Not tonight. Come
to that, you can't report to him at all yet.®

"wWhat do you mean?®
"Forgotten the svening loss of communication?®
"Evening?"

"yYyou'tve catnapped all day, Jim. Communications are at their
worst right now."

"Oh." He glancad across to the other bed. "Spocket

“"Ha's come round, but he's hogtlle. I've had to use security
restraintsa. It hasn't helped encourage him to trust us.”

"No, I suppose it hasn’t. Is he conscious now?"

McCoy shook hils head, "I sedated him an hour or s0 ago,. Not

that he was vioclent opr anything like that, but he was obviocusly
agitated and he neads to rest."

"His head injury??

"There's no fracture, for what that's worth, and we've got the
cut cleaned up. There warp & Bllght infection, but that's deait with
too. There's no obvicous presgaure on the brain to cause the amnesia,
go... dammilt, Jim, there's nothing else I can doti"

“"Has he sald much?"

""Nothing that made sense. Just rambled on about corrupt
governments having to be stopped. What you said he'd been told."

"M, I thought I'd got through to him, persuaded him that the

men who told him that weren't to be trusted; cobviously I didn't."™ He
fell silent again, glad that his mind seemed to be working again - at
at least fifty percent aefficiency. "When you beamed us up, Scotty

didn*'t think to send a sescurity detachment to where we'd been found?™
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“"Ygs, he did, a3 it happens. When you didn't give any orders
about it, sven he guessed you wsre in & worsea state than you were
admitting and that 1t was up to him to do something. It was just an
empty building, & few scraps of fuprniture in one or two of the rooms
and no sign that anyone was making 1t sny sort of bage.®

"rFigures. Keep the prisoners awsy from thelr real base,
someplace that could ba abandoned at & moment's notice. Did he tell
Dorcas we'd been found?®

"I think sco - you dld say Bomething about letting Dorcas know
before I got you off to silckbay.”

"Yes, I remember. SBones, how long was I missing?"

"Best part of a day snd s half."

Kirk thought about that for a moment. "I must have been
unconscious for guite a while,"™ hea admitted. "Tha room we were in
didn't have any windows - at leapt, they'd been boarded over - and we

were in srtificial lilght. But I'd have sald - guessed ~ that 1 was
only there for two or three hours.®

He yawned, already bored with his sojourn in sickbay. "Any
chance of releasing me to my quarteara?"

"NO. "
"Pigage, Boneg - 1'11 behave, 1 promise - "

"Iim, I*ve heard that before,. You go off with perfectly good
intentions, but someone sgees you going into your cabin, the grapevine
gets to work, and half an hour later you're being contacted because
there's some sort of emergency. And because 1it's an emergency, you
forget you're off duty, forget you've promised to take things easy,
and you're diving straight in to whatever crisis has developed.
Righten

"Wall..." Honesty wouldn't let Kirk deny the charge, slightly
axaggerated though 1t was.

McCoy grinned at him, Yiry to get some sleep. Proper sleep
this time."

"More sleep?”™ Kirk asked, a note of disbelief Iin his voice.

"The more you sleep the gquicker you'll get better," Mcloy told
him, then turned and moved back to Spock. He studled the readings on
the diagnostic panel thoughtfully, before continuing, "On the other
hand, I don't Bese any reason why Spock can't be moved to his
gquarters, a8 long we we leave pgomecone with him. Chris Chapel, 1
think - he won't have any reason to distrust a woman. The famililar
surroundings might do somethling for his memory."

"But he was belted over the head too!?” Kirk protested. "He's
lopt his memory! Surely he needs to be kept monitored?"

"Chrigtine can de that with a medical tricorder. The blggest
Problem was the lack of lmmediate attention,. That made the head
injury seem worse than 1t actually is."

Kirk leokad unconvinced, but McCoy ignored him. He punched his
intercom. "Abrams! Chapeil"



101

The orderly hurried in. "Yeap, Dogtor?”™ he was asking as Chapel
followed him through the doop.

"l want a trolley. We're taking Mr. Spock to hisg own cabin.®

Abrams hurried cut again. "Nurse, goet a medical tricorder; Keep him
monitored. I'1l Bend 1in & relief in & couple of hours."
"Yea, Doctor," Bhe gald as Abrams wheeled in a med trolliey.

McCoy helped Abrams to 1lift Spock onto the trelley while she
collected a tricorder; then she followed Abrams out,

MceCoy psused, lookling down at Kirk. "Going to sleep, or do you
want a sedative?"

"I1'11l sleep, I'1ll sleepi!’ Kirk assured him, closing his eyes.
He gave the Captaln one last suspicious glare, and left haptily, half
running to catceh up with Chapel and Abrams.

Kirk waited until he heard the doors swish shut, and opened his
eyes agaln, wishing that it was possible to read his own diagnostic
panel accurately from s sitting posgition, or even lying wilith his head
to the foot of the bed.

How doeg Boneg think I can poasibly gsleep with all this going
on? he thought drritably.

It seemed guite clear that the difficulties on Thorasten were the
result of a deliberate campalgn; but just what was the motive? Was
it in fact political, as Spock had been told, or had the criminalis
meraly plcked on a 'reason' that they guessed the logical Vulcan
would accept wilithout guestion?

No; 1t could hardly be polilitical. No demands of any sort had

heen made. Polltical agltators were ugually very vocal about the
"improvements' they wanted. Usually all that that meant was 'l - or
my leader - should be the bossg rather than you',

The miners sald that production was still as high as 1t had ever
been; the amount of ore in siorage was low.

o ~ Bomeone must be gstealing ore, How they managed to steal it
without having been noticed was ohe inystery. How they got 1t off
planet wag snother, for he would have expected an unauthorised ship
to be detected.

Lid that mean - ootld that mean - that the leader of the thieves
wag an offlicial here? Someone who could suppress a raport...

Who 1in the Governor's office might that be? He acqultied
Masters and Dorces, 1if only becamuse the thefts spanned the terms in
office of both men. It might be possible to clear some of them the
Gaverncor's heads of department for the same reason, but it still left
pevaral of them as suspect.

His eyes felt tired, and he closed them. Almost at once he fell
aglaeep.

McCoy returned s feaw minutes later. He strode 1ln, saying
cheerfully, "Well, that’'s got Spoek - "

He broke off as he realised that Kirk wag asleep. He moved
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gulietly to his desk, and sat, starting to bring his notes up to date.

Time passed. MaCoy finished updating hls notes and began to
raead through hisg latest medical journsal. After a8 while he left hia
desk, moved to chack Kirk's readings, and, patisfied, returned to his
saeat again. He immersed himself once more in a report on new
vacclines.

The intercom bleeped, and he flicked 1t open.

"McCoy here.®™

"Kyle, doctor." He sounded slightly groggy. "Mr, Spock beamed
down a few minutes ago - and he took Nurse Chapel with him. He
knocked me out when I tried to ¢all security.”

McCoy mutteraed & near-silent curse as he made a quick check of
the time. ¥Yes, encough time had passed for the interference to have

diminished to a safe lavel. "Do you have his co-ordinatea?®

"Itva got the co-ordinates he beamed down to, but he's not there
now; he's moved away.'"

"A1l right, Kyle - I'l1ll get the bridge smsensors on to tracing
him." He flicked the switch sgaln. "MceCoy to bridge.”

"Bridge. Scott here."”

"Seotty, Spock's managed to beam down to Thorsten with Chapel.
Can you plek up his readinga?®

"No problem, Leonard.™

McCoy cliosed the channsel and rose, crossging to collect a hypo.
"Bones? I heard that."

McCoy paused beslde his patient. "We'll soon pick him up, Jim -

and just as soon as we do, I'11l get him sedated. Then I'1l pring him
back here and this time 1711 keep him under restralnts.t®

"1'm coming with you." Kirk sat up.

"No you're not. Your place 1s in hed - %

"Bones, one of my ¢rew g injured. He might cauBe Iinjury to
another member of the crew. I'va got to go downt I'm the Captaln -
1t's my regponsgiblility.” He gave a wry smile. "You Know perfectly
well that Komack won't accept 'ingdured' as a valid reason net to go
down under those circumstances - at least, not without a far more

seriocus injury then I've got."
"Jim, you daon't play with concussion.™
"Telil that to Komack."

McCoy Knew perfectly well that Kirk was quoting higher authority
simply to overrule the mediecal authoriity that would otherwise have
been used to keep him on the ship.

"Jim, that's cheating." But he surrendered. Concussion alone
wasg not in fact serious encough for him to pull medical rank on the
Captain; if they had been in routine flight, he would indeed have
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released Kirk to his cabin.

Kirk dressed quickly and the two men made thelr way to the
transporter room. Once there, Kirk called the bridge.

"Seotty? Any word on 3pock?Y

"Yog, wae've got him, Captain. There are a dozen or 5o Human
readings with him, though. They're moving."”

"Right. Feed the ca-ordinates to the transporter. Wa'll follow
on the ground, Kirk to Security.”

"Saourity. Lt. Peden here."

"Iigutenant, I went twenty men for landing party duty, in the
transporter room in two minutes. I think we've found the group that
killed Tadden and Ponnelly."

"Right away, sir."

The men arrived inside the two minutes. Kirk glanced round
them, seeing twa or three faces he remembered from the seapch -
includling @Qulkin.

"Shouldn't some of you men be back to the end aof the duty
roster?” he asked, his eyes fixed on Gulkin.

"Everyone volunteered for extra duty on thisg one, sir,*® Qulkin
toeld him. "We ran up &8 new roster just for it - names out of a hat -
because everyone wanted a crack at whoever killed our men and hurt
Mr. Epock and you."

Kirk looked round at the men. "i... I appreciliate your loyalty,"
he told them, "Now, this is the situation - " He explalined what had
happened asg concisely as possible. "*We want to get those men alive,
and we want to rescue Mr, Spock and Nurse Chapel unhurt, S0 -
phasers on light stun. The 1dea is that we stun everyone in the
ares; be ready to move 1in as goon ag evearyone is unconscious."

"Right, sir," dulkin acknowledged, and headed for the
transporter pads, gesturing to the three nearest guards to join him,
Kirk and McCoy for beam down.

They beamed down a short distance from where Spock's Vulcan
readlings had been detected, and walted untilil the rest of the guards
Joined themnm. As thay waited, McCoy mald softly, "Jim, let Lt, Gulkin
lead thilis one.™

Kirk looked at him. "Bones -~ "

"You don't fool with concusslon, Jim." McCoy was beglinning to
teel Llke a repeat loop recording. "I'd 1et you do 1light duty - very
light duty - 1f you were stlll on the ship, but you're not tit for
anything more than that. You elther let Qulkin lead, or I knock you
cut.”

Kirk stared disbellevingly at the phaser McCoy held,
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"I mean 1t, Jim. We can't afford to lose our Captaln ag well as
our Filpst Officer - and GQulkin 1ig tralned for this sort of
situation. You'lre not. You're good at unarmed combat, but it's not
your Job."™ He saw that Kirk was unconvinced, and added, '"You want to
glve Spock the best chance of surviving thie, don't youe®

Mutely, Kirk nodded.

"Thaen let the trained professlonal fighter lead."

Kirk took a deep breath, and for a moment Mceloy thought that he

was about to object, Instead, he sald guletly, "You're in command,
Lisutenant."”

"Yesy, silir.™ If dulkin was aware of the debate he gave no glgn
of 1t.

Once everyone was down, Qulkin, clutching a tricorder that he
congsulted freguently, gave the signal to advance. The guards fanned
out. Kirk began to move forward, and McCoy grabbed his arm.

l.et them do their Job, Jim."

Inwardly rebellious, Kirk allowed McCoy to hold him back, not
wholly regigned to the slituation but encouraged to accept it by the
renewed throbbing in his head and the sick feeling that had begun to
accompany 1t.

He could still function, but honesty compelled him to admit that
1lf things got much worge, he would find himself completely unable to
do anything with any degree of competence.

He had not had such a severe migraeine for a long time.

The mecurity guards advanced ecautiously, Gulkin's eyes still
fixed on hies tricorder. When the readings told him that the readings
were stationary, he signalled to hie men to spread out and surround
the building that the men they were following had entered - insofaxr
as 1t could be surrocunded, for one slide was attached to the
naighbouring, derelict building. At least, Gulkin assumed 1t to be
deralict, for there were no life readings from i1t.

Moments later his communicator bleeped.
"Gulkin. ™
"all in place at the back, sip."?

"Right." Gulkin paused to examine the building. "How's the
back For windowg?"

"Several at ground level.'

"Split dnto small groupvs and each group take a window. Go in on
my slgnal.™
The communicator bleeped agaln. "andars cutting in. Wae'tre all

set at the slide."

"windowg??
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"Tweo. ™

Wiieses them both: get Iin as fast a3 you ¢an.’™ He glanced at the
men with him, lowaring thes communicator,. *"Chang, Hardy - take the
rlight hand window. Gundorf, Larssen, the left hand one. Prestan,
Bykes, through the door wlith me.™

Without walting for the muttered acknowledgementas, he raised his
communicator again. Al unite - got®

He replaced the communicator on hig belt as he ran forward,
steadying the tricorder with one hand as he went, hig two men at his
heals.

The door openad =asily, and hs found himeelf in a small
hallway. Sevaral doors opzned off it, and a flight of wooden steps
lad upwards. The resadings had indicated that thelr quarry was up
thoge stalrs, and he took them twoe at & time, Preston and Sykes close
behind him. They were half way up when the first of the doors opened
and two mora of his men ran through, to follow them. Before Gulkin
reached the top, the gusrds were all on the stairs, having, by virtue
of entering at different pointes ensured that all the dewnsteirs rooms
were empty and sprasad themgelives out so that they were not getting in
cach other's way as thsy headed up the msteps.

But so many feet on the wooden steps c¢ould not avoid making a
great deal of nolse,. It was inevitabrle that a door on the landing at
the top of the stalr should copen and & man come out.

Sykes gave him no time to flre the phagser that he was holdilng,
Lbut felled him with & gulck burst of the phaser he was holding ready.

Guikin hurdled the collapsing body on hig way intoe the room -
and stopped short. Behind him, the other guards also stopped as they
reglistered the mscene inslde the 1oom.

Spock lay still, accepting the mediceal attentlion that he was
given slmost without interest and certainly without trust. It didqa
regleter that One's arvsitwhille prisoner had been as good as hig word
atrout attending to hilg hurts -~ or at least getting them gsgen to ~ but
he could not forget that the prisonsr had tricked him.

The man whoe fussed over him had =zeemed friendly too, even
concerned, but had ashked nim too maeny questions. Dogctor though he
appeared to be, he had to be a goevernment spy sent to digcover Cne's
rlans. S0 heg pretended to bs more confuged than he really was even
while he mutterad about Ycorrupt governments®” In the taint hope that
the spy could be made to pes the government'’s faults.

He had expected to be kept under strict guard, but no; he had
clearly pucaeeded in foolling them, They took him out of the aresa
where hisg hurits were tended and through several corridors to a falrly
small rceom where they put him toe bed... wlth only a single woman as
guanprdl

Spock could hardiy beliave his good fortune.

It waeg the work of only & momant to slip out of bed while hor
pack was turned and capiture her.

She gaspred as ha caught her arm. YMr. Spock!™ she exclaimed,
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but her voice was weak ag she fought to keep from fainting at the
pain of his grasp on her arm; 1t was clear to her that he had
forgotten hig strength. "You're hurting me!"

He relaxed his grip sllightly. "l want to lesave thig place," he
told her. *tiow do I get back to... to where I came from?"

"T'his i where you came from, Mr. Spock,! she protested.

He lgnored her comment, which made no sense to him. YHow do 1
get beck?™" he rereated,. A faint memory, triggered by the beam-up,
connected. "!{ must... there ig a machine,.."

"You need to go through the transporteyr," Chapel said
reluctantly.

“Take me to 1t."

As he tforced her to the door, Chapel debated the wisdom of
taking him somewhere other than the transporter room, but she could
not guarantee that there would be someone to help her in any gilven
part of the shilp, for though the grapevine would have let the whole
crew know that Spock had been retrleved, only a handful knew of his
condition. In addition, he might have amnesia, but he would remember
1f she tried to lead him directly back to sickbay, and the alternate
route Led past the trangporter room,

N ghe would have to take him to the trangporter room, and
hope that Kyle, who did Know the situation, would be guick enough ta
act when they walked in.

Hee waun't,

Rather, Spock was too gulck for him. Before Kyle could react,
Spocek - nerve plinch forgotten had knocked him out.

He dragged Chapel cover to the control console, and looked down
at the countrols with a puzcled expressilon. It wag clesr fto the Nurse
that he knew he ought to know how these worked, but his memory
refused to co-operate.

"We uge this to travel, do we not?" he asked.

She debated Lying, but realised that 1t wouldn't work. "Yeg."

"It the controls,'™ he told her,

"I'm not terribly sure - " she began.

"You work here. You kKnhow how to et them."

Even Chapel realised thet the logilc was suspect, butl she decilded
not to srgue. She could at least set the controls to take them down

to the surface. Then, a8 ghe depressed the control levers, she gaild,
"Onto the pads, qulckly. ™

spocikh dragged her with him. They head almost no time to wait
hefore the transporter besam took effect.
They rematerislised on the surface c¢lose to the mines. There

wasg a truyck being loaded, supervised by a man that Spock recognised,
by his genersal build, as Onao, The Vulcan promptly orossed tao him,
pulling <vhapel with bim,
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One stared at hilim, snnoyanes on his face.

YI'm sorry, One,” Spock sald. "l was captured by government
aguents. But I've brought back & hostage, ™
One turnad his attention teo Chapel. An amnesliac prisoner was

one thing, but an alert wmembar of Starflest was pomathing else
altogather. He grunied a8 he recognised the medical insignia. A
woman - unlikely to be o doctor, hilis mals-dominant mind declded; a
nurasea, Lhen. But even a woman could bes a dangar to him, for even the
gtupidest of them was llkely to be able to identify him.

Irritably., he gestured to his man. Mason seprambled into the
driver's seat of the truck and began to drive 1t away, while One
pald, '"Come," harshly and began to walk briskly sway. 2ti1l pulling
Chapel, Spock followad him, with the other men clome behind.

One took them tTo an appavently derelict bullding not teo far

from the mines. There had been furnlture in it - onece - but much of
it was now brokean. Oncae ineilde, Spock relemsed Cheapel and turned to
face Une, suddenly apprahensive. There was anh ugly logk on the man's

face, and the Vulean couid not help but compare it with the much
gentler expressions he hsad sean on the fraces of the 'government
agentyg?! from whom he had so recently escaped,

wWag Lt pogsgible that he had made a mistake?

Would a Friend ask that of wou?... I wouldn't ask it of you...

The words sounded faintly in his mind.

Just you lie bthere and rest... The other one, the doctor,
speaking 1in gruff tones that nevertheless had carried - he now
realisgsed - a would-be-hidden caring.

One reached out and gragped Chapel'ts arm roughly. "You've done

well, Vulcan," he seaid, but Spock wap no longer fooled by the felgned
friendliness.

Yes - he had made & mistake.

"Dontt hurt her,"™ he ssald, knowlng that alone he was powerless
to defend her sgainst go many enemlies.

Ona laughsd harshly 8 Chapel tried to pull herself freae. He
twigted her sarm viclously, and she eriled out with the pain.

Spock flung himself forward, but before he could reach One, Drem
snatoched up & broken table leg and gtruck at him with 1t, The blow
landed heavily and Spock crumpled. Chapel triesd to pull free to go
te him, her nurse's instincits roused, but One held her easlly.

It wag then thet the door was flung open and the Enterprise's
securlity men burpt in.

Gulikin took in the siltueation at & glancg even as One hauled
Chapyel roughly in front of him as & shield. He reckoned without

Gulkintg pragmatism ~ oy perhaps he had just forgotten that a phaser
ceould be set to ptun. Gulkin flrad; Chapel went limp in One's grasp
and the continuing stun beam caught the ecriminal. He collapsed, face

down, not quite on Top of Chapel,

HSealng their lseader defsated, the others were duick to
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gurrender. When Kirk and McCoy arrived seconds later, it was to find
everything over.

"Nurse Chapel's Jjust stunned, Doctor," Gulkin reported, "but Mr.
Spock was unconscious when we broke in."

McCoy crossed gquickly to the Vulcan, reaching for hies scanner asp
he went, Kirk close at his heels.

"Boneg?"
"He's been knocked out,...'" MeCoy sounded slightly doubtful.

Klrk swung round to the prisoners, wincing as the sudden
novement Ilntensifled hilis headache. "What happened to him?"

The men locked at sach other doubtfully. Finally, one of them
zald, "He was gouling to attack One. Drem there hit him."

Kirk looked at them 1in disgust and turned back to McCoy. "Get
Spock and Chapel up to the ship, Bones. Gulkin and I will see to
things down here.®

Mci'ny nodded, crossed to Chapel and llifted her over to beslde
dpock, then spoke Into hils communicator. Moments later the three
shimmered away.

Thight,'" Kirk said. "Llieutenant, wa'll take our prisonerg to
Governor Dorcas first - he may recognise some of them. Then wae'll
take them back to the Enterprisge."

"Vvaes, sir."

Kirk indicated the still unconscious figure on the fleoor and
addresped the prisoners. "Two of you carry him." Then, when none of
them mnoved, "You - and you."

The two moved reluctantly, but they moved. A8 they picked up
their leader, Kirk paw his face for the first time,

"Ungeri”" he gapped.

fFfaced with Lorceas, it wasg not long before a gouple of the
prigsoners cracked and told the Governor where the gteolen ove was
hidden. Much of 1t was indeed stilll on-planet, hidden in one of the
worked: cut levels of the mineg; a8 mine manager, Unger had been in
the perfect posltion to know where these levels were. 1t transpired
that he had planned to charter s private ship and use 1t to 1ift the
ore whan he finally decided to leave.

But Kirk was tired, and worried ahout Spock. He pleaded the
after effects of hip concusslon to get away from a grateful Dorcas
and a relleved colony, and returned tg the ship, where the prisoners
had already been taken.

He want stralght to sickbay, worry about Spock keeping him on
his feet. In the turbolift, he leaned against the wall, grateful for
its gupport, and when the 1ift doors opened he sBtared at them for
some moments before he reagistered that he should get out of the
1if¢. In the corridor he paused for a moment to orientate himsel?f,
then sat off, headed for glckbay.
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McCoy glanced round ag he sntered. and moved strailght c.er to
him.

"Jim, you've been doing togo much. Hore - onto this beg,n
Rirk tried to shake his head, and the movemant was too much.

His body finally rebelled and he doubled over a® his gstomach emptied
itself.

His retching had one good effaect; it emsed his headache
cangiliderably. When it finally eased off, he strajightened, feeling
much bhetter.

"Spock?" he ssked as McCoy urged him to the bed.
"Just comling round,” McCoy sssured him,

"Doector? Why am I under resgtraint?" Spock's voilice interrupted
him.

Momentarily forgetting Kirk, McCoy swung round. "Spock! How
are you fealing?"

"I was under the lmpression that you preferred to tell me the
current state of my health,?’ Spock replied.

"Spock," Kirk said. "How much c¢an you remembepry®

"Remaember?" Spock fall silent for a moment. "A lorry being
lLoaded... and then something hit me from behind."

"and that's all?v
"Yes . 7"

"Wall, you've had quite a busy time since then," McCoy told
him. "But now isn't the time to dilscuss it." He loovked from one bed
te the other. "You both need rest - ¥ He broks off, seeing that
Kirk hed alyready fallan ssleap. Ha looked at Spock, and indicated
thelr sleeping Captain. "He's exhausted, Spock. Just take my word
for it ~ everythling's worked out fine. We'll tell you what happened
- in the morning. For now - you'd bhe better of a sleep too."

Spoeck nodded. He lay for a moment sassesgsging his physical
condition. Yas - he dld require rest.

Ohediently, he closed his eyes and allowed himself to sleep.

McCoy looked from one te the other, Then he turned to call an
orderly t¢ clean the #£lcorpr,
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JOURNEY FROM BABEL

Kivhk relaxed for the first time in a2 full fortnight.

For a fortnight he had known the terrible diplomatic straln of
carryling an explosive group of Ambassadors and thelr retinues, and
trying te keep the peace between them. His personal view of their
behaviour was unprintable; the only one who seemed to bshave
according to his status was Rarek ~ and Sarek had spent the major
part of the trip in sickbay. It would have been difficult enocugh 1f
he had been fully f1t, Kirk rellected; but he also spent part of the
Journey in silickbay - though not as long as MceCoy would have liked him
to gpend, 1f he had had his way.

Several factors had combined to force McCoy to release the

Uaptaln from sickbay. The importance of the diplomatic mission, for
ona; 1t was essential that the various Ambassadors did not fully
realise how near thay had all been to extinction, Iin addition, Kirk

felt - and at heart, MclCoy agreed with him - that since Spock and
Sarek had not spoken as father and son for eilghteen years, it would
be only tactful to give them the opportunity to communicate freely,
and privately. 5o McelCoy agreed to lel Kirk leave glckbay after two
days, on contdition that he spent very little time on duty, and a
maximum amount of time in hisg qQuarters, preferably In a horizontal
posltion.

But 1n spite of doing a minimum ©of work, there had been
conslderable gtraln on him. The diplomatlic personnel quarrelled like
children, he reflected, and with ag little real provication. In his
more charitable moments, he gave them credit for belng sensible
people under working conditions, and tried to convince himself that
the petty guarrelling was caused by their reaction to the difficult
condltions under which they worked. In his more irritable moments,
he declded that they were a bunch of undisciplined idiots
masquerading as useful members of socciety.

Aund although he had been taking things easy, 1in accordance with
his promise to McCoy, he was feeling very tired. Maybe he had been
doing too much... axcept that he was sure he hadn't. He had felt all
right... well, reasonably all right... when he had first come out of
glckbay. His back had been scre, eppeclally when he moved unwarily,
but now he felt plain tired. It waps an effort to stand up
stralght,.. come to that, 1t was an effort to $ilt up straight.

Oh, well, the last of the Ambasszadors were on their way down to
Babal now; the ¢rew wag due some leave how. it would be very
pleasant not to have any regponsibllities for a day or two, other
than the routine ones connected with the running of the ghip; and
aveil 3o0... Spock would be back on duty in a couple of days. He would
take a lout of welght off Kirk's shoulders.

Uhura turned from the communlcations congole.
"Mespsage from Starbage 11, Captain.®
"Oh, ne," he thought. "Don't say L6, Don't say they're going

to send us out again already without a break.!' Aloud, he saild, "On
audio, Lieutenant.®
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He was right. They wWere ordered out ageaeln, without a break.
Thay had to make a rapld rendazvous with a survey ship that had found
a supply of a rare dprug much in demand for the treatment of heart
conditions in certain races of the Federation, A Burvey vessel could
not itravel neariy so fast ag & Starship; the Enterprise was apsigned
te plck up the drug and rush it back to Star Base 11,

"Acknowledge, Lieutenant."

He allowed himsaelf to siump down 1In hig seat for a moment. It
would be a8 routine encugh trip., he refiected; no annoying diplomatic
personnal to complicate maetters. No strain. Parhaps he would b=

able to rest,

Ha left Sulu with the con, and made his way Blowly to the rec
room, where he got himself a cup of coffaee. He debated getting
something to eat as well, but decided that he was not hungry.

He was sitting drinking 1t, and wondering just what was wrong
with 1t, when McCoy joined him.

"T've just heard from the Vulcan medicel authorities that Sarek
will definitely be ¢.K., Jim. My experimental surgery was fine -~

even wilith you throwing the ship about like a... a..." he stopped,
looking closely at Kilrk. "Jim, are you feeling all right? You
haven't been overdoing things, have you?”"

"I'm fine, Bones, Just a bit tired; too many diplomats, I
reckon. That ilot would have exhausted a astatue." He yawned. "ltm
thinklng of going to bed now; we've a rendezvous to make, but we
don't leave until morning. How's Spock?"

"Beginning to waonder if you've forgotten he exists," Mceloy said
drily. "I'm letting him out of sickbay tomerrow for restricted
duties, same ag you."

Kirk sighed. "Yes, I supposs I have neglected him recently," he
admitted. "Thoge blasted diplomate... You too, Bones - I could have
found more time to come and gee him 1if you hadn't made me promlse to
spend so much time on my back. And anyway, 1 didn't want to butt
1!’3-"

YAn odd filve minutes wouldn't have been butting in," McCay
pointed out.

"Bones, you agreed with me thet we should glve him ap much tims
ag possible with his fathepr.”

"Yes, I Kknow, but this last couple of dayas 1 got the impression
that he'd have liked to... well.., show you off to his father."

"Show. .. ?"

McCoy nodded. "You'ra hig, Jim. His friend, found without any
parental influence. Unlike hies prospecitive wife, who proved to be so
worthless. Of course he wanted to lLet his father sese the worth of
the friend he found for himself. If I'd had the sense to realise it
quicker, I wouldn®t have let you out of slckbay at all. And don't
say that's a Humsn reaction. Spock's Humen enough to want to do
that, even though he might not ever admit it. He'd come up with a
loglval reason for having you and Sarek soclallsing. But that's his
raml veason, By letting you out, 1 prevented you and Sarek from
seelng much of egpch other; and by sitayling away 8o much, you kept
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Sarek from seelng you. Ch, they both realised you had your duties,
and that you were far from well.,. Sarek Kknows you nearly killed
yourgelf pretending you were all right so that Spock would be free to
give the blood for the operation.”

"Meaning that Spock knows tgeo."

"Come on, Jim, You're locking far too tired. I'm going to sBee
you 1In ked before I leave you. Arg you sure you've been resting
anoughe™

Kirk got up wearily. "Yag, ['ve been resting. I've been

resting untilil it's a wonder 1 haven't put down roots and got stuck to
the bed.”

"Then maybe 1'd better get you back into sickbay for a check."

"RBonaes, give me a brask! It's Just nervous straln from too many
diplomats. ™

"*Sure, Dr. Kirk. I'1ll let it go for tonight, but 1f you're
gtil1l as tired tomorrow, I'm having you back in before you cvan say
"Babel'. 30 take your warning. If you have been overdolng 1it, stop
it now."

He settled Kirk in bed, walted until the Cartain had fallen
asleep then left gquietly,

Kirk woke next morning feeling unrefreshed. Hils back was
aching; his head throbbed. He was having trouble seeling, too
averything was blurred a little, and he definitely had to concentrate
on focussing. In addition, there was a bhumming sound 1n his ears.

He wagp hot, too hot -~ yet he found himself shivering. He had to
force himself to his feet, and once upright, had to hang onto the bed
to keep from falling.

The intercom bleaped for attention. He forced himself over to
it.

"Kirk here."

"Massage for you from Starfleet Command, Captain," Uhura's voilice
came. There was an odd note in her voice, he thought.

"put it through, Lieutenant.

The meppage was brief... he found himpelf unable to assimilate
it properly, aware only of a deep, cutting grief. His mother... 1t
was 8o long gince he had been home. He hadn't even managed to get
home when Sam diled. She had understood... but 1t didnt't make 1t any
easier to bear the fact that he would never see her again. He
couldn’'t even get home for the funeral,.. that was part of the burden
of Starshilp life, the complete sevarance from home. But the
emotional ties were Btill there... even though home was now a
beautiful lady who travelled between the stars, and hils family was
now a mixed group of men and women for whom he was resgsponsible... and
two brothers who were, 1f anything, eveh ¢loser to him than Sam had
been. . . Ha broke the contact, knowing that the ship's grapevine
would pass the word round almost instantanecously. He would not be
alone in hip grief... yet the sympathy of these people who were his

family now wouldn't help...
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He was stlll pitting staring blankly at the empty screen a few
minutes later when Spock cams to hisg cabin, brought by the news on
the grapevine. Spock didn't bother buszelng... he slimply walked in.

He crossed to Kirk and put a gentle hand on hig shoulder. Kirk
looked up at him; the sudden movement made him dizzy, and he gank
inte grateful unconsclousness,

Spock caught him as he fell forward, his unobserved fsce showing
his anxiety. No grief should have thils effect, surely? Then ha felt
Kirk's skin. Its dry, febrile heat aslarmed him; he sBwung Kiprk up
into his arms and headed for sickbay, his mind & confusion of
emotions,.

MeCoy glanced up as he ceme Iln, and gatarted to hiles feet as he
saw Spock's burden.

"He collapsed as I went in Just now, "™ Spock said. "He feelsg
hot, Fevered.™

"Hera.,.." McCoy indlcated an examlination couch, and 8pock laild
Kirk gently down onto [t. McCoy bent over the couch, disgnosgtice
gcanner busy. "I noticed laest night that he wasn't looking right,
but I put it down to Just plalin tiredness. He s8al1ld himself that he'd
had a surfelit of diplomats this last few days."™ He roalled Kirk over
gently, and turned his attention to the injury on his back, an injury
that had been closed and healling nilcely when he lagt examlned 1t,
four or five days previously. He drew 1in his bresth sharply as he
saw 1it,

The wound, which had been well on the way to recovery when last
checked, was now an angry red, slightly swollen and coozed pus when
MceCoy gently pressed the sides of it. MceCoy's lipg set in a grim
line, He turned away for a hypo to take a blood sample, and nearly
collided with Spock, who wes examining the wound intently.

"Spock, I'd get on better 1if you stayed back a bit. Why don't
you Just get back to the bridge, and 1711 let you know sy soon ag I
have anything?"

"poetor, you informed me that the Captain's injury was healing
well, and that he was gqulte ready to be released from sickbay. You
releaged him while Keeping me in; which was a totally unnecessary
procaeedling. There was nothing wrong with me. It would have been
maore to the polnt to have relegassed me, and kept the Ceptain in beg. "

"Spock, the strain on your body processgses because of that drug
was intense. I had to be ertein there were no lasting effects - 1if
only becaume you were, 1in effect, a gulnea pilg for the drug. Jim's
injury was atraightforward, and it was healing; it was almost
healed."

"Have you been checking on it svery day, Doctopr??

"No3; there wasn’t any need to. i1t was & clean cut,. When I last
gaw 1t, four deys ago, 1t was closed and looking perfectly heaslthy.
Now willl you Btop tryilng to tell me my Jjob, and go and do yourst?®

"Doctor, part of my Job is making sure you do yours properly.®

"Well, I won't be doing 1t properly if you keep on getting in my
way . "
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Spock turned, almoat reluctantly, and headed for the door.
There, he paused, looking back. "Doector, I don't know 1f youtve
heard yet, but the Captailn has Just received a messgsage telling him of
the death of hieg mother. I do not know if the knowladge will make
any significant difference to your treatment of him now, or even 1if
the knowledge will necessitate any difference in the treatment.*

"Have you any 1dea how he took the nawa?”

"No, Doctor. He collapsed ag I went in to see him." Spock
turned and went out without ancther word.

McCoy looked after Spock for a moment as he left. He could only
guess at the intensgsity of the Vulcan's feelings, but he sensped that
Spock wag worrlied, very worrled, both about Kirk's collapse and about
how Kirk would react to the news of his mother's death. As McCoy
turned back to the s8till unconscious captaln, he was aware of a
parallel worry. The wound had besn healing - indeed, had almost
healed. wWhat had caused this resurgence of infection? And - more
important - Kirk was tired ocut, weak from the injury and exhausted
from the worry of trangporting the Babel delegates. Iin his exhausted
state, how would he take the news? He had taken hils brotherts death
very well, but he had been less worn then, and in addition nad had
the problem of solving the Denevan situation and the worry about
SBpock to take hisg mind off his loss. But the death of a parent...
evan onc he hadn't speen for several ysars...

McCouy resolutely turned his mind from pursuing the useless
speculation of how Kirk would resct, He would soon see. He thought
instead about c¢leaning cut the wound and trying to discover what 1f
wag that had infected it.

The swelling seemed to be full of pus, so he lanced 1t, and
found that he was right; 1t was a concentration of pus that had
caused the swelling. Once he got that cleaned out, he disinfected
the opened cut and put a dresgsing over 1t. Then he went to get the
pus ahalysed.

With one of the lab techniclans Bet to work on the analysis,
MeCoy returned to his Captain's side, Kirk lay there unmoving, his
skin flushed, sweating in fever. McCoy chewed at his lips as he
checked Kirk's temperature, already 103 degrees and rising., Whatever
infection had got into the wound, it was pretity potent.

He checked the cut again. It was already ooczing more pus.

Bpock peturned to the bridge, his mind a confused jumble of
thoughts. He trusted McCoy - the surgeon had saved his life more
than once, and had just saved hig father's life in an operation
performed under the most trying civeumstances - but he had been
carelenss with Kirk during this misgsdlon. He had allowed Kirk out of
glckbay far too early S0 that he could perform that same operatlon
and while Spock admitted that he appreciated the action on the part
of both hilg friliends, he disapproved strongly of the fact that RKiprk's
i1ife had been endangered in the process. Then, after Kirk had been
readmitted, McCoy hed again let him out too gqulckly. Now Kirk was
guffering from this new infection,..

Sure encough, the snalysis ghowed a concentration of germs, But
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the germs were of a type previcusly unitnown - there wag no record of
them Iin the medlesl computar.

McCoy'as lips tightened. The Captain was slready very 111;
resesrching an antidote to previously unknown germs would Take up a
great deeal of time thet they could 11l afford. But where could he
have pilcked up an infecitlion from unknown germs?

Of coursme! From the Oxrilon. The germs must have entered the
wound when Kirk was stabbed, but hsadn't shown up until now. They had
taksan this long toe incubata.

Allian germs. They were oaither completely harmless op
desgspoerately dengercus. it was hard that Kirk should have fallen pray
to the lattaer when he was already bslow par.

He assligned the technlelang to work on resesarching a gserum for
the infectilion, and went back to Kirk. The Capteiln, 1f no better, wasm
at least no worsge.

McCaoy hesitated, then flicked on the intercom.
"MeCoy to brildge.®

"Bridge. Spock here." The Vulcan's volce was cold,
over-controllied. McCoy shiveved involuntsrily, remembering the
unfriendly nature of Spock's last exchange with him,

"The Captain has contracted an infection from what I bellieve to
be an Orion dlsecase,. I have initiated rempesarch to discover a serum
for it.m

"I mee. Was there no way to predict the ailment?"

"No, The gcanners only show up diseases for which they are
programmed. Thigs 1z & complsitely new dicease. It could heve been
completely harmlessg ~

“pgut 1t wasntt., ¥
"No, it wasn't¢.,®

"Dogotor, 1f you had kept ithe Ceptein in sickbay, you would have
notice the indtial sympitoms much soonsr.”

"Not necessarily, Spock,. i gaw him last night, remember. Ha
iooked tired, nothing movre.™

“I1f he had been in sickbay, would you not have realisead that his
tiredness wasn't natural?®

MeCoy stared at the intercom for a2 moment without gspssaking, then
he leaned forward and switched off without replying.

in the event, the research turned up an antidote ratheyry Pfaaster
than McCoy had dared to hape for. It wasn't exactly & miraculous
curae; 1t took some time to worki butl the fever broke falrly guickly,
even though 1t took two or three days before Kiprk was well enough to
be allowed up. And even then, Meloy kept him in silokbay ilnstead of
permitting him 9 return to hils own quarters, Spock’s accusmation of
carelessness had madae him fasl rather gulilty - though he would never
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have admitted 1t to the Vulcant

Unusually, during thisg time there was no sign of Spouk. Onee he
wag assgsured that Kirk would recover, he seemed to lose Iinterest: he
neither visited slckbay nor contacted MclCoy on the intercom.

McCoy hoticed that Kirk waes a little restliess) he seemed to
gpend quite a lot of time wabtching the door, flidgeting restlessly and
trritably. McCoy could only guess that Kirk was looking for the
truant Spock.

There was one other thing that worried Mcloy. Kirk hadn't
mentioned his dead mother... not once. But he wapg wvery qulet, Just
restless. McCoy suspected that Kirk was brooding over the two things
~ Spock's absence and his mother's death. And knowing Kirk, he
guegsed that Kirk thought that Zpock might be... silently accusing
him of neglecting his famiiy obligations, by remaining away from
him. Yet - what were hils familiy obligationsg? He had written his
mother ag regularly as 1t was pogepible for any Starfleet officer to
do; and now that she was dead, there was nothing, nothing at all,
that he could do. Even the funeral arrangements had been made and
carrled out by others, of necesmgity...

Eventually, on the fifth day, with Kirk well on the way to
physical recovery but far from well psychologically, McCoy went to
sae 3pock.,

He Found the Vulcan in hily guarters, gazing abstractedly at an
empty viewsocreen, Spock seemaed to be hardly intevested in hils
presence.

McecCoy stared at him. "what's wrong, Spock?"

There was a short silence, "Nothing 1is wrong, bDoctor, 1 am
merely meditating. I would be obliged it you would gay what you have
come to say guickly, and then leave me 4in peace." His voice was aa
cold and distant as McCoy had ever heard 1ty their friendship, the
many dangers they had shared, might never have happened; [t was like
ligtening to a total wgtranger speaking.

"ALl pright, Spock. ['ve come to you about Jim,. This may sound
3111y to you; but Jim needs you. He nasedg you right now. Just why,
I don't wholly know - and the way you're behaving, I duoubt you'll be
any goud to hilm. But there's something, some reason he needs you.
He keeps on lookling for you, and when somecone comes in to see him -

Seotty, Sulu, any of Lhe owthers - and he sees 1t ifgn't you, 1 can see
he's dicappointed. Whatevaer he wants you for, 11 isn't something 1
can help hlm with, or he'd have ashked me - "

"Perhaps he hasg learnod nol to truest you wholly any more,

boctor. After all, you nearly let him die recently.® The vebry
calmness and unemotional delivery of the speech made it the more
hurting. "Tall him I will come to see him after he 1s releassed {rom
Slekbay . I find I do not wish Lo encounter you.'" He turned, and

left Mo oy wlthout another word, moving through to his sleeping
cabin.

McuUoy staraed at the closed door in sheoclked pillence.,

He lel Kirk leave sickbay the next day, without mentioning to
him the response Spock had mede to his appeal. Kirk had enough in
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his mind - he, McCoy, had no intention of adding te¢ his worries.

Spock looked round from the command chalr ae Kirk entered the
bridge, and rosa.

"Are you quite well, Captain?®

vaas, thank you, Mr. Spock."” Despite himself, a little of his
hurt at Spock's neglect showed, and he knew Spock was aware of it,

"Did Dr. McCoy not give you my mesgage?h
Kirk shook hils head. "What message?®

"I told him to inform you that I would see you after your
release from sickbay."

Kirk looked at him, "What wasg wrong with c¢oming to see me in
gickbay?"

Jpock heslitated. "I would... prefer to tell you in private,
Captain.®

The atmosphere on the bridge was elactric. Everyone knew that
Spock and MoCoy hadn't exactly sean eye to eye over this latest
Jlliness of Kirk's; but no-one hknew sny detalls. It seemed they
waren't golng to, either.

"Very well, Mr. Spock. Let'sg go down to my guarters. Mr. Sulu,
you have the con."

"Ayva, asip.™

They want down in silence. In the elevator, Kirk watched
Spock's pet face unhappilly. He had enough to feel guilty about,
without having to worry about anything else Jjust yet.

In his cabin, Kirk sat, waving Spock intoe a seat. And walted.

Spock didn't seem to be quite sure where to start. He locked
uncertainiy at Kirk, who gave him no help. He had encugh to think
about without trying to make things less embarrassing for an awkward
First Officer.

At last, Spock sald, "I find it... difficult to... to excuse Dr.
McCoy for nearly letting you dile, Captain. He let you out of sickbay
far too early, not just once, but twice - ¥

"He agreed, very reluctantly, with sy decisgion, Spock,"™ Kirk cut
in. "The first time, I consldered Sarek's life toco important to
loge. I had intended to turn command over to Scotty as soon as you
left the bridge, but the emergenny arose before I vould do that. The
sacond time, there wag nothing seriocusly wrong with me; I could well
afford to stay in bed in my gquayters. You and Sarek were the ones
who were really ill, and needing all MceCoy's attention. The germ I
picked up - that had nothing to do with the other condition.®

"Dr, MeCoy should have kept you in sickbay untll he was cartein
that there would be no 11l effects from s wound given by an allen.®

YSpock, are you trying to tell McCoy his job? He took all the
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obvious precautions and 1t wasn't his fault they weren't

sufficlient.” He forced a smile. HTpry to remember the numbery of
times he's saved your life... and mine... and your father's, under
the mogt trylng of clreumstances, Balance that against onhe allen

dispease he falled to diagnose before it develouped, and you don't have
much to criticise him for."

Spock failed to meet his eyes, "I have triled to. I £indg... I
would willingly entrust my own life to him... my father's llife... but
I am unwilliing to entrust your life to him again."

"Spoek, that's not logical."

"1 know. Nor do I know of anyone else who waould be even half as
efficlent. I cannct understand what 18 wrong with me. I should neot
feel thisg way. He has given so many reasons why 1 should trust him,
yet..."

hlirk locked at him sympathetically. "You're over-tired, #Spock.
That'™s all." His feeling of louss, temporarily pushed to the back of
his mind, suddenly re-emarged with redoubled force. His facve twisted
In the Intensity of his grief,.

Gpock reached out to him, Kneeling at his side. "Jiwm! What is
Legy Hig handg were gentle on his Captain's shoulders.

Hirk allowed the tears to flow, Spock's very gentleness breaking
him. It was the first time he had allowed expression of his grief.
He lesned against Spock, who, with instinciive sympathy, s8lid an arm
arcound hilm and moved the other hand to hold Kirk's head to his
shoulder. Kirk relaxed completely, sobblng unrestrainedly. Spock
continued to hold him comfortingly. When at last the racking sobs
caeased, Spoeck still held Kirk to him.

"1 haven't seen her for so long," Kirk whispered. "I couldn't.
She understood. Like your mother understands. But I know she missed
me, would have llked to see me sometimes,..™

"I know, Jim, But I am sure she accepted - ag my mother
acgepted - that we cannot live oupr lives as children. The time must
come when the young grow up and want to make thelr own lives. When
that time comes, the mothers worth having let theilr children go... as
yvours did, as mine d.id. And she knew that the work you are dolng was
- is - lmportant, not Just for her, not just for your famlly or your
own planet, but for the entire Federatlon, and possibly even for mora
than thal. If there wasp a price to pay for that... by not seeing
You... 1 am sure she palid Lt willingly..."

When at last Kirk l1ifted hilis head from SBpock's shoulder, there
was & kRind of peace In his eyes. The Vulcan released him, and they
looked at each other for moment In a near-embarvessed sillence,

"Thanks, Spock, Kirk gald guietly. Some of the tenslons seemed
to leave tha Vulcan. Hae permitted himself to smile slightly - then

without anothey word, he slumped forwasrd in a dead faint.

Kirk leaped for the intercom. "Kirk to sBlckbay!? Bones, Spock's
Jugt collaprsed in my guarterst"

"On my way.'" The intercom went dead,

Kirk bent over the unconscious flrst officer, shifting his limbs
into a more comfortable position, "Spock,.. 3pock..."
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The door slid ovpen. McCoy ran in.

He slithered to & halt at Kizk's side. "Whnat happenad?" he
asked a8 he bent over the limp figure.

"We'd been talking. Then - he just cellapsad.”
McCoy ran his scanner over Spock, snd frowned,
"what is 1it, Boneg?®

"That blasted drug,. I thought he was all right... but thsre'sy
something wrong now - a delayed actlon effect, 1 suppose; thers
wasn’t any algn of mavrrow malfunstion when I let him out, 1711 swear
it by everything I know, But theyre's definite signs now of a2 blood
condition caused by marrow deficlency.™

Kirk stared at him in horror.

McCoy called slickbay for a streatcher, and rushed Spock back to a
bed there. Kirk waent with him. He watched in a grim-faced silence
as MeCoy gave Spock an injection; then anotheyr; and another. After
the third, McCoy glanced up,

"That should hold him, "
"How mgerious dism 1t7ow

"I'm not sure yet. It was what I wae afraid of all along... but
he sesmned to have got away with 1t. ¥} don’t know why 1t took so long
to gshow up.¥

"Bones; would it cause unusual reacticns to given situations?®

"I+ could; with & bleood aiiment, and a deficiency such as there
is here, the brain could -~ probably would - be starved of blood... ar
at least of nutriments in the blood. The injections I've given him
will be &8ll right for & while; but I'll have to find somethling for
the marrow daficiency or he'll be on injections for the rest of his
life. "

¥irk drew a deap breath. "You've got to come up with something,
Bonas. I don't care what it takes, yvou've got tolff

"Jim, do you think I don't know that? He's my friend too,
remember -~ even though you two are far clouser to each other that 1
can ever be,V

"Bones..."

"Don't worry, Jim, I'm not jeslous.,. at least, not much, and
that only very oocasionally - like whan I want to do something for
one of you and can’t,.. but the other one can.?

Kirk looked at him, feeling gulilty. It was true that he and
Spock ware much closer to each other than they were to Mcloy, but he
hadn't realised that ths surgeon was aware of 1it. McCoy grinned
resssuringly at him, and turned back to Spock.

Kirk, somewhsat unwillingly, went back to the bridge. There was
nothing he could do in sickbay; he knew MoCoy would let him know as
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so0n as he had any news, and the rendezvous wasg close, He had to he
on the bLridge.

They made the rendezvous and exchanged the drug; and ret off
agaln alt warp six for Star Base 11. Once on course, Kirk called.
gicklay again.

"anything, Bones?"

“"Sorry, Jdim, not yet, I'11 let you know as saon a8 I'm able
ta. 1 promise."

"{ know, Boneag."

Kirk paced restlessly across the brildge; realised that his
regtlegssness wasg probably infectious, and left the bridge, turning
command over to Sulu as he waent,. He went to his guarters, but found
himself unable to concentrate on anything there. He moved out into
the corridor again; paused Iin front of Bpock's door. He hesitated,
then went in.

He sat at Spock's desk and rested hlg head on his hands, his
elbowsg propped on the desk. Spock. ..

in sickbay, McecCoy wap harrying his technical statff. Spoeck still
lay unconscious; definitely unconscious, not in a healing trance.
Every now and then McCoy moved back to check him, and every time
found no change... but the deterioration ceauped by the deflciency was
bound to increase soon. Injectlionse could only do so much, ..

At Last one of lhe technicians came running, holding ocut a
phial. “This worked on the marrow sample, Doctor," he gasped.

MoCoy grabbed it, fllled a hypo and Iinjected Spock, staring
anxliously at the dilagnostic beard as he did, knowlng that i1t would

take time to work. Bult 1t needed lewss time that McCoy had feared.
Almost at once, the blood readings began to shlft to a more normal
level. sprock opened his eyes, and looked up.

"How do you feel, Spockt™

Spock looked at him, considering the qguestilion. He ralsed an
eyebrow,; thein said, "Surprisingly well, Doctor. What happened?®

"That drug you took to incerease blood manufacture in the marrow
had an adverse effect, but 1t took until now to show up."

"] wsee."™ Spock glanced round, made certaln that they were

alone, and went on with an effort. "Docetor ~ I wigh to apologilise for
certaln remarks I made recently. I... know that we have every reason
to trusmt youyur skill..."

"it's all right, Spock. Just forget 1t." McCoy turned to the
intercom. "McCoy to bridge. Spock's come round, Jim. He'll be all
rlight. "™

On the bridge, Kirk relaxed as he heard the note in McCoy's
volca, "Thanks, Bones. Tell him - I'm on my way down to z=ee him."

SPoor
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- A CONCLUSION

"*voy deliberately stopped me, Jimt I could have paved her! Do
you know whaet you Jjust did?" Even in his angry bvewllderment, McocCoy
blt tack the othar words that were in hig mind - You could have soved
her yo were neaerer than I woo, For he could feel the tension in

Kirk's body, and undaerstood that there was more hare than he kneaw,

And Spock confirmed it am Kirk moved to lean against the wall.
"He knows, Doctori; he knows.,"

McCoy watohed as Kirk slowly straighitened. Behind him, he was
only hall aware of the crowd gathered round the iLimp body. Hiw
dogtor's instinets were touched, but he could ignore them; he knew
from the way her body had been flung forward by the truck that Edith
Keeler wap certainly dead, had died instantly. Kirk, however, he
could help - his anger had pagsed, leaving only the bewilderment.
Knowing that they would explain, recognising that Kirk was suffering
from shock, he moved forwacrd.

"Come into the mission, Jim,"™ he saild, gently now,
Kirk shook his head. "We must get home. The Guardian..."

"Not yet, Captain," Spock cut 4in. YEplrgt we mugt return to our
room; we must dismantle the appsaratus [ constructed, #or should
anyona mechanlically minded discover 1t they might be ahle ta surmise
gomethling of its purpoge and causse the premature discovery of
computers. "

"Yag... you're right, Spock." Kirk gave one last 1ook at the
miltiing group that split up as an ambulance arrived, then turned
awWay . "Come on - the gqulcker we get 1t done, the better."

As they went, Spock dropped & few paces behind Kirk, pulling
McCod back,. Quickly, softly, he explained the situation.

"rhat time round. .. didn't 1 try to stop her maklng such a
migtake?" McCoy asked,

"You couldntt. I did not tell the Captain, but in the alternate
future T also saw & 1930 newspapeaer article. The headline wag 'Down
and out diesg saving socilial worker'. In that future, Doctor, you died

gsaving her."

"I see..." MeCoy gtudied Kirk's back. "Somsaone had to die in
that place at that moment..."

"Yag, Doctor. Your degath in thie time period ~ any of our
deaths - would be unimportant: no-one would be affected. But
hersg. .. wWhile her deaith i undoubtedly a tragedy - she has done much
to help others - 1t saves millions of livesg in the future, and
proevides for the future welfare of youyr entire planet - and othear

woarlds beyond. The Captain knows that; although he has not yet
accepted the fact. But he will, It was another Command declsion; he
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will not let 1t damage his life, any more than any other such
declsion that has sent a man to his death has done. He would not be
the man he s 1f he did not feel thosge deaths: but nelther would he
be the man he lg 1f he did not accept them without belng overwhelmed
by gojlt. "™

"Yaw, " McecCoy sald sadly. "I know."

They worked quloekly to dismantle the makeshift computer that
Spock had constructed with such tlme and effort, pilling the valves
and tubezs and sockets and swltches and wires, all carefully separated
from gach other, in a corner <of the depresgsing little room. A
collection of radlio spares, almost valueless... Kirk and Spock
regumed thelr Starfleet uniforms, carefully retrieved from the
bagement and hilidden here, leaving thelir gtolen clothes folded on the
bed.

Spock looked up. "Guardiantn

The deep, remembered volce sounded softly. "You may return.®™ A
faint outline showed begide the wall,

"Come, Doctor,™ Spock said. He and Kirk turned, side by side,
and ran towayds the vaguely clrcular shape, and jumped through 1t.
McCoy hesltated for a second, sure that they would cahnon Iinto the
wall - hig memories of his trip through the time portal to here were
tenuoug, Like the mlst that partially obscured the wall behind the
shadowy ghape; then as hig tfriends vanished, he followed.

He was only slightly surprised to find himself on a desolate
planet, standlng bealide Spock with Kirk in front of him, facing
Secotty and Uhurae and Galloway and Mancini; and no more surprised than
his friends to hear that - for the rest of the landing party - only
seconds had psssed during lthe days they had spent in 1930.

Kirk gsat alone 1in his cabln. He had naver felt so gullty - so
depressad at an, death he had ever felt resgsponhsible for,

He had sent orewmen - and women - to dealh before during hils
careear, It wag part of his command responslilbillty. But they were
people who had chosen a life of danger; people for whom death was a
familiayr companion. Edith had not chosen guch a life; she had chosen
a 1llfe of wervice to vthers; & Life devuted to helping othars,

Baoenuse she had dled, many mean would go hungry to hed
tonight. .. No. Not *tonlght’'. '"Ponight! was... what? Three
bundred years ago. Tonight now - millions ot colonisnts were alive
on planeig not discovered back then... planets that would atill be
undiscovered 1f Edlith hag lived.

It Badith had Lived..., he, James T. Kirk, might never have
existed ulslde the protecited radius of the Guardian. Certalnly
Spock wwould never have been born, for Earth anhd Vulecan would still
net know of the other's existence,

Spock would never have been born. Strange how that thought
regan to recincllie bhim to the Fact of Edith's death. Yes, he had
loved KKdith. .. admired her, rewpected her.,, would happlly have gspent
the res!t of his Life with her, had it Leen posvible. But Zpock would
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never have been born. And Spock complementead him, compileted him, in
a way that Edith could never have done. Kirk knew no words that
could explain the intanaity of his need for Spock's frilendship, and
now ha did not even try.

mlrk moved to the intercom, "Mr. Spock, report to my guarters.®

They would speak together, recalling Edith and her goodness,...

and in the Vulcan's quiet wisdom and compassion, Kirk knew he would
£ind peace.




